

VOLUME 12

APRIL - JUNE 1965

NUMBER 2

- CONTENTS -

- CONTENTS -
THE PRESIDENT'S LETTER
NOTES FROM THE EDITOR'S DESK
CEMETERY ON MALUGIN FARM, HICKMAN COUNTY, TENNESSEE
PROSPECT CEMETERY, LOUDON COUNTY, TENNESSEE
ANCESTORS ARE WHERE YOU FIND THEM
DAVENPORT AND SELBY CEMETERIES, CUMBERLAND COUNTY, TENNESSEE
THE BIBLE OF WATKIN WILLIAM WYNNS, 1742 - 1812
TENNESSEANS IN CENTRAL TEXAS
ROANE COUNTY, TENNESSEE, CHANCERY RECORDS
THE KNOWLES - WOMACK BIBLE
THE LARDNER CLARK BIBLE
MOUNT ZION CEMETERY, MEIGS COUNTY, TENNESSEE
EAST TENNESSEE SURVEYS, 1807 - 1813
OLD BOND RECORDS OF CARTER COUNTY, TENNESSEE
UNION CHURCH CEMETERY, CHESTER COUNTY, TENNESSEE
TENNESSEANS BY BIRTH - RESIDENTS OF KENTUCKY IN 1850 91
QUERIES. NUMBER 66 THROUGH 115

Be sure to note Dates and Places of Birth, Death and Marriage.

Mail to: The Tennessee Genealogical Society Post Office Box 12124 Memphis, Tennessee 38112

THE PRESIDENT'S LETTER

While in Spring a young man's fancy may turn to love, the zealous genealogist's fancy turns to the open road of adventure and the pursuit of Ancestors. Mrs. E.M. Standefer sailed for Europe on April 15th, and Mrs. Scott Julian left the 16th. They will visit the interesting and historical places of fourteen countries.

Virginia Walton Brooks returns to Europe for the 13th time when she joins the MAGNA CHARTA tour, composed of members of the Hereditary Order of the National Society of Magna Charta Dames. Virginia will attend a special service at ST. PAUL'S CATHEDRAL in commemoration of the 750th anniversary of the Magna Charta, and on June 15th, the group will attend ceremonies at RUNNYMEDE. There will be a special performance of John Arden's Magna Charta play at the Mermaid Theatre. As they tour the historical old towns, they will visit ancient castles and residences of the seventeen sureties for Magna Charta. As a member of the DESCENDANTS of KNIGHTS of the GARTER, Virginia will be privileged to attend QUEEN ELIZABETH's service to fill the vacancy of the late SIR WINSTON CHURCHILL. She proved her eligibility through her ancestry to King Edward III, founder of the Order.

Lillian Gardiner's "Genealogical Tour of England, Scotland and Wales", with extended continental travel, sounds like a genealogist's dream come true. Her travelling companions, Annie Rice and Katie Prince Esker, have spent much time abroad. They know their way among the myriad records in the British Museum, Somerset House, The Public Records Office in London, and many other depositories in Great Britain. With their aid, she anticipates finding some exciting documents. Lillian also plans to do research in the HUGUENOT records of old "THREADNEEDLE CHURCH", London, to check on her ancestor who was an early Mayor of Canterbury. She too will visit Saulsbury Plains in this Anniversary Year of the signing of the Magna Charta by King John. She will see Queen Elizabeth and Prince Philip on May 14th, and attend the famous "DERBY" at Epsom Downs on June 2nd. A month on the continent, then HOME.

We wish to thank the program committee for the delightful and informative forum on the evening of April 19th, at the Main Library, McLean Boulevard and Peabody Avenue. Jackson Mobley Collingworth acted as moderator. Laurence Bridges Gardiner emphasized the importance of making family charts, with complete data on each member. Many times, the often repeated family names will give valuable leads to the ancestors you seek. He warned that if you don't start with family charts, you will find yourself going back to make them. Quinten Dowdy told, among other helpful ideas, about carrying a small tape recorder and a 35 mm. camera on your field trips. When the courthouse or library does not have a copying machine, this conserves precious time. Thomas Proctor Hughes, Jr. showed how he uses base maps, obtained from highway departments, in his research, and to show areas covered by the books in his valuable personal library. Both Mr. Hughes and Mr. Gardiner warned members about assuming that you are descended from the first wife that you find for your progenitor, because in early days, most men had several wives, due to the mortality rate of the women. Jonathan Kennon Smith keeps his material in interesting manuscript form. He uses photographs of letters, ancestors, and their homes, as well as drawings of floor plans of the houses. When possible he lists the books in their libraries, as all this reveals something of the character of the people and makes them real. A question and answer period followed. Our sincere thanks to each of these gentlemen.

As proof that our members do not hunt ancestors all of the time, Mr. and Mrs. William Crawford each won a trophy at the Bridge Tournament held recently in Memphis.

We shall be eagerly awaiting the return of our travelers and hope to share with you some of the exciting results of their trips.

Sincerely,

C Loo Webb

NOTES FROM THE EDITOR'S DESK

Do each of our members know that the first quarter's issue of "ANSEARCHIN'" NEWS is already a collector's item? Guard it as you would gold. You will probably never receive anything like it again. Our faces are extremely red! As soon as our first issue for the year was received by our Director of Research, Mrs. R. H. Tolar, she called to suggest that the particular design of our new cover drawing indicated that we were an "illegitimate" organization. So, since we are not illegitimate, but possess avery proper Charter from the State of Tennessee, the matter has now been corrected. In our rush and scurry last quarter, the armorial significance of the design was just not checked. So please laugh with us, even if our laughter has an embarrassed ring.

We like to have cemetery and Bible records to publish. Don't you have data that you think should be published and shared with others? Look through your files and see if you have unpublished material. Source material is always needed.

We have received a number of notices of new books and journals from other societies that contained interesting items:

Mrs. Hattie E. Poppino, 4307 Gillham Road, Kansas City, Missouri 64110, advises that she has completed an alphabetized abstract of the 1860 census for Jackson County, Missouri, 286 pages. She also has copies of her two earlier volumes for Jackson County: one for 1830-1840; and one for 1850. Each volume \$5.00.

The VIRGINIA GAZETTE reminds us of their weekly genealogical column of queries and answers. Subscription orders (\$4.00 a year) should be sent to VIRGINIA GAZETTE, Williamsburg, Virginia, while queries and answers should be sent to Mrs. Dorothy Ford Wulfeck, Genealogy Editor, 51 Park Avenue, Naugatuck, Connecticut 06770. Mrs. Wulfeck also offers bound copies of the 1959 Genealogy Page of the VIRGINIA GAZETTE, 122 pages, \$5.00. MARRIAGES OF SOME VIRGINIA RESIDENTS, 1607-1800, in four volumes: "A" and "B" surnames; "C", "D", and "E"; "F", "G", and "H"; and "I" through "Me" are advertised at \$15.00 per volume. Another service offered is a rental library of genealogy books. You may obtain a list of the books and the rental terms by sending Mrs. Wulfeck 25 cents.

The Genealogical Publishing Co., 521-23 St. Paul Place, Baltimore, Md. 21202, has reprinted the DIRECTORY OF THE ANCESTRAL HEADS OF NEW ENGLAND FAMILIES, 1620-1700, compiled by Frank R. Holmes, 274 pages, \$10.00.

Mrs. Helen L. Bloore, 214 C - East Lomita Avenue, Glendale, California 91205, has presented us with a complimentary copy of her book DESCENDANTS OF HANCOCK, COFER, JONES, AND MASSIE FAMILIES OF VIRGINIA AND KENTUCKY. There are also many allied families, fourteen cross-numbered generations being presented in family group form. The book may be purchased for \$2.00. Mrs. Bloore notes that she is presently concentrating her research on the Cofer and Jones families and seeks help from persons interested in those lines.

YESTERYEARS, a quarterly magazine, contains New York regional history and genealogy, \$3.00 per year. Published by Yesteryears Magazine, Scipio Center, New York 13147.

A HISTORY AND GENEALOGY OF THE JACOB BANGHART FAMILY, 225 pages, 70 pictures, \$12.50, relates the story of descendants of Jacob Banghart who was born in 1715, in Rhinebeck, Germany, and came to Philadelphia in 1740. Order from Frederick L. Mullin, 50 North Third Street, Easton, Pennsylvania.

Four publications are offered by Mrs. Gerald B. McLane, 112 Leach Street, Hot Spring National Park, Arkansas 71919. They are: INDEX TO THE 1830 CENSUS OF THE TERRITORY OF ARKANSAS, \$7.50; HOT SPRING COUNTY, ARKANSAS, CENSUS OF 1850 AND

MARRIAGE RECORD BOOK "A", \$7.50; SEVIER COUNTY, ARKANSAS, CENSUS OF 1850, \$7.50; and INDEX TO THE 1840 CENSUS OF ARKANSAS, \$15.00.

VIRGINIA SETTLERS IN MISSOURI by A. Maxim Coppage III and Dorothy Ford Wulfeck may be ordered from Mrs. Wulfeck, 51 Park Avenue, Naugatuck, Connecticut 06770. The 151 pages, mimeographed, may be purchased for \$7.50 paperbound or \$10.00 in the clothbound edition. Included are 1850 Census records showing names of heads of families born in Virginia, Tombstone inscriptions and obituaries.

THE BULLETIN of the Stamford Genealogical Society, 7 Fourth Street, Stamford, Connecticut 06905, March 1965 issue, contains several pages of definitions and examples of terms and expressions used in early documents and explains how their use may aid the researcher in determining family relationships and social position of an ancestor. The terms and expressions include: Sir, Esquire, Mr., Mrs., Gentleman, Deacon, Goodman, Goodwife, Freeman, In-Law, Cousin, Brother, Sister, Nephew, Natural Son, Natural Relations, Friend, Single Woman, Predecessor, My Now (or Present) Wife, Servant, Master, Senior, Junior, 3rd, 4th, 5th, Johan, and the Possessive Case.

The January-March 1965 QUARTERLY of the Central West Texas Genealogical Society, 1717 Austin Avenue, Waco, Texas 76701, has two pages about research in South and North Ireland.

G. K. Hall & Co., 70 Lincoln Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02111, lists three reference works that are of interest. They are INDEXES TO MARRIAGES AND OBITUARIES IN THE MASSACHUSETTS CENTINEL AND THE COLUMBIAN CENTINEL, 1784 TO 1840, compiled by the American Antiquarian Society. The Marriage Index, 4 volumes, \$180.00, contains nearly 80,000 names, alphabetically arranged, with a considerable number of marriage records for states in the South and West, as well as the Atlantic Seaboard. The Index to Obituaries, 5 volumes, \$230.00, comprises about 120,000 names in alphabetical order. QUAKER NECROLOGY, 841 pages, 2 volumes, \$185.00, contains references to death notices of Quakers in the Middle Atlantic region. Dates range from 1828 to 1960. GENEALOGICAL INDEX, The Newberry Library, 3915 pages, 4 volumes, \$275.00, contains well over 400,000 surnames arranged alphabetically in reference to sources in several classifications in which the name appears: town and county histories, published family histories, vital records and kindred works.

The Orange County, California, Genealogical Society, P. O. Box 1587, Orange, California 92669, QUARTERLY, Volume 2, Number 1, contains an abstract from a newly discovered Pittsylvania County, Virginia, "Estray" book, with data ranging from 1778 to 1852.

LIBERTY BELL ASSOCIATES, Box 51-MP, Franklin Park, New Jersey 08823, have announced a microfilm publication of a HEADS OF FAMILIES INDEX to the 1850 Census of the City of Philadelphia. It represents a volume of 480 pages. The price is \$19.50.

The Washington County Historical Society, Box 484, Abingdon, Virginia, reminds us that they reprinted their first eighteen bulletins in one volume last year. The price is now \$6.50. Areas of interest in the book include the State of Franklin, Sullivan County, Tennessee, the Holston Country, and Southwest Virginia.

Two programs, history museum training and American folk culture, are offered jointly by State University College at Oneonta and the New York State Historical Association, Cooperstown. Each leads to a Master's Degree from the State University. Fellowships up to \$2,000 are available. Interested persons may write: Cooperstown Graduate Programs, State University College at Oneonta, c/o New York State Historical Association, Cooperstown, New York.

A new family history is being advertised by Estelle Clark Watson, 2316 Thayer St.,

Evanston, Illinois 60201. She announces SOME MARTIN, JEFFRIES, AND WAYMAN FAMILIES AND CONNECTIONS OF VIRGINIA, MARYLAND, KENTUCKY AND INDIANA, for \$5.95, 273 pages. She also comments that she has compiled four other books: LOYALIST CLARKS, BADGLEYS AND ALLIED FAMILIES; SOME LETTONS AND WILLETTS OF MARYLAND; THOMAS AND REBECCA (MOORMAN) WATSON AND THEIR DESCENDANTS; and SOME SMITHS, OSBORNS AND ALLIED FAMILIES OF NEW ENGLAND AND OHIO.

Hugh B. Johnston, Jr., Route 4, Box 133, Wilson, North Carolina, advises that a HISTORY OF JOHNS(T)ONS is being compiled for early publication. William Johnston of Isle of Wight County, Virginia, and his descendants, 1648-1964, is the sub-title. Attention is called to Jacob Johnston, Jr., 1744-1808, of Jones County, North Carolina. Several of his children settled in Maury County, Tennessee, in the early 1800's.

Mrs. James O. Maddux, P. O. Box 71, Spring City, Tennessee 37381, has completed the printing of the 1850 Census of Meigs County, Tennessee. There are 100 copies for sale at \$7.50 per copy.

CEMETERY ON MALUGIN FARM, BEAVER DAM CREEK, HICKMAN COUNTY, TENNESSEE

Contributed by Douthitt Melugin McKay, 618 Rayburn Drive, San Antonio, Texas 78221, with notes of marriage dates from Marriage Records of Hickman County. Inscriptions copied by Mrs. Buford Malugin, Nunnelly, Tennessee, who contributed other notes.

Henry Jackson Malugin	Nancy (Malugin) Cox	Tommie Cox
Company "I" 48 Tenn.	Sept. 12, 1868	Aug. 30, 1888
Infantry, C. S. A.	Mar. 29, 1890	Mar. 20, 1891
(His second wife was	(Dau. of Henry J. Malugin,	(Son of S. J. and
Nancy Caroline Pope	Wife of S. J. Cox,	Nancy M. Cox)
Poore.)	married Mar. 4, 1886)	•
		Thomas Malugin
Mima Malugin Springer	Mima Lee Springer	Aug. 2, 1866
Jan. 16, 1859	Aug. 6, 1896	Oct. 28, 1895
Dec. 27, 1893	Dec. 3, 1898	(Son of Henry J.
(Married Sept. 3, 1876	(Granddaughter of	Malugin. Married
to N. J. Springer)	N.J. and Mima Malugin	Dana Cox on May 6,
• •	Springer)	1886)
H. Walter Springer		
Feb. 2, 1885	Clint Andrew Malugin	Priscilla Poore
Oct. 27, 1918	Aug. 4, 1878	Oct. 2, 1856
·	Apr. 24, 1927	Dec. 13, 1919
Martha Lane Coble	(Son of Samuel and	
Mar. 18, 1860	Sarah Coble Malugin)	R. P. Poore
June 20, 1921	- ·	Mar. 7, 1859
(Wife of W. L. Coble)		May 20, 1896

PROSPECT CEMETERY, LOUDON COUNTY, TENNESSEE

(Contributed by Mrs. James O. Maddux, P.O. Box 71, Spring City, Tennessee 37381)

Sara Eldridge Charles Taliaferro
Wife of Rufus Wilson Mar. 5, 1799
May 18, 1836 May 23, 185_
Mar. 21, 1906

Jane Whitlock Taliaferro
Rufus Wilson First Wife of Rev. Charles
Feb. 28, 1834 Born 1804
July 21, 1883 Died 1837

ANCESTORS ARE WHERE YOU FIND THEM

(Abstracted by Mrs. L. D. Bejach, 43 Belleair Drive, Memphis, Tennessee 38104)

Tennesseans listed in U. S. Census, 1860, Schedules of Mortality, as recorded in THE TREESEARCHER, Volume VII, 1965, page 20, published by Kansas Genealogical Society, 1410 First St., Dodge City, Kansas, follow:

Name	Age	Born	Mo. Died	Occupation	Cause of Death		
Kansas Territory, Atchison County:							
Sowser, George	62	Tenn.		Farmer	Pneumonia		
Ramsey, George	34	11	Sept.	Farmer	Consumption		
Low, Wm. S.	19	11	Oct.		Brain Congestion		
Carter, J.	36	*1	Oct.		Fever		
Kansas Territory, Bourbon County:							
Black, Edward W.	3 9	Tenn.	April	Farmer	Pneumonia		
Bowman, Cantrel	36	11	Jan.	Farmer	Palsy		
McCully, Ann	61	ti .	Sept.		Chills & Fever		
McCully, David	46	11	Oct.		Congestive Fever		
Clancy, Polly	23	*1	Aug.	Housewife	Childbirth		
Gomer, Permelia	22	*1	June	Housewife	Erysipelas		
Denton, Wm.	21	11	Jan.	Farmer	Unknown		
Denton, James	24	11	March	Farmer	Lung Fever		
Bozworth, Sarah	42	**	May	Housewife	Scurvy		
Bollinger, Malinda	26	11	May	Housewife	Typhoid Fever		
Arnett, Elizabeth	49	11	May	Housewife	Palsy		
Nelson, Wm. J.	25	11	Feb.	Farmer	Consumption		
Myrick, Harriett J.	24	11	July	Servant	Measles		
Curry, William I.	27	9.5	March	Farmer	Pneumonia		
Henderson, Daniel	54	11	June	Farmer	Lung Fever		

From the MEMPHIS FRESS-SCIMITAR, daily newspaper, Tuesday, April 20, 1965, page 15. 'Where Does It Go? - Sheriff's Deputy J. D. Rogers today was trying to find out where this gravestone belongs. It was left last night on the doorstep of a home in Germantown. The sheriff's office is trying to locate the cemetery it was stolen from. The gray stone has this inscription: 'Thomas Wherry, born March 3, 1779, died July 7, 1858, age 79 years, four months and four days'."

We have efficient sleuthing forces in Shelby County. The April 22, issue of the same paper announced that the tombstone can be returned to its proper place, thanks to Mrs. Violet Hutcheson of Cossitt-Goodwyn Reference Library. Mrs. Hutcheson found that it was from Wherry Cemetery, consulted Mrs. H. W. Cooper, 10070 Highway 64 East, Memphis, who said it came from Chambers Chapel Methodist Episcopal Church, a private cemetery, still in use. It is one of the oldest cemeteries in West Tennessee, about 150 years old, two miles west of Eads, Tennessee, in Shelby County.

THE EVENING TELEGRAM, Rocky Mount, N. C., runs a column called "I'm Thinking" by an Old Reporter. We have discovered that the "Old Reporter" is Mr. Hugh B. Johnston, Jr., Rt. 4, Box 133, Wilson, N. C. Mr. Johnston is an expert on Wilson County, North Carolina, and of special interest to us is his knowledge of the families who migrated from that county to Robertson County, Tennessee, in the early 1800's. Clippings of the above column in our possession set forth anecdotes and statistics on the families of John Bell of Bell Witch fame, and his nine children and their spouses; Frederick and Kate Batts and their children, Benjamin and Elizabeth Farmer, Jesse and Keziah Johnston, Hugh Cravey, Josiah Fort, Sugg Fort, and others.

DAVENPORT AND SELBY CEMETERIES IN CUMBERLAND COUNTY, TENNESSEE

Contributed by Mrs. Ernest Hutcherson, P. O. Box 154, Rockwood, Tennessee 37854, who copied the inscriptions in December 1964. The notations are the words of Mrs. Thomas Wood, nee Ruth Davenport, great-granddaughter of Claiborne and Elizabeth (Tollett) Davenport. This is a complete listing of all inscribed stones of both cemeteries. Both cemeteries have some graves marked by field stones. They are located in the extreme head of Sequatchie Valley, in Bledsoe County until Cumberland County was formed in 1856, and are accessible only by walking two or more miles. The smaller Selby Cemetery is within sight of the Davenport Cemetery.

Elizabeth, Wife of Claborn Davenport Died Sept. 5, 1903 Aged 81 Years

Eligha G. Davenport Born Mar. 16, 1846 Died Aug. 5, 1881 (Did not marry)

Thomas, Son of J. H. & M. A. Davenport Born and Died May 4, 1879

James H. Selby Born Dec. 6, 1876 Died June 5, 1905

Alice F., Dau. of W.R. & F.C. Hyder Born June 11, 1874 Died Oct. 31, 1894

Mrs. W. R. Hyder July 14, 1838 June 16, 1901

John H. Selby Aug. 14, 1853 Aug. 12, 1912 (Called Bachelor John) Bird Diller, Son of Moses and Lucy Davenport Born June 3, 1908 Died July 9, 1908

James H. Davenport Born Sept. 17, 1844 Died Oct. 16, 1880

John, Son of J. H. & M. Λ. Davenport Born Dec. 28, 1871 Died Dec. 29, 1871

Gordon Selby Born Oct. 20, 1904 Died June 5, 1905

Anna J., Dau. of W.M. & M.E. Selby Born Sept. 2, 1888 Died Sept. 19, 1891

Frances C., Wife of W. R. Hyder.
Born July 14, 1838
Died June 16, 1901
Age 62 Yrs., 11 Ms & 2 Ds
(This stone has been replaced by the one for Mrs.
W. R. Hyder.)

Goodhue Davenport Born Mar. 28, 1874 Died May 19, 1887

Mary A., Wife of James H. Davenport Born Oct. 20, 1850 Died May 28, 1879

Martha J., Dau. of G. W. & Elizabeth Miller Born Nov. 22, 1863 Died July 30, 1876

Josie B., Dau. of G. W. & Elizabeth Miller Born July 28, 1875 Died July 23, 1892

D. J. Selby May 27, 1849 Apr. 17, 1915

J. D. Hyder
Sept. 26, 1880
Feb. 23, 1926

William R. Hyder Nov. 11, 1840 June 12, 1917

Ira Thurman October 31,.1900 Feb. 16, 1923 Sarah J., Wife of Jackson Davenport Born Nov. 24, 1887 Died Aug. 18, 1906 Sarah E., Dau. of Jackson and S. J. Davenport Born Aug. 13, 1906

Died Aug. 18, 1906 George W. Miller

Born Mar. 18, 1830 Died Oct. 27, 1887

Elizabeth Miller Born Mar. 24, 1836 Died Apr. 3, 1925

Nancy L., Wife of J. D. Dorton Born Feb. 24, 1853 Died July 4, 1879

Mary A. Davenport
Wife of D.J. Selby
June 9, 1847
May 19, 1927
Age 79 Years 11 Mos.
10 Das. (She married
second, and as second
wife, Craven Hinch,
when they were both
up in years, but this
name not added here)

Ida. A. Selby Feb. 16, 1883 Sept. 25, 1885 Washington Selby Jan. 27, 1885 Jan. 28, 1885 Mary Emily Kerley Sept. 30, 1869 Mar. 16, 1904 James Arthur Selby Apr. 4, 1886
Jan. 29, 1912

J. L. Selby Dec. 3, 1845 May 31, 1914 Grave next to J.L. Selby has field stone with "W" cut into it.

THE BIBLE OF WATKIN WILLIAM WYNNS, 1742-1812

(Contributed by Mrs. Stanley D. Williams and Miss Orene Wynns)

On August 18, 1964, while in Henry County, Tennessee, Miss Ellen Marie Venable of Houston, Texas, located the Bible of Watkin William Wynns in the home of distant cousins, Mrs. Stanley D. Williams and her sister, Miss Orene Wynns, Route 4, Paris, Tennessee. The Bible had been handed down to them through their ancestor, Samuel Wynns, who settled in Henry County, that part adjacent to, and once part of, the western end of Stewart County, Tennessee, in 1820-1821.

Samuel Wynns was the youngest son of Watkin William Wynns. Samuel's land indenture, found between the pages of the old Bible, is included here because of names, places, and dates mentioned.

The will of Watkins William Wynns, Captain in the Revolutionary War, is contained in Will Book No. 2, Page 220, Martin County, North Carolina. He was the son of John Wynns, and grandson of George Wynns of Bertie County, North Carolina. (Ref. N.C. Wills, 1663-1789, Vol. XXXV, Page 65 and Page 67.)

Mrs. Williams and Miss Wynns loaned the Bible to Miss Venable for restoration, photostating and microfilming, with the intention of many years in mind, i.e., to make these records available to interested persons.

The records given here are the result of many hours of painstaking work to bring out every name and date possible. It is hoped that they will be of help to many of those who are tracing their Wynn-Wynns-Winns ancestry.

Handling the crumbling, yellowed old paper with infinite care and patience resulted in almost complete recovery of the records. The special talents of the following persons were applied with the highest degree of skill toward the restoration. Many thanks to each of them.

- David W. Bizzell, County Historian, Microfilm Department, Pulaski County Court House, Little Rock, Arkansas: Microfilms and technical advice.
- Howard "Sonny" Watson, Graham Blue Print Company, Little Rock, Arkansas:
 Photostats of records, before and after restoration.
- Joseph L. Jones, 359 Wilson Street, North Little Rock, Arkansas: for the delicate work of brushing on those names and dates too faint to show up on the first sets of films and photostats, and for designing and "antiquing" Bible cover.
- Benjamin Red, Studio, 2nd and Main Streets, Little Rock, Arkansas: for close-up pictures of the Bible "before" and "after" restoration.
- Mr. Walter Peterson, Jr., Capitol City Book Bindery, 416 West 7th St., Little Rock, Arkansas: for special lamination to preserve the brittle old pages on which the records themselves were written, and for rebinding the Bible itself.
- Mrs. Duncan B. Brown, Jr., 7819 Harmon Drive, Little Rock, Arkansas: (a descendant of Watkin William Wynns), for diligent work in transcribing the original documents.

Where names or words are enclosed with parentheses and underlined, it is to designate that these portions were supplied from some other record available to the transcriber, and not taken from the Bible records. Where there is a record

or entry too dim to transcribe, it is so stated at that particular point. The oldest records in the Bible were, by a strange twist of fate, generally in better condition than entries made in later years.

> THE NEW TESTAMENT of our LORD AND SAVIOUR JESUS CHRIST TRANSLATED OUT OF THE ORIGINAL GREEK:

and

WITH THE FORMER TRANSLATIONS DILIGENTLY COMPARED AND REVISED,

BY THE SPECIAL COMMAND OF KING JAMES I. OF ENGLAND.

PHILADELPHIA:

Printed for Mathew Carey, No. 118, Market-Street.

October 27th. 1802.

This Book was Purchased Anno Domini 1803 By Watkin Wm. Wynns

Marriages

Watkin Wm. Wynns Was Married to Ann Ward August 10th 1769

Pegga Wynns Was Married to John Bennett October the 27th 1805

Elizabeth Wynns Married to Darling Cherry the 1st of March 1812

Saml. Wynns married to Merina Barnhill May the 27th 1817

Edward Barnhill & Elizabethe an his wife was Marrid in January 13th 1834..... an Move to Mississippi in Oct. the 2 1836

Births

Watkin Wm. Wynns, Son of John Wynns & Sarah Wynns his Wife was Born Sept. 30th old stile 1742

Daniel Wynns Son of Watkin Wm. Wynns & Mary his Wife was born March 19th 1765....

John Wynns Son of Watkin Wm. Wynns & Mary his Wife was Born January 25th 1767...

Winifird Wynns Daughter of Watkin Wm. Wynns & Ann his Wife was Born Septemr. 6th Mary Wynns Daughter of Watkin Wm. Wynns & Ann his Wife was Born February 13th 1772....

Thomas Wynns Son of Watkin Wm. Wynns & Ann his Wife was Born February 22, 1775.....

Sarah Wynns, Daughter of Watkin Wm. Wynns & Ann his Wife was Born April the 19th 1777.....

William Ward Wynns Son of Watkin Wm. Wynns & Ann his Wife was Born April 27, 1779.....

George Wynns Son of Watkin Wm. Wynns & Ann his Wife was Born May the 30th 1781.....

Ann Wynns Daughter of Watkins Wm. Wynns & Ann his Wife was Born Decmr the 30th 1782..... Benjamin Wynns Son of Watkin Wm. Wynns & Ann his Wife was Born June 6th 1785......

Peggy Wynns Daughter of Watkin Wm. Wynns & Ann his Wife was Born April 10th 1787

Henry Wynns Son of Watkin Wm. Wynns & Ann his Wife was born March 30th 1789......

Elizabeth Wynns Daughter of Watkin Wm. Wynns & Ann his Wife was Born 7th of March 1792.....

Samuel Wynns Son of Watkin Wm. Wynns & Ann his Wife was Born October 20 1793.....

Merina Barnhill Daughter of James Barnhill & Elizabeth his Wife was born March 24th 1799.....

Harret Bennett Daughter of John Bennett and Peggy his wife was bornd Decbr 31 18(06 or 07)

Anney Lizar Bennett Daughter of John Bennett and Peggy his Wife wase Born October 1809

William Bennett Son of John Bennett and Peggy his Wife was Bornd Decmbr 20 1816

Nancy C. Bennett Daughter of John Bennett and Peggy his Wife was borned March the 12th day 1814

Elisabeth Wynns Daughter of Saml Wynns & Merina his Wife was Bornd June 12 1818

Watkin William Wynns Son of Saml Wynns & Merina his Wife was Bornd February 7th 1820

(Margaret) Wynns Daughter of Saml Wynns & Marina his wife was Bornd June 25th 1821 (Eliza) Wynns Daughter of Saml Wynns & Marina his wife was Bornd November 17, 1822 on Sunday evening......

(John) Washington Wynns
Son of Saml Wynns & Marina
his Wife was Bornd
February 4th (1824) on
Wednesday Early (in) the
Morning......

Thomas Jefferson Wynns
Son of Saml Wynns and
Marina his Wife was Bornd
May 12 1825.....

Nancy Caroline Wynns Daughter of Saml Wynns & Marina his Wife was Bornd January 10, 1827...

Adaline Wynns Daughter of Saml. Wynns and Marina his Wife was Bornd January the 27th 1828....

Sarah Jane Wynns Daughter of Saml. Wynns & Marina his Wife was Bornd December 12, 1830.....

Martha Ann Rebecca Wynns Daughter of Saml Wynns and Marina his Wife was Bornd April 5th 1832.....

James Clinton Wynns son of Samuel Wynns and Marina his wife was borned July 23rd 1829

Edward Barnhill Son of John Barnhill & Dycey his (wife) was born February the 24 1809

an Emeline Barnhill Daughter of Edward Barnhill & Elizabeth Barnhill was born November 11th - 1834

Saml. W. Barnhill Son of Edward Barnhill & Elizabeth, his (wife) was born April 16th, 1836

Margarett Ann Barnhill was Born March 18th 1837 in Mississippi Holms County

Note: The following records are those of Marina (Barnhill) Wynns. After the death of her first husband, Samuel Wynns, she then married James Wright and had children by him.

Marian (Marina) Elizar Wright Daughter of James Wright & Marina Wright his Wife was Born this April 6th 1835

(Elizabeth?) Wright Daughter of James Wright illegible

Albert C. Wright a Son of James Wright and Marina his Wife was Born September _____

(There appears to be another entry here; very dim)

This July the 22 1861

Wm. C. Nored was bornd November the 2 - 1833

M. A. Nored Was bornd April the 5 - 1835

John M. Nored Was bornd June the 25 - 1858

Jenetty J. Nored Was bornd September the 4 - 1860

Marina E. Wright was Daughter of F. M. Wright Julia his Wife Borned August 23, 1861

Charley (A?) Wright his Wife Was Born 20 of February 1863

Martha E. Wright Daughter Son of F.M. Wright Julia of F. M. Wright Julia his Wife Was Born January the 12, 1866.....

Richard Henry Wynns was Born January 29, 1883 *

Minnie May (McClure) Wynns was Born October 1893 Died January 27, 1919

(* Richard Henry Wynns was born January 28, 1874, and not January 29, 1883, as above stated, according to entries in his own "Accounts Book," his burial record, and by statement of his daughter, Miss Orene Wynns, Paris, Tennessee, who made the original entry.)

> Clara Orene Wynns, the Daughter of Richard H. Wynnes and Minnie May (McClure) Wynns, was Born May 8, 1910

Billy Lucille Wynns, the Daughter of Richard H. Wynns and Minnie May (McClure) Wynns was Born July 29, 1912

Write - Sept. 30, 1930

Deaths

Geo. Wynns Son of Watkin W. Wynns & Ann his Wife departed this Life January 28th 1782.....

Benjamin Wynns Son of Watkin W. Wynns & Ann his Wife departed this life October 22nd 1803..

William Ward Wynns unlucaly Departed this Life by a Fall of his hors the 15th of November 1807

Watkin Wm. Wynns Departed this Life March 20th 1812 on Friday Eavan

Ann Wynns Departed this Life February the 13... 1819 on Saturday Morning

> Samuel Wynns Departed this Life on the 10 of October 1832 on Wednesday morning.....

Watkin William Wynns Son of Samuel Wynns & Merina his wife Departed this Life September the 25 1820 on Munday Eavening about one hour and half Sun (?).....

Eliza Wynns Daughter of Saml Wynns & Marina his wife Departed this life October the 11 .. 1823 on Saturday Evening about Eleven O Clock.....

James Barnhill Departed this life October the 18 1826 on Wednesday.....

Nancy C. Wynns Daughter of . Saml Wynns & Marina his wife Departed this life January the 16 1827.....

Marina Wright Departed this Life on Munday June 4 1866

A name and date on record pages: Alexander Upchurch May 2 - 1848

STATE OF TENNESSEE:

TO ALL WHO SHALL SEE THESE PRESENTS - GREETING:

KNOW YE, That reposing special trust and confidence in the Patriotism, Valor, Conduct and Fidelity of <u>J. W. Wynns</u>, County of Henry we do commission him <u>Ensign</u>, in the <u>114</u> Regiment of the Militia of this State; and do authorize and empower him to execute and fulfill the duties of <u>Ensign</u> in the said Regiment, agreeably to Law, and the rules and regulations of Military Discipline; with all the Powers, Privileges and Emoluments thereto of right appertaining; and he is hereby required to obey his superior officers' lawful orders and commands, and all officers and privates under his command are to be obedient to him as aforesaid. In testimony whereof, we have hereunto caused the Great Seal of the State to be affixed.

WITNESS, James C. Jones, Esquire, our Governor and Commander-in-Chief, at Nashville, the 17 day of June A.D. 1844, and of the Independence of the United States, the 68 years.

(Signed)

BY THE GOVERNOR:

JAMES C. JONES

John S. Young - Secretary of State

LAND INDENTURE OF SAMUEL WYNNS

This Indenture made this the twentieth day of July in the Year of our Lord one thousand eight Hundred & twenty one between ELI CHERRY of the State of Tennessee and County of Davidson of the one part and SAMUEL WYNNS of the Saim State and County of Stuart of the Other part. Witnesseth that the Said ELI CHERRY for an in consideration of the Sum of Six hundred Dollars to him in hand paid by Said SAMUEL WYNNS the Receipt wheirof is heirby acknowledg hath given Grantee Barganee Sold aline Conveyed and Confirmed unto the SAML WYNNS his Heirs and Assigns for Ever a Certain Track or Parcel of Land Situated lying and Being in the County of Stuart on the West Side of Tennessee River on the waters of West Sandy in Range Six and Section Eight Beginning at the North West Corner of a three hundred Eighty fore and one half acres Entry in the name of the Heirs of ALEXANDER CHERRY Running thence South on Hundred and Seventy pole thence West two Hundred pole thence North one Hundred and Seventy pole thence East two Hundred ple to the Beginning Containing two Hundred twelve and half acres of land to have and to hold the afore Said land Withall and Singular the Rits and profits Emolument Hereditament and appertainance to the use & Behoof of him the said SAMUEL WYNNS his heirs and Assigns for Ever and the said ELI CHERRY for him Self his Executor and Admr" Dattr (?) Covernant and agree to and with the Said SAML WYNNS his Heirs and Assigns that the before Recited land and Barganee primices I will warrant and for Ever Defend against the title Interest or Claim of all and Every purson or pursons Whatsoever inwitness wheir of this Said ELI CHERRY hath heir unto Set his hand and affixed his Seal this the Day and Year a Bove Writen.

TENNESSEANS IN CENTRAL TEXAS

(Extracted by Mrs. L. B. Gardiner and Mrs. J. A. Murphy from "A Memorial and Biographical History of McLennan, Falls, Bell and Coryell Counties, Texas" published by The Lewis Publishing Co., Chicago, Ill., 1893.)

(Continued from First Quarter 1965)

CHARLES DABNEY, Precinct 3, McLennan Co., was b. 4 May 1851 in Murray Co. (Maury), Tenn., only child of William Dabney and Sarah E. Sedberry. Father is physician of Lodi, Miss. Mother was native of Tenn. probably near Columbia. Charles M. Dabney came with parents to Texas when quite young and located at present home 7 mi. north of Waco. Grandfather Sedberry bought 557 acres of land in 1857 which subject inherited. Mr. Dabney md. 23 Dec. 1881 to Miss Ida T. Douglas, dau. of Judge Thomas C. Douglas and Frances N. Cantrell. Her parents came to Texas in 1868, settling near Waco on Brazos River. Her father also was County Judge of Sumner Co., Tenn., for number of years. Mrs. Dabney was b. 13 Sept. 1862 and came with parents to Texas. Mr. and Mrs. Dabney have 3 children: Sarah E., Mattie L., and Alice D. (p 383)

J. B. FAUNT LE ROY, Gatesville, was b. in 1828 in Shenandoah Co., Va., second of seven children born to Joseph M. Faunt Le Roy and Eliza Bowman, both natives of Va. The father moved to Tenn. about 1833, locating in Montgomery Co. Sold property in 1858 and moved to Ky., locating near Paducah. He died there in 1867 where his widow still resides. Joseph A. Faunt Le Roy, grandfather of our subject, was native of Va. and stayed there, as were the Bowmans. Grandfather Isaac Bowman was Revolutionary War soldier. Subject J. B. Faunt Le Roy came to Texas in 1872, taught school in DeWitt Co., then in Gatesville. He md. Miss Nannie Allensworth in 1859 in Ky., she was a native of Ky. They had 4 children: Stephen, who d. 1861; Jessie; Annie, wife of Hammett Smith of Ala.; and Emmett. Mrs. Faunt Le Roy d. in 1886 (p 386)

JACOB DENTON, McLennan Co. came to Montgomery Co. in Jan. 1870 for 6 yrs., moved to Waco, then to Hill Co., 11 miles northwest of village of West. Later acquired large acreage 1.5 miles north of West overlooking Alligator Creek. Mr. Denton was b. 11 July 1846, 8th of 12 children born to George Denton and Sarah B. Robertson, natives of Tenn. and Miss., respectively. The parents md. in north Ala. The father died in 1870 in Sumter Co., Ala. The mother died in 1891. She was Mr. Denton's second wife. Jacob Denton, first-born (sic) in family, md. 4 Jan. 1870 to Miss Sarah Fendall Neilson, dau. of Dr. Robert Neilson and Charlotte Warren. Her father was a physician, native of Augusta, Ga. The mother was from Ky. She died in April 1870 and her husband now practices in Northport, Ala. Her ancestors came from England and were men of note. Mr. and Mrs. Denton had 5 children: George N., William R., Earnest Lee, Frank E. and Alice. Only George N., William R., and Frank E. survive. Mr. and Mrs. Denton adopted an orphan girl, Alice Ashley. (p 386-7)

- W. V. MILLER, Gatesville, was b. in Maury Co., Tenn., in 1856, a son of A. C. Miller and Minerva Akin, also natives of Tenn. The paternal grandfather, Vincent Miller, was born in N. C., was early pioneer of Maury Co., and died there. The maternal grandfather, William Akin, was a pioneer of same county in Tenn. A. C. Miller resides in Obion Co., Tenn. W. V. Miller was reared in Middle and West Tenn. and came to Texas in 1877, locating at Gatesville. He md. in 1884 Ora Murrell, native of Coryell Co., and dau. of Lemuel Murrell, a pioneer of this county, who was assassinated about the close of the war. Mr. and Mrs. W. V. Miller have 2 children: Raby and Bruce. (p 388)
- W. B. HEDGPETH, Coryell Co., was b. in Tenn. in 1839, a son of J. W. Hedgpeth and Jane Beavers, natives of Tenn. The paternal grandfather, Jeremiah Hedgpeth, was born in N. C. of English ancestry and was a pioneer of Tenn. The Beavers family are of Welsh descent and came from Va. The grandfather, William Beavers, was also a pioneer of Tenn. J. W. Hedgpeth came to Texas in the fall of 1860, settled in

Coryell Co., and died there in July 1890. The mother died about 1876. W. B. Hedgpeth came to Texas in 1872 to Coryell Co. He md. in 1860 Miss Harriet Luna. They have 7 children: Frances J., wife of J. W. Tyson; M. G., of this county; W. L., of Coryell; Louisa, wife of E. P. Morgan; R. H. and J. D., in school. (p 388-9)

ELI WILLIAMSON, Coryell Co., was b. Washington Co., Ark. in 1835. His father, Stephen Williamson, was b. in S. C. in 1791 but emigrated to Miss. when a young man and md. Sarah, dau. of Dutton Sweeton. They had: Joseph, of Panola Co., Texas; John, of Glasscock Co., Texas; Sereno, wife of Wilson Patterson; D. S., of Lampasas Co.; D. M., decd.; Eli, our subject; Nancy, decd., wife of Albert Jones; an infant son who died in Ark.; Mary Ann, wife of M. Hampton; Rachel, decd., wife of W. R. Basham; Sarah, decd., wife of Wilson Rogers; W. R., of Lampasas Co. Stephen Williamson moved from Ark. to Miss. then came to Texas in 1833. Located first in Rusk Co., then in 1849 moved to Burleson Co., in 1850 to Bell Co., and in 1854 to Coryell Co., settling on Bee House Creek. Was killed in 1863 by Indians. Eli Williamson md. 14 Mar. 1860 M. E., dau. of Enos Bone of Tenn. Children are: John Henry, decd.; Stephen; Allie, wife of W. W. Robinson; Lucy Exar, wife of Bush Williamson; Mollie J., wife of Lewis Hill; M. W.; and Parcy. (p 389)

SAMUEL DILLIARD BURKE was son of Jesse Burke and Sarah Harland. Jesse Burke was b. in Tenn. in 1806, son of James Burke and Jane Dilliard, natives of S. C., he being one of 13 children. From Tenn. he moved to S. C., then to Ala. in 1836, to Ark. in 1859, to Texas in 1867. Jesse died in Falls Co. in 1873. Sarah was dau. of James Harland and Margarette Laughton, all natives of S. C. She died in Falls Co., Texas in 1877. Children of Jesse and Sarah Burke: Francis Marion, decd.; Eliza Jane, decd., wife of D. Dilliard (her 1st husband, J. L. Conner, died at New Madrid 3 Jan. 1862); Thomas J., drowned in Talladega Co., Ala. 17 Apr. 1842 at age 6; Geo. W., died 9 July 1861 in Ark.; Lucretia was fifth born; Mary L. living in Ark.; Henry H. lives Navarro Co., Texas; Samuel D.; John H. died 20 June 1890; William Z., whose sketch appears elsewhere in this work; Jasper N. died in 1871; Elias M. died in Ark. in 1860; Aaron Rufus of Navarro Co.; and Mary L., who died at age 4. Samuel D. Burke was b. in Ala. in 1843. Went to Ark. in 1862. Came to Texas in 1868 and located on Blue Ridge awhile. Was md. in 1865 to Tementia Webb, of Ark., dau. of Merideth Webb and Sarah Johnson, natives of Tenn., who came to Ark. early. Mr. and Mrs. Burke have had 11 children: Sarah Ellen F.; John R.; Cornelia C.; Jesse K.; Christiana O.; Jasper H. H.; James S.; William Z. M.; Lucretia T.; Mary M.; and Grover C. Sarah Ellen F. md twice. First husband John M. Burke, died in Ark. near Ozark 12 Jan. 1885; second husband John E. Millwer, native of Ark., now resides Falls Co., Texas. John R. Burke died 19 Nov. 1868 as infant in Dardanelles, Ark. (p 396-7)

SEVERE E. SNODGRASS, M.D., of West, McLennan Co., b. in White Co., Tenn. 5 May 1849, eldest of 11 children born to Thomas Snodgrass and Eliza Evans. The father's ancestors came from Ireland early and located in Va. Thomas practiced medicine in Tenn. about 25 years. Now lives at Crossville, Tenn. Thomas was one of 7 brothers: David, decd.; Robert died Chattanooga, Tenn.; John, killed at Franklin, Tenn.; Will, decd. near Sparta, Tenn.; Samuel, of White Co., Tenn.; Henry C. of Chattanooga. Eliza Evans is dau. of Col. Severe Evans of Tenn. To Thomas and Eliza were born 5 sons: D. L., of Tenn.; W. D., Pikeville, Tenn.; C. E., Crossville, Tenn.; J. W., Sparta, Tenn. Severe E. Snodgrass lived in Sparta until coming to Texas in 1882. Stopped for short time in Waco with Jo Willis and Curtis, then moved to West. He md. 5 May 1874 Miss Belle Marchbanks, dau. of Burton Marchbanks and Julia F. Goodbar. Burton Marchbanks was brother of Judge Marchbanks of Warren Co., Tenn. He died about 1868. Mrs. Marchbanks lives with her dau., Mrs. Snodgrass. Mr. and Mrs. Snodgrass have had 4 children: Lawrence, Katie Rotan, Thomas Burton and Martha Eddie. Our subject is 1st cousin of E. Rotan of Waco, also cousin of J. W. Throckmorton, ex-governor of Texas, and a nephew of Henry Snodgrass, Congressman from Tenn. (p 397-8)

W. A. COLE, Bell Co., was b. in Tishomingo Co., Miss. 11 May 1859, third of a family of 5 children. His parents, John T., and Sirena (Pigg) Cole, were natives of N. C. Andrew Cole, father of John T., was native of N. C. but removed to Miss. with his family. The maternal ancestors were also early settlers of the same state. John T. Cole came to Texas in 1881, now resides near Temple. W. A. Cole was 7 yrs. old when his parents moved to McNairy Co., Tenn. He was educated at Baldwin, Miss., and in 1881 came to Texas. On Aug. 17, 1886 he md. Miss Mary S. Davis, native of Ky. They have 2 sons, William Albert and Ernest Allan. (p 403)

J. F. BASHAM, Coryell Co., was b. in Giles Co., Tenn., in 1831. His father, Solomon Basham, was b. in Tenn. in 1796. He left Tenn. in 1835 and moved to Crawford Co., Ark., where he died in 1872. His father was Richard Basham. Solomon Basham was married at age 22 yrs. to Elizabeth Marler. Her mother's maiden name was Coffey. The result of this union was: Cynthia, wife of Jacob Miller; Coffey Basham, of Coryell Co.; John M., decd.; Susan, decd.; J. F.; Columbus, of Eastland Co., Texas; W. R., also of Eastland Co.; America, wife of George Camp; Jasper N., of Ark.; Thomas Jefferson, also of Ark.; Henry, of La.; and 3 daughters who died infants. J. F. Basham came to Coryell Co. in 1854. He was married in McLennan Co. in 1852 to Dicy Ann, dau. of William Wagener, of Tenn., and Julia Emory, dau. of Jesse Emory. Mrs. Basham's parents had the following children: Julia; Esabell, wife of Andrew Winn; Elizabeth, wife of Matthew Couch; Dicy Ann; Solomon; William R.; and John A. The children of Mr. and Mrs. Basham are: William, decd.; Solomon; Johnson, decd.; Lee, decd.; Leonora, wife of R. S. Roggers; Callie, wife of Joe I. Culp; and Leler, Wiley, and Kate. (p 403-4)

DR. RETURN JONATHAN POPE was born in Maryville, Blount Co., Tenn. in 1844, youngest child of Rev. Fielding Pope and Theressa C. Meigs, natives of Va. and Ky., respectively. The father died in 1867 and the mother in 1855. Dr. Pope's grandfather Pope was of Scotch descent and lived in Va. and Ky. His grandfather Return Jonathan Meigs was relative of Gov. Meigs of Ohio. His uncle, another Return Jonathan Meigs, died in Washington, D. C. in October 1891, aged 90 years. Dr. Pope spent the winter of 1865-66 in Ga., then came to Texas the spring of 1866. He first located at Springfield, Limestone Co. After graduation from Washington University, Baltimore, in 1870, he began practice in Jonesboro, Coryell Co. He was married in 1873 to Miss Fannie Crow, native of Texas, dau. of A. J. Crow. Her father was born in Miss., came to Texas at early date, and settled in Fayette Co. She died in March 1879. She was mother of Teressa, Thomas A., and Mahala, who died in infancy. Dr. Pope later married Miss Annie Crow and by her had Return Jonathan; Parthenia; Fannie, Etta and Kathleen, all three died in infancy; and Fielding. Mrs. Pope died in March 1879. (p 407)

DANIEL DUNN, Coryell Co., was b. in York dist., S. C., in 1828. His father, John B. Dunn, was also b. in S. C. about 1794, but moved his family to Cass Co., Ga. in 1847 where he remained until his death in 1864. He married Annie, dau. of Daniel Peeler, of S. C. They have 5 children: Daniel, our subject; Mary, who married Anderson La Losier, of Tenn.; Aaron, who died March 29, 1891; Moses, who was killed at Franklin, Tenn.; William M., of Rome, Ga. Daniel Dunn left Ga. in Sept. 1857, reached Coryell Co. in Nov., and bought land on Flint Creek. He married in 1856 Jane, dau. of A. Hardin, of S. C. and Rachel Whismhout, one of 6 children. Mr. and Mrs. Dunn have 6 children: Rachel A., decd., who married Dr. Sanders and left 2 children; Mary W., decd., wife of Mr. Coleman, who left 3 children; John, married Lulu Touchstone of Coryell Co., who have 2 children; Elizabeth, wife of Rev. J. A. Hardin, has 9 children; Ella, wife of Patrick Walsh, has 4 children; Fannie, wife of Monroe Gloss, has 3 children. (p 407-8)

PROF. WILLIAM O. ALLEN, West, was b. in Shelby Co., Ala., April 28, 1839, eldest of 2 children of William S. Allen and Elizabeth Thweatte. The father was a native of S. C. but later moved to Shelby Springs, Ala. He died in November 1889. The mother was a native of Ala., dau. of John-Thweatte, and Miss Manning. Mrs. Allen

died in Ala. in 1848 and in 1850 the father married Miss Sarah Norris, native of Md. They were parents of 2 children, one of whom died at age 6 years. This lady lives with her daughter, Mrs. Dixon, in Texas. William O. Allen came with parents to Texas at age 18. After the war, he taught school in Burleson Co. In 1876 he moved to Utah for 5 years, then came to Mart, McLennan Co., Texas. In August 1890 he came to West. In 1892 he moved to Waco, Texas. Mr. Allen was married January 3, 1867 to Mary L. Jennings, dau. of James W. Jennings and Mary Perry. The father was a native of Tenn., but moved in fall of 1865 to Falls Co., Texas, where he died in October 1881. The mother, Mr. Jennings' second wife, died in Burleson Co., Texas, in September 1873. Mr. and Mrs. Allen have 5 children: Laura and Lulu, twins; Mary Lelah; Stella, died age 4; and James William, who died in infancy. (p 408-9)

NAPOLEON B. HORNE, McLennan Co., was b. in McMinn Co., Tenn. in 1828, son of Riley Horne and Hannah Shockley, natives of Tenn. and S. C. respectively. The father was born in 1800. Great-grdf. Horne came from England to America during the Rev. War and settled in Wilmington, N. C. whence his children moved west over Tenn. and Ky. Riley Horne and his brother West were tanners in Athens, Tenn. He moved to Ga. and died at Tunnell Hill in the Civil War. Mr. Horne had lived in Polk Co., Tenn. after leaving Athens and before going to Ga. He and his wife had 8 children: Napoleon B., our subject; Harris H., died in war; Elkana, decd.; Samuel, killed at Fort Gaines, Ala. in war; Thomas, decd.; Mariah, wife of Joseph Finley, is decd.; Felix, supposedly decd.; Charles, decd. Mrs. Horne survived her husband until 1882, when he died in Texas at age 70 years. Napoleon B. Horne came to Texas in 1849 and located at Tyler, Smith Co. In 1854 he came to McLennan Co. His brother Horace was with him. Mr. Horne married in 1853 to Miss Caroline Shamblin, native of Tenn., dau. of John Shamblin and Sarah Schoffer. Mr. Shamblin died in Tenn. and his widow came to Texas with her family. She now lives with her dau. Mrs. Horne, and is 83 years old. Five of her 13 children still live: Margaret, wife of William Mayfield; Amanda, wife of W. B. Hancock; Caroline; Samuel, of Moody, McLennan Co.; and McCelrey, wife of James Shoffer. Mr. and Mrs. Horne have had 13 children, all living: Almedia, widow of W. S. Tuttle; Robert; Alice, wife of James D. Hoy; Margaret, wife of L. C. Connelly; Samuel; Sarah; Elgiva, wife of Columbus Harris; Willis; Thomas; Clifton; and Mattie. (p 409-10)

J. M. SYPERT, Bell Co., native of Tenn., b. in 1843, fourth of a family of 12 children. His parents were William Carroll Sypert and Amelia B. Perry, also of Tenn. The father came to Texas in 1836, returned to Tenn. and married Permelia (sic) B. Perry. Returning to Texas in 1839, he settled in Augustine Co. In 1842 he returned to Tenn. again. In 1849 he came back to Texas but did not locate permanently until 1854 in Milam Co. near the Bell Co. line. He died there in 1886 but his wife survives. The paternal grandfather, Lawrence Sypert, was a native of S. C. and pioneer of Tenn. J. M. Sypert, our subject, was reared in Nacogdoches Co. In 1868 he married Virginia C. Reed, dau. of William Reed, and two years afterward moved to Bell Co. They have had 4 children: Mary H., wife of T. J. Sumrall; Permelia; Benjamin, Texanna, who died age 3 yrs.; and Leni Leoti. The family moved to Holland in 1886 where they still live. (p 410)

ZACHARY DAVIS, McLennan Co., was born in Dade Co., Mo., May 15, 1849, third of 5 living children born to Francis Davis and Rebecca Kendall. The father, native of Tenn., moved to Dade Co. at early date, where he married about 1844. In 1863, while the father was in service, the mother and family came to Texas. After several moves, they finally located in 1864 near Bold Spring, now the village of West, McLennan Co. Mr. Davis died in Baxter Springs, Kansas. In October 1870, the mother (a native of Ind.) moved with her parents to Mo. in an early day. In 1873 she married W. M. Oliphant, who died in 1886. The mother still lives with her daughter, Mrs. Marable, in Scurry Co., Texas. Zachary Davis was married June 13, 1871, to Fannie C. Martin, dau. of Patrick Martin. They have had 9 children: Francis P., who died March 2, 1890, aged 17; unnamed son died infant; John W.;

James T.; Fannie P.; Andrew Z.; Clifford J.; Ronda R.; and Roy B. (p 412-13)

SAMUEL H. BARTON, Bell Co., was b. in S. C. in 1854, second child of Dr. Welborn Barton and Louisa A. Cox. (See biog. of Dr. R. W. Barton, of Salado, this volume.) Samuel H. was a babe when his father came to Burnet Co., Texas. In 1865 they moved to Salado, Bell Co. Mr. Barton was married in 1874 to Miss Pinkie Garrett, of Bastrop Co., dau. of William Garrett and Eviline Blakey, natives of Va. and Tenn. respectively. The Garrett and Blakey families came to Texas at the same time and settled at Bastrop. Mrs. Barton's grandfather, L. S. Blakey, had a son Edward Blakey who was killed in 1839. His brother Lemuel Blakey, was killed at battle of San Jacinto. Mrs. Barton's father was drowned in spring of 1873, aged 58 years. He and his wife reared 5 children: Annie, wife of J. W. Aikin of Callahan Co.; Spill, decd.; Robert, of Coryell Co.; Pinkie, wife of Mr. Barton; and William, Callahan Co. Mr. and Mrs. Samuel H. Barton have 6 children: William, Randal; Blakey; Annie, decd.; Samuel, Jr.; and Susie. (p 413)

WILLIAM H. LANGDON, Jonesboro, Coryell Co., came to this county in October 1876. He was born in Dunklin Co., Mo. in 1851, second of family of eight children born to Edwin James Langdon and Sarah Ann Glasscock, natives of Vt. and Ark. respectively. His father was one of first white settlers in Dunklin Co. Mr. Langdon was married in 1871 to Mary Virginia Argo, native of Tenn., who died February 21, 1892. They had: Zuleika Ethel, Sarah Ann, Frank Argo, William, Edwin James, decd., and two others who died infants. (p 415-16)

W. C. NORTON, Coryell Co., was b. in Tippah Co., Miss. in 1861, third of seven children. His parents, Rev. J. W. Norton and Nancy C. Elliott, was born in Tenn. and Miss. respectively. At age 15 he came with parents to Coryell Co. In 1888 he married Blanche E. Smith, native of Texas, dau. of J. D. Smith of McGregor. Mrs. Norton is granddaughter of Reuben Ross. They have two children: Ruth and James Earl. (p 416-17)

STEPHEN E. OWEN, was b. Oct. 28, 1849 in Giles Co., Tenn., sixth of ten children born to Elijah Owen and Mary Carroll. The father was native of Va. but moved to Tenn. at early date and died there in 1867 about 50 years old. The mother still lives with a son in Wichita Co., Texas. Only five of her children still live, all sons. Stephen E. Owen came to Waco in February 1877, then to West, then in 1879 to Hill Co. He married Mary E. Mauk, dau. of William Mauk and Isabella Cobb. Mr. Mauk was born in Ga. and came at early date to Robinson Co., Texas where he was married. Later he came to McLennan Co. and now resides at West. Mr. and Mrs. Owen have 2 children: Edward Tilden, born Jan. 12, 1882; and Jefferson Crocket, born Dec. 5, 1885, who was killed June 11, 1892. (p 424)

DR. ROBERT W. NOBLE, Falls Co. His father, Moses G. Nobel, was born in Va. in 1829. In 1844 he went to Mexico in the war. He returned to Va. and in 1849 started for Calif., wintering in Mo., continuing to Calif. in spring. He returned to Texas in 1861, first in Hayes Co. After returning to Va., he came back to Texas at Harrisburg, then to Navasota until 1875, then to McLennan Co. where he now lives. The doctor's mother, nee Cornelia M. Woods, was born, reared, and married in Va. She is dau. of Robert Woods and Annie E. Tate, of Franklin Co., Va. The doctor's paternal grandparents were Daniel and Sarah Noble. The former came to America with parents when I year old and settled in Va. Great-grandfather Noble came from Scotland to America in colonial days and was Rev. War soldier. Dr. Robert W. Noble was born in Hays Co., Texas in 1863. He moved in 1853 to Louisville, Ky. for some years, graduated in 1887 from Memphis Medical College, came to Barclay and settled. He married in December 1889 Mary Eunice Little, dau. of Lorenzo B. Little and Annie Moore, natives of Tenn. and Ala. respectively. They have one child. (p 424-5)

ROBERT J. GARRETT, Falls Co. His father, Thomas M. Garrett, was born in Giles Co., Tenn. in 1809 and moved to Anderson Co., Texas in 1839. In 1849 he moved to Falls

Co. and located on Blue Ridge, where he died in 1862. By his first wife, Manerva Reed, native of Tenn., he had three children: Mary Elizabeth, Cynthia Ann, and Robert J., only the last still living. Cynthia Ann died young. Mary Elizabeth married twice. She had no children by her first husband, John McDowell. By her second, William Erskine, she had two sons: J. F. and T. J., both of Falls Co. Thomas M. Garrett's second marriage was to Mrs. Cornelison, nee Brandon, whose parents were natives of Tenn. This union resulted in six children: Catherine, wife of B. F. Hickman, of Reynolds Co., Texas; James O., of Blue Ridge; Rhoda, wife of J. R. Hodges, of Ennis; Sarah, wife of D. R. Hodges, of Reynolds Co.; Thomas H., of Blue Ridge; Fannie, decd., wife of Edmond Stone, of Falls Co. Robert J. Garrett was born in Anderson Co., Texas April 14, 1841, and in 1850 came with parents to Falls Co. After war service, he located at present home in 1867. He married in 1863 Mary Smith, native of Miss., dau. of Ephriam Smith and Edith Smith, natives of N. C. Issue from their union is: Martha Ann, wife of J. A. Dunkum, of Marlin, Texas; Mary E., wife of Robert Jackson, of Kosse, Texas; Frances Luella, wife of Dr. G. P. Reeves, of Falls Co.; James T. and Gertrude, twins, the former of Iron Co., the latter of Tom Green Co., wife of H. K. Hancock; Dora Manerva, student at Huntsville; Robert L., at home; Arrie Ruth, student at Huntsville; Joseph Edward, at home; Donald W.; Lottie Estella; and May Pearl, at home; Irene, died young; Rubie Myrtle, at home. (p 425-6)

FRANK B. BRATTON was b. in Robertson Co., Texas, in 1858. His father, Calvin W. Bratton, was b. in Tenn. in 1819. Calvin came to Texas in 1837, locating first in Robertson Co., then in Falls Co., where he died in 1876. Calvin's parents died when he was small, and he was reared by an uncle. In 1842 he married Sarah E. Graves, now decd., native of Tenn. and dau. of Dr. Ralph Graves. The doctor and his wife were both natives of Tenn. and emigrated to Texas early. Calvin and Sarah had 12 children: Mary N., of Kosse; La Fayette M., of Kosse; Ralph, decd., Sarah M., wife of J. R. Jarrott; Margaret O., wife of A. M. Fizer, of Falls Co.; Laura and Sally, decd.; Carrie, wife of E. P. Hearne, of Falls Co.; Calvin G., of Kosse; Frank B., our subject; and Emma and Alice. Frank B. Bratton married Mary A. Brown, native of Texas in 1880. She is dau. of J. P. and Mary (Bryan) Brown, natives of Tenn. They have 6 children: Calvin W., Mary A., Roy, Neal, Elba and Brown. (p 432)

DR. WILLIAM KILLEBREW, Marlin, was b. in Montgomery Co., Tenn., May 11, 1819, third of 8 children born to Edwin Killebrew and Mary Williams, natives of N. C. The father moved to Tenn. ca. 1800, where he married. He died Nov. 30, 1847. The mother died on Dec. 2, 1872, age 80. Dr. Killebrew moved in 1843 to Chambers Co., Ala. After father's death, he located near Hopkinsville, Ky. awhile, then returned home. In 1851, he came to Galveston, then to Indianola, then to Falls Co., arriving in June 1851. He married on Feb. 2, 1853, Jane J. Fortune, native of Greensboro, Ala., dau. of John A. Fortune and America Higgins, natives of Ky. The parents moved to Ala. early and on Dec. 24, 1851, settled in Falls Co., where the father died in 1863 in Marlin, and the mother in 1870, also in Marlin. Mr. and Mrs. Killebrew had 9 children, 4 living: America, at home; Susan, wife of C. T. Curry of Marlin; Mary, wife of William McComb; Willie, wife of Wm. Dubois. Mrs. Killebrew died May 1, 1873 and Dr. Killebrew on Jan. 9, 1892. (p 441)

WILLIAM R. KELLUM, b. Dec. 27, 1817, near Tuscumbia, Ala., eldest son of Edward Kellum and Karen Tabor. Edward was b. in Scotland late 18th century, emigrated to America, married Karen in Tenn., moved to Ala., then to Miss., and finally to Texas in 1851, locating in McLennan Co., where they died. They had 8 children: Elizabeth, decd., wife of W. F. Umbersom; Nancy, decd., wife of Louis Rheuson; William R., decd.; Smith, murdered on White Rock Creek; Polly Ann, wife of Dr. Kirkland; Edward, decd.; Maria, decd., wife of Willis Putnam; Emma, wife of Rev. John Puckett. William R. was married in Miss. to Jane Casper and they had 2 children: Edwin Parker, of Bosque Co.; and John Thomas Jefferson, decd. In 1851, Mr. Kellum accompanied father to McLennan Co. and settled. Mrs. Kellum died shortly after coming to Texas. On July 15, 1853, Mr Kellum married Mary E., dau. of James

C. and Elizabeth B. Jurney, one of 9 children; James C., Jr.; Jane M., wife of S. F. Sparks; Mary E.; William F.; Reuben, decd.; John C., Sr.; Lucius J., decd.; Cyrus; Sarah A., decd.; and Nancy, decd. By his second marriage Mr. Kellum had 5 children: Emma J., wife of C. Falkner; Fannie H., wife of C. J. George; William C. whose sketch also in this work; Karen, wife of Walter S. Hurd; and James R., also in this work. William R. Kellum died 23 October 1890. (pp 449-50)

JOHN W. McDANIEL, McLennan Co., was born in Montgomery Co., Tenn., Jan. 28, 1827, eldest of 4 children of Joel McDaniel and Mahala McGuire. Joel was native of Tenn. and died there in March 1886, aged 85 years. In March 1870, John W. moved to White Co., Ill., where he lived until fall of 1873, then came to Hill Co., Texas. In December 1876, he moved to 2 miles northwest of West station. On October 25, 1851, he married Ann E. Small, native of Ky., dau. of Frelding Small and Mary Hill, natives of Va. Her parents moved to White Co., Ill. in fall of 1869, where the father died in 1872; the mother died in Tenn. age 65 years. Mr. and Mrs. McDaniel have one son, William A., born Nov. 25, 1854. William married in December 1876 Mary J. Smith, dau. of Robert Smith and Ursula Due, natives of Tenn. They have 4 children: William R., Eddy R., Warren P., and Alsa S. John W. and Ann also reared an orphan, Margaret Ashley. (p 455)

EDWARD R. EVERETT, Belton, was b. in Nashville, Tenn., July 20, 1864, son of E. F. Everett and Ellen Douglas, natives of Tenn. E. F. lives at Columbia, Maury Co., Tenn., and has 7 sons: Douglas, of Chattanooga; Thomas H., of Louisville, Ky.; E. R., our subject; Frank F., near Louisville; George W., of Nashville; William M. and H. S., twins, the former of Columbia, the latter at home. The Everett family moved to Columbia in 1864. Edward R. came to Dallas, Texas, in 1885 for a few months, moved to Austin for a year or two, then came to Belton in 1887. He married on April 29, 1891, Mayel Kegley, of Belton, a native of Bell Co. Her parents, Samuel Kegley and S. A. Carpenter, are natives of Ky. They have one son, Leland Stanford. (p 462)

ROBERT Y. VAUGHAN, McLennan Co., was b. in Hawkins Co., Tenn., June 27, 1824, but grew up in McMinn Co. He came to Texas in 1859, settled in Hayes Co., then in Polk Co. for 16 years, moved to Grayson Co., Bosque Co., finally to McLennan Co. near Waco, and now in that county near West. He married Martha A. Triplett, youngest of 12 children born to Joel Triplett and Jane Jones, of N. C. and Ky., respectively. The Tripletts moved to Tenn. where Martha (Mrs. Vaughan) was born in 1836. After wife's death, Mr. Triplett moved in 1871 with family to Mo., where he died in May 1873. Mr. and Mrs. R. Y. Vaughan have 10 children: Thomas, John M., Tennie L., Sarah, Robert S., Flora M., Joseph M., Baesha A., Mary E., and Mattie Y. Mr. Vaughan's parents, Thomas Vaughan and Leah M. McCarty, were Scotch-Irish. The grandfather, James Vaughan, and two brothers, were from Va. Thomas Vaughan died May 1855. His widow died in November 1863. (p 462-3)

WILLIAM K. HAMBLEN was b. in Lee Co., Va., Oct. 22, 1817, oldest son of Pascal Hamblen and Mary Williams, natives of Hawkins Co., Tenn. Pascal's father, Daniel H., was born and reared in Price Edward dist., Va. The family came from England and were among first settlers of Va. During 1812 Pascal B. lived in Lee Co., Va. He came to Texas in 1834. He settled on Chocolate Bayou in Brazoria Co., then moved to Oyster Creek until March 3, 1836 when forced to move, residing at Opelousas, La. a while, then returning home later. In 1837 they moved to Harris Co. until father's death in October 1844, age 55 years. Mrs. Hamblen died Dec. 5, 1878, 83 years old, in Milam Co. Pascal had 10 children: William K., John W., C. A., and Sarah lived to be grown; John W., Milam Co., has one son, Henry. C. A., decd., left a son, Joe. Sarah, decd., married twice. By first husband, Shylo Glasscock, she had William S., of Milam Co; by second, William Barge, she had John A. and Thomas J., both of Milam Co. William K. Hamblen came to Texas at age 17, lived in Montgomery Co. 2 years. In 1868 he moved to Salado and owns land in Bell and Milam Co. He has been married twice. On Nov. 22, 1855, he married Mrs. S. C.

(Medaus) Blakemore, of Tenn., dau. of James Blakemore and Sarah Potect. By her he had 4 children: J. P., of Williamson Co.; Sallie, wife of Dr. R. W. Barton, of Salado; John, decd.; and Mary, wife of L. H. Porter, of Milam Co. Mrs. Hamblen died in 1863. In 1864 Mr. Hamblen married Alice Gray, native of Miss., dau. of William Gray and Metilda Choat. Her father died in Miss. and the mother moved about 1849 to Texas. By second marriage Mr. Hamblen had 14 children: G. W., of Milam Co.; Sam, of Taylor Co.; Alice and John, twins, the former died in infancy; Bush, died Dec. 28, 1891, age 21; Vesta; Henry; Asa; Naomi; Emma; Ella; Annie; Rosa; Omega. (last two decd.) (p 454-5)

WILLIAM L. JONES, Coryell Co., was b. in Claiborne Co., Miss. in 1827, oldest of 13 children. His parents, Milton H. Jones and Kisiah Cubertson, were natives of Tenn.; moved to Miss. early; were married in Claiborne Co.; later moved to Yalobusha Co.; and in 1839 came to Texas and located in Shelby Co. Mr. Jones died Jan. 22, 1875 in Hood Co., his wife on Feb. 10, 1847. William L. Jones lived in Corsicana 1850-52, moved to Rusk Co., then to Mt. Enterprise, then to Bosque Co. In 1872 came to what is now Jonesboro. He married twice: in Bosque Co., Feb. 4, 1858, to Mary C. Loyd, native of Hempstead Co., Ark., who died April 25, 1864, leaving two children: Fountain E., of Arizona, and Allie K., wife of Thomas J. Atkinson, of Hamilton Co.; he married second Susan R. Thomas, native of Ala., by whom he had 3 children: Mary C. Hall, William L., and Wiley P. who died May 26, 1879. Alfred M., a son of the first marriage, died May 29, 1864. (p 471-2)

ELLIS A. BEAN, Coryell Co., was b. in Cherokee Co., Texas, Sept. 5, 1850. His father, I. T. Bean, resident of Bell Co., was born in Ark. Ellis P. Bean, his grandfather, was born in 1783 in Tenn. In 1801 he came to Texas but returned to the Eastern states until 1821, when he again came to Texas. Here most of his family were born and reared, but he (Ellis P.) died in Mexico. In 1847, I. T. Bean located in Bell Co. About 27 years he married Nancy, dau. of Kedar Boone, of N. C., and they had: C. A., who md. R. O. Jackson; Ellis A., our subject; James, of Bowie Co.; Almanto, of Indian Terr.; Mary, wife of Washington Collins of New Mexico; Thomas, of Indian Terr.; William, decd.; Joseph, of Bell Co.; Cornelia, wife of Jack Epperson of Bell Co.; Alice and Emma, single. Ellis A. came to Coryell Co. in 1882. On Sept. 3, 1875, he married Sarah Grimes, dau. of F. M. Grimes and Elmira Susan Farley. Her father was b. in Tenn., came to Texas in 1812, and lived many years in Washington Co., Texas, but moved to Coryell Co. and later years to Navarro Co., where he died. Mrs. Bean was b. in Coryell Co. in 1854, 8th of 11 children. Mr. and Mrs. Bean have: Henry, Elmira, William, Jesse, Joseph, and Charles. (p 472-3)

ANDREW FOUTS, Coryell Co., was b. in Tenn. in 1856, 6th of 9 children born to Noah L. Fouts and Elizabeth M. Coxsey. (see sketch elsewhere in this work.) He came to Texas in 1878, went to McGregor in 1881, returned to Gatesville until Sept. 1884, moved to Osage. Mr. Fouts married in 1884 Luella Bell Creasey, native of Texas, dau. of W. F. Creasey, a Virginian but a pioneer of Texas. They have: Creasey Noah, Andrew Bell and Bertha G. (p 479)

SAMUEL GREGG, Gatesville, was b. in 1838 in Sullivan Co., Tenn., son of James Gregg and Mary Johnson, second of 12 children. Both parents were born in Tenn. The father died there in 1866, the mother in Texas in 1882. Grandfather James Gregg went from S.C. to Tenn. early and died there. The Johnsons went to Tenn. from Pa. Samuel Gregg went to Iowa in 1866, then to Texas in 1867, located in Coryell Co. in 1870. In 1872 he married Phetna Newland, native of Ind., who came to Texas with her parents as a girl. They have: Florence, James Robert, Phetna Gertrude, Samuel Bertie, Emma Alma, and W. B. (p 486-7)

(Continued Next Quarter)

ROANE COUNTY, TENNESSEE, CHANCERY RECORDS

(Abstracted by Mrs. Ernest Hutcherson, P.O. Box 154, Rockwood, Tennessee 37854)

The Chancery Court of Roane County, Tennessee, was organized in 1824. The first book contains cases between December 7, 1824, and the December Term of 1833. - Cases for the area had been tried at Knoxville, Tennessee, before the organization of this court.

Book 1, pages 1 through 22: James Wyly & Others vs. Baldwin Harle & Others.

Baldwin Harle & others had made bond December 31, 1819, with James Wyly, Arthur H. Henley and Jesse Wallace, security. (This case had probably been going on in Knoxville, Tennessee.)

June Term 1825

....your Orator and Oratrix James Wyly & James Hall and his wife Margaret of Blount County...(Tenn.)...Dorcas Wyly admrx. of the estate of Robert Wyly and Jane McCall Martha Miller and Harris McKinley Wyly. The said James Wyly and Margaret Hall, Robert Wyly, Jane McCall, Martha Miller and Harris McKinley Wyly being children and heirs and Legatees of James Wyly formerly of Mecklenberg County and State of North Carolina deceased That the said James Wyly the Father resided in said county of Mecklenberg in the year 1771 and long before....possessed of a very large estate in lands, slaves and other property both in said county of Mecklenberg as well as on New River in what was then Botetourt County in the Colony of Virginia on the 31st day of Dec. in the said year 1771 made his last will and testament and appointed the Executors and executrix therein mentioned and died a few days or about a week thereafter will proven and recorded in County of Mecklenberg at the next term...will, a copy which is hereunto annexed and marked exhibit number 1...at the time of the death of the said James the Father he left the said Martha a widow and eight children living as appears by said will the eldest of whom said John the son was then about 21 years the others proportionably younger down to the youngest the said Harris McKinley Wyly about two years old, That the then unborn child....died while a sucking infant...That the sons John and Thomas died within about a year after their Father's death, That Robert some time thereafter settled in Green County in what is now the State of Tennessee and married the said Dorcas, the said Robert died about 10 or 12 years ago and said Dorcas duly administered his estate....the said Jane shortly after the death of her Father was married while a minor to Francis McCall who since and but a few years ago died in West Tennessee the said Jane still living and residing in the Mississippi State, That the said Martha the daughter also shortly after her Father's death while a minor was married to Henry Miller and moved to Tennessee and in August last in 1819 the said Henry died. and his widow the said Martha resides in the county of Roane, That the said Harris McKinley Wyly is still living and resides in the State of Alabama, That about 1 or 2 years after the death of said James Wyly the elder his said widow and Executrix Martha Wyly intermarried with a certain David Miller who thereby became Co-executor in fact and in law....almost the whole of the personal estate....came into the hands of David and Martha.... (Names much property)....David Miller sold 15 or 16 valuable head of steers to Col. Englishsold a negro to Thomas Pope...further state that the said David and Martha his wife after living about two years on the estate of said James Wyly deceased in the County of Mecklenberg they removed into the said County of Botetourt in Virginia from whence they moved to Washington County in what is now Tennessee in or about the year 1780 or 1781 where they resided until about the year 1795 or 1796 when they removed to the said County of Blount where they continued to reside until their death: the said Martha dying about 14 years ago and said David in March 1819 died intestate. That the said David and Martha had three children during their intermarriage to wit Andrew Miller, who died without lawful issue,

Elizabeth who intermarried to Thomas Taylor, who are now both dead and have left a considerable number of children, the third child of said David Miller and his wife Martha being a daughter named Isabella, intermarried with a certain Baldwin Harle of Jefferson County in State of Tennessee, who at March term of said County Court of Blount immediately after the death of said David Miller, procured letters of administration upon his estate...said Baldwin...may be made parties and defendants to this Bill of Complainant... (much about what they had not received from the estate of James Wyly)...your Orator James Wyly acted as an agent for the other heirs frequently in the life time of their mother....David and Martha were growing old and desired they might enjoy the property during their lives....that their step father the said David who was become very old and infirm should enjoy said property during his life....(reason the heirs had not urged for a settlement)...Oratrixes further state that Robert Robinson and Robert Harris Junior two of those persons appointed Executors of the will of James Wyly the elder deceased resided in Mecklenberg County...have each departed this life....

Exhibit 1

In the name of God amen. I James Wyly of the County of Mecklenberg in the province of North Carolina being sick in body; thanks be to God of perfect and sound mind and memory....Do make this my last will and testament, To wit,.... I order dispose of and bequeath in the manner and form following to wit... I order my dearly beloved wife Martha the third part of all my personal Estate and a bed and the furnirure thereon for her use and that she have the use of my plantation whereon I now live during her natural life or widowhood the better to support her and my children - I order that my Executors herein named do school my children...their mother do live on the land above until they arrive to age ... (slave and other things to wife) ... unto my Son John Wyly that five hundred acres of land on Reed Creek in Bortetot County in the Colony of Virginia...unto my Sons Thomas, James and Robert Wyly that tract of nine hundred and eighteen acres of land on Cripple Creek in Bortetot County...to be equally divided...(so that each would have his share when he came to age)...unto my youngest Son Harris McKinley Wyly the plantation that I now live on at his coming to age.... I give and bequeath to my Daughter Jane my negro Female Slave named Dina...a mare worth twelve pounds a saddle and a bridle and such bed and furniture as they think proper...unto my Daughter Martha my negro Female Slave named Fanny... (also same as Jane, mare, etc.)....unto my Daughter Margaret the sum of fifty pounds proclamation money at her coming to age... (mare, saddle, bridle and bed with furniture as other daughters)...as it appears that my wife is now pregnant and near unto the time of her delivery, if it shall please God to spare her and the child when born...if a male I order my Son John Wyly to purchase a tract of land in the Colony of Virginia for him...if a female, I order ...schooled...furnish her with an equal divident of my estate with my Daughter Margaret....if any of my sons die before they come to age...their share be equally divided amongst the survivors...any of my daughters die...be equally divided amongst surviving females...appoint my dearly beloved wife Martha Wyly, my Son John Wyly, my brother Robert Robinson and Robert Harris Junr...executors...subscribed and affixed my seale in my house at the County aforesaid this 31 December 1771....

Wit.

(s) James Wyly (Seal)

William Alexander John Caruthers Thomas Neely

Proved Jan. Term 1772 in Mecklenburg County, N. C.

A committee appointed by the Court of Mecklenburg County met to settle the orphans' estate April 9, 1787, at the house of Robert Harris Sr..."the records respecting the estate of James Wyly Dec'd had been lost in the year 1780 by reason whereof we cannot certainly know..." They got together all the vouchers, receipts, etc. for

a new accounting.

In the answer of Baldwin Harle: ... Jane Wood left this country in 1808 or 1809had a conversation with David Miller in 1809....Miller said Jane Wood whom this defendant supposed to be Jane McCall mentioned had made a demand on him before she went to the Natches....

In the Chancery Court Minute Book, First one, page 5, the case is styled thus:

James Wyly for himself as agent for Dorcas Wyly widow James her son for Jane McCall, Martha Miller and M. Wyly and as guardian for Elizabeth, Lucinda and four other minor children of Robert Wyly dec'd and James Hall and wife Margaret VS Baldwin Harle and Isabella his wife, David Taylor and Isaac Taylor, Carruth and Martha his wife, Montgomery and Isabella his wife.

Note: The defendants are the heirs of David Miller and his wife Martha, who was the widow of James Wyly. Isaac and David Taylor, Martha Carruth and Isabella Montgomery evidently are the children of Elizabeth Miller and her husband Thomas Taylor, who were said to be dead in the first account.

Teh following names were listed in the settlement of James Wyly's estate as owing by notes, etc. (Mecklenburg Record):

.

Moses Alexander
Henry Walker
Robert Walker
John Hill
John Anderson
John Nut
Thomas McCall
Joseph Alexander

Oliver Wyly
Francis Nash
Henry Sadler
John Polk
Thomas Black
John Carithers
Archibald Blake
Nathan Oer

David Hay
Tater (?) Havenar
David Parks
Samuel Roach
Chas. & James Oer
John Allin
William Waddle

John McGinty

Azmus Benegar Ezekiel Walters John Davis James Harris Joseph Sample William Iriwin

(Continued Next Quarter)

THE KNOWLES - WOMACK BIBLE

(Contributed by Andy J. Knowles, 2501 Bloomington Road, Victoria, Texas 77901)

William W. Knowles Polly Mary Womack Born January 25, 1815 Born November 11, 1810 (Tennessee) (North Carolina)

Children

(All born in White County, Tennessee)

Nancy J. Knowles
Amy Knowles
Sarah Knowles
John Wesley Knowles
Mary Jane Knowles
Eliza Ferrell Knowles
James C. Knowles
Lusindy C. Knowles

July 2, 1833 October 2, 1834 February 14, 1836 November 8, 1837 September 1, 1841 July 7, 1844 January 4, 1846 February 5, 1848

THE LARDNER CLARK BIBLE

(Contributed by William Lusk Crawford, 168 North Willett, Apt. 15, Memphis, Tenn.)

The Christian's New and Complete Family Bible: or Universal Library of Divine Know-ledge: Containing the Sacred Texts of the New Testament at Large. Illustrated with Notes and Commentaries; Whereby the difficult Passages are explained; the Mistranslations corrected; and the seeming contradictions found in the Oracles of Truth, reconciled.

Together with Practical Reflections on each Chapter; by those Eminent Divines, Henry, Doddridge, Gill, Brown, & c, & c. The Whole forming a Complete Body of Christian Divinity; Calculated to enlighten the Understanding; Purify the Heart; Promote the Cause of Holiness; and Make Men Wise Unto Salvation. Berwick - Printed by and for John Taylor; and sold by the Booksellers of London, Edinburgh, Glasgow, Bristol, Bath, Exeter, Plymouth, Newcastle, York and by all other Booksellers in Great-Britain.

"Lardner Clark bought this Bible in Nashville of Espy & McQuillon in April 1793."

"Ceded Territory South of the Ohio at Nashville upon the River Cumberland was born:

Mary Clark upon the 24th March 1785

Rebekah Clark upon the 7th July 1786

Jean Clark upon the 2nd February 1788"

"Lardner Clark was born upon the 18th day of November 1756 in Gloucester County, New Jersey & dyed in the upper Louisiana uppon Tuesday Morning about Cock Crow, 17th day of February 1801. Was buried in the Church yard of Ste Genevieve upon Wednesday about 12 o'clock by the priest of the Parish".

"Elizabeth Clark was born 31 of October 1767 in New Virginia in Bottetourt County and died on the 30 June 1825 at 2 o'clock in Limestone County, Alabama."

David Dorr born 20th August 1787
Mary Dorr born 6th December 1796 and
died 10 October 1797
Judiet Hope born 8th July 1825 (?)
Malinda Bracken born month of August 18_7 (?)

John Whitford was born October the 1st 1744 and died February the 23rd 1811. Sarah Whitford was born on January the 22, 1748 and died on October the 22, 1796. Richard Whitford was born December 12th 1770.

John Whitford was born July the 10, 1773.

Martin Whitford was born June the 22, 1775.

Mary Whitford was born August the 5th, 1777.

William Whitford was born December the 25th 1780.

Sarah Whitford was born March the 8th 1783.

Laney Whitford was born February the 19th 1786.

Laney Whitford was born on 8th day of June 1803 (also listed as Delan)

Lardner Clark Whitford on the 9th day of December 1805.

Charlotte Cordee Whitford was born 12th August 1808 about 10 o'clock.

Elizabeth (Eliza) Whitford on the 12th day of August 1808 and died April 30, 1837.

John Whitford on the 8th day of January 1812 and died the 18th day of the same month.

Sally (Sarah) Whitford was born on the 28th day of December 1813.

Martin Whitford died on the 16th day of December 1814. (also shown in another entry as died 15th December 1814)

Mary Whitford his wife died December 23rd, 1814.

"Edmund I. Bean and Elizabeth Whitford was married June the forth 1828 in fankin County, Ala."

Malvina Musadonah Bean was born May 5th 1829. William Hatch Bean was born June 1st 1831. Orlando W. Bean was born July 14th 1834. Sarah Elizabeth Bean was born Feb. 21, 1837 in Tuscumbia

(Until this Bible was found in December 1964 in an old trunk, at Waco, Texas, no living member of my family knew of our relationship to any of those mentioned except Sarah Whitford. We knew her as my Great Grandmother who had been left an orphan at an early age and married James C. English, his second wife, in Tuscumbia, Alabama, December 7th, 1834. We knew that Virginia B. English, the daughter of James C. and Sarah English married Orlando W. Bean, but we did not know they were first cousins. The Bible of my Mother, Jimmie E. Hart, brings the family up to the present.)

JIMMIE E. HART'S BIBLE

The Holy Bible containing the Old and New Testaments. Translated out of the Original Tongues; and with the former translations diligently compared and revised. New York; American Bible Society instituted in the year MDCCCXVI - 1867

Marriages

- J. C. English and Sarah Whitford was married in Tuscumbia, Ala., December 7 A.D. 1834 by the Rev. I. Hanie.
- J. C. Brown and Mary A. English was married November 7th A.D. 1848 by the Rev. J. W. P. McKenzei near Clarksville, Texas.
- Saml. S. Beaty and Ohio English was married near Clarksville, Texas by the Rev. J. Anderson October 25, 1855.
- J. W. Hart and Elizabeth W. English was married August 22nd A.D. 1861 near Clarks-ville, Texas by Rev. J. S. Mathis.
- Orlando W. Bean and Virginia B. English was married near Clarksville, Texas, March 15th A.D. 1863 by W. G. Duke.
- Robert W. Parham and Hibernia J. English was married near Clarksville, Texas, Jan. 23rd A.D. 1867 by the Rev. L. B. Ellis.
- Thomas J. Howser and Mollie R. Hart was married at the residence of Mrs. Sarah English Nov. 7, 1886 by Rev. J. W. Chalk.
- J. L. Crawford and James E. Hart was married in Aubrey, Texas, Oct. 23, 1892 by the Rev. McDugle.
- Guy W. Crawford to Lillian M. Bolin at Bonham, Texas, May 7, 1917 by the Rev. Tittle. Ray A. Crawford to Esther Bounds at Argyle, Texas, March 26, 1922 by H. W. Isabell.
- Newt Fincher and Lalla H. Crawford were married at Denton, Nov. 1, 1922, by Rev. Barcus.
- William Lusk Crawford and Georgia Belle Blount were married at Olney, Texas, Sept. 3, 1929.
- Ish Lusk Crawford married Mrs. Laura Johnson, Nov. 25, 1934.

Births

James C. English, son of Alexander English and Mary English whose maiden name was Crawford, was born in Chester District, South Carolina, A.D. 1801 the 2 Feb. Mary A. English, Daughter of James C. English and ____ English, was born Sept. 1,

Elizabeth W. English was born Sept. 14, 1835.

Ohio English was born April 11, 1837.

1827.

Virginia B. English was born Jan. 19, 1844.

Sarah W. English was born 19th A.D. 1844.

Ish L. Crawford was born May 21, 1869.

William Lusk Crawford, Jr. was born in Dallas, July 24, 1933.

Heibernia J. English was born Feb. 3. 1848. Mary R. Hart was born Sept. 1st, 1862. James English Hart was born July 20, 1867. John W. Hart, son of John T. Hart and Ann Eliza, was born in Madison Co., Alabama, July 20th A.D. 1830. Lois W. Howser was born Nov. 29, 1887. Lalla D. Howser was born Aug. 20, 1889. Guy W. Crawford was born Aug. 21, 1893 near Lewisville, Texas. Ray Adustin Crawford was born in Bonham, Texas, July 20, 1895. John Rex Crawford was born July 19, 1897, near Lewisville, Texas. Lalla Hart Crawford was born near Lewisville, Texas, Oct. 29, 1900. Nina Crawford was born near Lewisville, Texas, May 23, 1904. William L. Crawford was born at Argyle, Texas, April 11, 1907. Nellie James Crawford was born at Ft. Worth, Texas, March 25, 1919. Newton Crawford Fincher was born July 22, 1925. Helen Ruth Fincher was born July 20, 1927. Edwina Fincher was born Sept. 16, 1930. Geraldine Crawford was born Sept. 26, 1923. Margie Ray Crawford was born Feb. 1, 1934 at Argyle, Texas.

<u>Deaths</u>

Sarah W. English died Jan. 28, 1844, aged 9 days.

Mary A. Brown died Nov. 5th 1861, age 33 yrs., 2 mo. and 5 days.

James C. English died at his residence in Red River Co., Texas, July 6, 1863.

Elizabeth W. Hart died Sept. 24, 1883 - Aged 48 years and 10 days.

Hebernia J. Parham died August 25, 1887 - Age 39 years.

J. W. Hart died October 2, 1890 - Age 60 years.

Lalla Howser died July 16, 1890 - Age 11 months.

Sarah English died at Ft. Worth, April 4, 1901, aged 87 years, 3 months.

John Rex Crawford died October 7, 1902, Age 5 years, 2 months.

Nina Crawford died near Argyle, Texas, May 30, 1906, Age 2 yrs., 3 days.

Virginia B. Bean died at Denton, July 29, 1918, age 74 years.

Helen Ruth Fincher died near Argyle, September 3, 1927, age 1 mo., 14 days.

Edwena Fincher died near Argyle, December 13, 1930, age 2 mos., 27 days.

James E. Crawford died near Argyle, December 8, 1932, age 65.

Ish Lusk Crawford died near Argyle, January 30, 1935, age 65.

Baptisms

Mary R. Hart was baptized Λ pril 15th 1866, by the Rev. John Piner P.E. at the Methodist Church, Coleman Springs, Red River Co., Texas.

Mount Zion Methodist Episcopal Cemetery, Ten Mile Valley, Meigs County, Tennessee

(Contributed by Mrs. James O. Maddux, P.O. Box 71, Spring City, Tennessee 37381)

Abijah Boggess Eliza C. Bryant, Wife John B. Boggess October 4, 1827 November 1795 - 1884 of S. A. Bryant Daughter of J. E. Puckett July 12, 1887 Susan Boggess Born Jan. 18, 1823 November 1796 Mary Whitten Patterson Died Dec. 12, 1869 An exempting member December 1866 April 13, 1805 of the M. E. Church Oct. 1, 1885

EAST TENNESSEE SURVEYS, 1807 - 1813

Contributed by Mrs. Robert E. Thornton, Rockwood, Tennessee

RHEA COUNTY - Continued from First Ouarter 1965

JAMES LAUDERDALE. S#67 11-14-1807. E#64 8-27-1807. 128 acres on the fork of Richland Creek, the waters of Tennessee River including the improvement whereon said Lauderdale now lives. Beginning at the head of a spring on the west side of the creek...line of Stokeley Donelson's 640 acre survey at the forks of Richland Creek. (The survey states the land was in Roane County. The legislative act creating Rhea County was passed 30 November 1807, and this survey fell within the bounds of Rhea County.)

ELIJAH LAVENDER. S#734 3-7-1812. E#1121 2-17-1812. 15 acres on waters of Whites Creek joining lines with 15 acre survey of William Houston where Lavender now lives and on both sides of Great Road leading to Nashville. SCC: Jas. Walker, Robert Renfro. Given out by McClellan.

TOLAFARO LEWIS. S#225 11-7-1808. E# None Given. 500 acres on north side of Tennessee River including the upper part of the third large bottom above the mouth of Highwassee. SCC: Claborn Walters, Saml. Brison. Lifted 4-7-1809.

TALLAFERRO LEWIS. S#245 11-6-1808. E# None Given. 1500 acres on north side of Tennessee River. Beginning on bank of river...bank of Yellow Creek and down the river. SCC: Saml. Brison, Clabourn Walters.

TOLAFARO LEWIS. S#285 11-6-1808. Entry made in John Armstrong's office in 1783 by said Lewis. Warrant issued 27 Dec. 1787 for 1500 acres on north side of Tennessee River. Beginning at mouth of Yellow Creek. SCC: Samuel Brison, Claibourn Walters. Taken out by J. McClellan.

ABRAHAM LIPE?. See ABRAHAM SIPE.

JOHN LOCKE. S#388 6-18-1811. E#678 10-5-1810. 200 acres on north side Tennessee River on north side of Spring Creek. Beginning upper side of mouth of Spring Creek...Tennessee River....corner to Wm. Locke...north bank of Clear Creek...with Hugh Berry's line...with Robert Lockes. SCC: John Moore, Robert Locke. Recorded 8-5-1811. Lifted 12-16-1811 by John Locke.

CHARLES McCLUNG. S#246 (No Date) E#22 8-22-1807. 890 acres on East Fork of Richland Creek joining grant of 640 acres to William Black by Patent No. 154. SCC: None Given.

HENRY MADLOCK. S#310 11-5-1808. E#359 12-12-1808. 100 acres on waters of Piney Creek a branch of Tennessee River and on the mountain including where William McKiney improved about a mile from where the said McKiney now lives and by Looney Road. SCC: Matthew Nail, John C. Haley. Recorded 10-10-1810. Filed 10-10-1810. Delivered to Blackstone for J. C. Haley.

ROBERT S. MAHAN. S#781 9-20-1813. E#1671 9-18-1813. 5 acres on waters of Whites Creek on east side of 50 acre survey for William Houston and on north side of the Turnpike Road. SCC: David Haley, Jessee Casey. Recorded 10-7-1813. Sent to Scott by Mail 5-2-1814.

JAMES MOORE and DAVID MOORE. S#126 3-18-1808. E#111 or 41 8-24-1807. 150 acres on waters of Tennessee River...crossing Muddy Creek...in the barrens. SCC: Elijah Bivings, Jacob Moore. Recorded 5-3-1808.

JOSEPH PETERS. S#793 9-3-1813. E#1639 8-27-1813. 50 acres on one of head branches of Richland Creek. Beginning west side of branch. SCC: George Brown, Joseph Walker. Recorded 10-26-1813. Delivered to Peters 3-7-1815.

JOSEPH PETERS. S#794 9-3-1813. E#1640 8-27-1813. 50 acres on one of head branches of Richland Creek. Beginning corner to his Entry #1639. SCC: George Brown, Joseph Walker. Recorded 10-26-1813. Delivered 3-7-1815.

HURD PRICE. S#653 11-6-1812. E#1150 3-9-1812. 15 acres on waters of Piney... 15 acres survey of William Houston. SCC: Evan Evans, Stephen Center. Recorded 2-19-1813. Delivered 4-19-1813 to Wm. Houston.

VALENTINE SHULTZ. S#389 7-5-1811. E#627 9-4-1810. 120 acres on east side of Clear Creek including his house and mill and improvement where he lives...the mill pond. SCC: James Reed, Valentine Shults. Recorded 8-6-1812. Delivered to Shultz 8-8-1812.

ABRAHAM SIPE (LIPE?). S#792 9-2-1813. E#1520 3-25-1813. 25 acres on Cumberland Mountain on north side of Piney River on both sides of Girtman's Trace, including an improvement made by <u>Fanshare</u> (Faushaw?). SCC: John Skidmore, James Smith. Recorded 10-26-1813. Delivered to Woodson Francis Sheriff of Rhea County to transfer having been sold by him.

RICHARD WALKER. S#387 6-1-1811. E#629 9-4-1810. 4 acres beginning on Clear Creek ...mill pond including his mill and dwelling house. SCC: John Linsey, Wm. P. Hackett. Recorded 8-5-1811. Void.

RICHARD G. WATERHOUSE. S#790 3-2-1813. E#1047 12-21-1811. 25 acres on Cumberland Mountain or Waldens Ridge lying on both sides of the old trace called Girtmans Trace and east of Thomas G. Brown's Entry #385. SCC: John Skidmore, James Smith. Recorded 10-26-1813. Lifted 2-26-1814.

RICHARD G. WATERHOUSE. S#791 9-2-1813. E#1360 10-29-1812. 75 acres on the mountain on both sides of road called Girtmans Trace on waters of Piney River... including the house where Richard Walker did live and one other improvement. SCC: John Skidmore, James Smith. Recorded 10-26-1813. Lifted 2-26-1814.

HENRY WELKER. S#6 9-8-1807. E# None Given. 1000 acres lying on north side of Tennessee River including the Euchee old fields. SCC: James Butler, Solomon Asbel. Lifted and deposited in the Registry Office 1808. (This survey states the land was in Roane County. The legislative act creating Rhea County was passed 30 November 1807, and this survey fell within the bounds of Rhea County.)

ROANE COUNTY

SAMUEL ANDREW. S#375 2-8-1811. E#622 8-29-1810. 10 acres on waters of Indian Fork of Poplar Creek including a stone coal mine where the said Andrew halled stone coal from. SCC: Martin Rector, Lewis Rector. Recorded 3-29-1811. Lifted 10-30-1811 by J. McClellan. Filed 2-21-1811.

MARLIN ANGEL. S#449 11-13-1811. E#939 9-3-1811. 15 acres on main fork of Big Emery just above his 50 acre survey. SCC: Walter Davis, Col. William Davidson. Recorded 12-10-1811. Lifted 3-10-1818 by Wm. Wall.

MARLIN ANGEL. S#450 11-13-1811. E#940 9-3-1811. 5 acres on head fork of Big Emery River including the island Fork. SCC: Walter Davis, Col. Wm. Davidson. Recorded 12-10-1811. Lifted 3-10-1818 by Wm. Wall. Transferred to Jeremiah Pate.

NANCY ARBUCKLE. S#21 2-25-1808. E#106 8-29-1807. 12 acres lying near the town

of Kingston on the main road that leads from Kingston to Knoxville. SCC: Thomas Dowler, Tolaferro Richards. Recorded 4-7-1808.

NANCY ARBUCKLE. S#91 2-25-1808. E#107 8-29-1807. \(\frac{1}{2}\) acre on the road leading from Kingston to Knoxville, near to Kingston...corner to William Byron's lot. SCC: Thomas Dowler, Tolafaro Richards. Recorded 4-8-1808.

NANCY ARBUCKLE. S#164 2-25-1808. E#107 8-29-1807. \(\frac{1}{2}\) acre on road leading from Kingston to Knoxville, near to Kingston...corner to William Byrnes lot. SCC: Thomas Dowler, Tolafaro Richards. Recorded 6-25-1808.

MICHAEL ARNOLD. S#307 1-24-1810. E#523 1-16-1810. 20 acres on Poplar Creek. Beginning corner to 200 acre survey...said Arnold's former survey. SCC: George Arnold, Michael Stonecypher. Recorded 9-22-1810. Delivered 8-8-1812 to Michael Arnold, Jr.

MICHAEL ARNOLD. S#308 1-24-1810. E#536 2-10-1810. 20 acres on waters of Poplar Creek. SCC: George Arnold, John Simpkins. Recorded 9-22-1810. Delivered 8-8-1812 to Mich Arnold, Jr.

MICHAEL ARNOLD. S#336 10-1-1810. E#653 9-25-1810. 21 acres. Beginning near Browns line at head of small spring. SCC: Absolom Cooper, Michael Arnold. Recorded 12-7-1810. Delivered 8-8-1812 to Michael Arnold, Jr.

NOAH ASHLEY. S#23 2-25-1808. E#79 8-28-1807. 2 acre in or near the town of Kingston. Beginning at a stake near the road that leads from Kingston to Knox-ville, corner to the lot whereon John Sevier now lives...including where the said Ashley now lives. SCC: Thos. Dowler, Tolafaro Richards. Recorded 4-7-1808.

Granted.

WILLIAM ATKINSON. S#801 11-9-1813. E#1340 10-7-1812. 30 acres on east fork of Little Emery. SCC: John Bower, John Foshee. Recorded 11-24-1813. Lifted 11-17-1817.

WILLIAM ATKINSON. S#802 11-9-1813. E#1675 9-25-1813. 10 acres on east fork of Little Emery. Beginning on line of his 30 acre survey. SCC: John Bower, John Foshee. Recorded 11-25-1813. Lifted 11-17-1817.

PETER AVERY JUNR. S#466 10-10-1811. E#843 3-9-1811. 25 acres on south side of Emerys River above the Gap in Wallens Ridge including the place where said Avery now lives. Beginning on bank of river. SCC: John Avery, David Avery. Recorded 1-6-1812. Lifted by owner 12-15-1812.

THOMAS BLAKE. S#208 10-11-1808. E#330 8-27-1808. 12 acres. Beginning on east side of first branch above the Rocky Spring on the side of Ryleys old Road... bounded on first line by high ridge and on the last supposed to run with a line of land said Blake purchased of John C. Haley. SCC: Isaac Gibson, Wm. Owen. Set aside and made void 7-18-1815 by Thos. Blake.

BENJAMIN BOND. S#76 2-2-1808. E# None Given. 120 acres on Tennessee River including his improvement...corner Philip Emmit's survey. SCC: Arnet Shields, Robert Shields. Recorded 3-8-1808. Assigned to Samuel Kindrick, then to John Smith, then to Robert Wear.

MICHAEL BOYD. S#427 10-1-1811. E#851 3-19-1811. 20 acres on waters of East Fork of Poplar Creek including the improvement where said Boyd now lives...on Gilbreath's line...Nail's line. SCC: Joseph Nail, Alexander Nail. Recorded 11-18-1811. Lifted 5-30-1812 by Michael Boyd.

ISAAC BOSHEARS (BRASHEARS). S#134 12-26-1807. E#112 8-31-1807. 100 acres on north side of Clinch River, beginning on bank of river, corner to a tract of land conveyed by Robert King to said Barshears; thence down river. SCC: Robt. S. Brashears, Walter Brashears. Recorded 5-10-1808. Withdrawn and deposited in the Register's Office.

ISAIAH BREASHEARS. S#240 (No date). E#430 6-19-1809. 20 acres on north side of Clinch River on first branch below mouth of Poplar Creek. SCC: Wm. Brown, John Dudly. Recorded 9-19-1809. Grant issued to Zaccheus Roberts to whom the plat and certificate of survey was assigned.

ROBERT S. BARSHEARS (BREASHEARS). S#128 12-26-1807. E#145 8-31-1807. 50 acres on north side of Clinch on Barshears Creek. Beginning on line in Barshears survey where he now lives. SCC: David Mahan, Isaac Barshears. Recorded 5-9-1808.

ROBERT S. BRASHEARS. S#151 6-6-1808. E# None Given. 184 acres on waters of Clinch River and on east side of road that leads from Kingston to Burrville. Beginning corner to former entry by said Brashears. SCC: William Owen, Walter Brashears. Recorded 6-15-1808.

ROBERT S. BRASHEARS. S#152 No date. E# None Given. 12 acres including an island in Clinch River opposite to said Brashears improvement and mouth of his mill creek. SCC: Daniel Nichols, Williams Owens. Recorded 6-15-1808.

LITTLE B. BRYANT. S#398 9-20-1811. E#740 10-25-1810. 10 acres on Bare Creek. Beginning foot of Chestnut Ridge...including William Johnston's improvement. SCC: James Johnston, Ambrose Copeland. Recorded 9-28-1811.

JAMES BURNETT. S#306 6-13-1810. E#564 6-9-1810. 50 acres on Crooked Fork of Emerys River. Beginning on side of spur of Cumberland Mountain...to Daniel Stone-cypher's corner. SCC: John Meton, Daniel Stonecypher. Recorded 9-22-1810. Delivered 7-20-1812 to Jas. Burnett.

THOS. BUTLER. S#4 3-5-1808. E#24 2-25-1807. 50 acres of land on the __rk of Cumberland including the forks of said river...Price's Trace crosses said fork or Stockton's Valley Trace.

THOMAS BUTLER. S#5 3-5-1808. E#244 2-17-1808. 100 acres on the waters of the Clear Fork of Cumberland, the first branch that the trace that leads from Knox-ville to Price's Settlement crosses after crossing the Clear Fork including the pine or maple springs. SCC: John England, Thomas England. Lifted 7-30-1813 by Butler.

THOMAS BOTLER. S#122 (No date). E#262 3-4-1808. 1 acre and 1 rod and 24 perches on the Indian Fork of Poplar Creek including the coal bank. SCC: James Burnet, Jacob Kenada. Recorded 4-27-1808. Withdrawn and deposited in the Register's Office June 1809.

ROBERT BURTON, The Heirs and Devisees of RICHARD HENDERSON, The Heirs and Devisees of George Dougherty, and SAMUEL HENDERSON. See RICHARD HENDERSON.

THOMAS BOTLER. S#140 3-12-1808. E#261 3-4-1808. 7 acres on Indian Fork of Poplar Creek. SCC: Jacob Barnet, Jacob Kennady. Recorded 6-14-1808. Lifted 6-20-1820.

THOMAS BOTIER. S#145 4-26-1808. E#270 4-11-1808. 10 acres on waters of Mamys Creek. Beginning corner of entry of William Houston. SCC: James Shaddon, Tom Botler. Recorded 6-14-1808. Withdrawn and deposited Register's Office June 1809.

THOMAS BOTLER. S#146 (No date). E#288 4-25-1808. 28 acres on first creek east

of Spencer Hill lying on each side of Cumberland Road, each side of the creek. SCC: James Shadden, Tom Butler. Recorded 6-14-1808. Withdrawn 7-4-1809 for Register's Office.

THOMAS BOTLER. S#147 4-26-1808. E#282 4-13-1808. 100 acres on Whites Creek (or Piney) below where the Cumberland Road crosses said Creek. SCC: David Hailey, Elijah Elon. Recorded 6-15-1808. Sent to Register's Office.

THOMAS BOTLER. S#150 4-26-1808. E#282 4-13-1808. 40 acres joining an entry of said Butler lying on waters of Whites Creek. SCC: David Haley, Elijah Eaton. Recorded 6-15-1808. Withdrawn and deposited in Register's Office June 1809.

THOMAS BOTLER. S#509 1-9-1812. E#435 6-27-1809. 60 acres on north fork of the Indian Fork of Poplar Creek. Beginning south side of creek near foot of spur of Cumberland Mountain, thence up creek....crossing the creek. SCC: Martin Rector, Obadiah Ashlock. Recorded 3-18-1812. Assigned to Lewis Rector and Lifted by Mr. Rector 1-18-1813. Delivered 7-19-1813 to Thos. Butler.

THOMAS BOTLER. S#510 1-9-1812. E#436 7-8-1809. 40 acres where Martin Rector now lives on Indian Fork of Poplar Creek where Piles Turnpike Road goes through gap of Waldens Ridge. SCC: Obadiah Ashlock, John Williams. Recorded 3-18-1812. Assigned to Martin Rector. Lifted by Mr. Rector 1-18-1813. Delivered to M. Rector 7-19-1813.

JESSE BYRD. S#97 2-25-1808. E#___ 9-28-1807. 3½ acres in town of Kingston including Lots #98 and #8. SCC: Thos. Dowler, Tolafaro Richards. Recorded 4-8-1808.

DAVID CALDWELL. S#16 11-16-1807. E#128 8-31-1807. 200 acres lying on the Tennessee River. Beginning on the upper line of a 200 acre survey of James Campbell. SCC: James Kelly, Jacob Gibson. Recorded 4-5-1807. Taken out of office by order 4-5-1807.

DAVID CAMPBELL. S#24 2-25-1808. E# None Given. \(\frac{1}{2}\) acre in the town of Kingston, being Lot #52. Beginning at a stake on Lovely and Second Street. SCC: Thomas Dowler, Tolafaro Richards. Recorded 4-7-1808.

GEORGE W. CAMPBELL. S#197 8-22-1808. E#329 9-6-1808. 100 acres on north side of Clinch River including occupancy made before 12 September 1807. SCC: Benjamin Draper, John Draper.

GEORGE W. CAMPBELL. S#283 10-23-1808. E#348 10-13-1808. 150 acres on north side of Clinch River including his occupancy made before 12 September 1807. SCC: Joseph Hinds, Levy Thrailkill. Recorded 3-27-1810. Taken out 3-27-1810 by John McClellan.

JAMES CAMPBELL. S#46 11-16-1807. E#10 8-3-1807. 200 acres on north side of Tennessee River including the place whereon the said Campbell now lives. SCC: Hugh Rhea, James Cally.

JAMES CAMPBELL. S#204 7-27-1808. E#295 5-31-1808. 40 acres on one of head springs of the Swan Pond Creek, the waters of Emery River, including the place whereon said Campbell now lives. Beginning on line of Blount's 5000 acres. SCC: Michael Wilson, Abraham McClellan. "This survey made void 5 Aug. 1815 James Campbell by James Robenson."

DAVID CARSON. S#95 2-25-1808. E# 8-31-1807. ½ acre in Kingston, corner to Noah Ashley's entry. SCC: Thomas Dowler, Tolafaro Richards. Recorded 4-9-1808.

JESSE CASSEY. S#178 2-24-1808. E#128 9-1-1807. 53 acres on Cainy Creek, waters

of Tennessee River, including the place that the said Casey lives on now. SCC: James Kelly, Robert Allison. Lifted 11-29-1808. Set aside by Claimant 1-20-1817. Signed Jesse Casey.

JOSHUA CHRISTIANBERRY. S#777 7-27-1813. E#731 10-22-1810. 20 acres on waters of East Fork of Poplar Creek. Beginning on line of his old tract. SCC: Moses White, Richard White. Recorded 10-7-1813. Lifted 8-15-1816.

THOMAS N. CLARK. S#85 2-25-1808. E#151 8-31-1807. 1 perch in town of Kingston, part of Lot #22, lower corner of entry by Cox and White. SCC: Thomas Dowler, Tolafaro Richards. Recorded 4-8-1808.

THOMAS N. CLARK. S#89 2-25-1808. E#152 8-31-1807. ½ acre in town of Kingston, Lot #36. SCC: Thomas Dowler, Tolafaro Richards. Recorded 4-8-1808.

THOMAS N. CLARK. S#155 12-29-1807. E#55 8-26-1807. 640 acres including his improvement at the Crab Orchard. Beginning at foot of Crab Orchard Mountain... crossing the wagon road...crossing the Sequachey or Crow Creek Road...along Cumberland Mountain...crossing said road...near the wagon road aforesaid. SCC: James Moon, James Shadden. Recorded 6-21-1808.

THOMAS N. CLARK. S#158 12-29-1807. E#183 9-4-1807. 221 acres beginning corner to his other survey at Crab Orchard. SCC: None given. Recorded 6-22-1808.

THOMAS N. CLARK. S#175 5-27-1808. E#54 8-26-1807. 300 acres on (obey's alias) river on both sides of waggon road...corner to a survey by Jacob Jones. SCC: John Durgan, William Parson.

THOMAS N. CLARK. S#181 6-30-1808. E#52 8-26-1807. 50 acres on both sides of waggon road from Kingston to Nashville...to a post on the side of Spencers Hill. SCC: Thomas C. Clak, Jacob Moon. Recorded 7-2-1808. Delivered 4-10-1812 to "TNC."

THOMAS N. CLARK. S#200 9-22-1808. E#214 9-16-1807. 106 acres on north side of Tennessee River. Beginning 64 poles below mouth of Clinch River...branch. SCC: Thomas Griffith. Caleb McDonald. Lifted 3-24-1809.

THOMAS N. CLARK. S#201 9-23-1808. E#115 8-3-1807. 87 acres on north side of Tennessee River. Beginning just below mouth of spring branch. SCC: Wm. Adair, Fredrick Thurston. Lifted 3-24-1809.

THOMAS N. CLARK. S#303 2-2-1810. E#509 12-15-1809. 3-3/4 acres on waters of Whites Creek including his Grist Mill at the foot of Spencer Hill. SCC: James Hull, John Cotton. Recorded 9-18-1810. Delivered 10-19-1816 to Thos. N. Clark.

ROBERT CLOUGH. S#725 5-19-1813. E#1563 5-15-1813. 5½ acres on waters of East Fork of Poplar Creek where James Jones now lives. Beginning at corner to John White's 100 acre survey. SCC: Jno. Magill, Jas. Jones. Recorded 6-1-1813. Lifted 10-28-1825.

ASIA COBB. S#129 1-20-1808. E#202 9-10-1807. 5 acres on waters of Poplar Creek at foot of Walden Ridge. SCC: Arden Evins, John Foshee. Recorded 5-9-1808. Lifted 11-23-1818.

ASIA COBB. S#137 1-20-1808. E#201 9-10-1807. 10 acres on waters of Poplar Creek. SCC: John Foshee, Arden Evans. Recorded 5-10-1808. Lifted 11-23-1818.

ASA COBB. S#516 1-10-1812. E#822 1-23-1811. 51 acres on Piles Turnpike Road on waters of Little Emery where Washington Stephens now lives...a spur of Whetstone

Mountain. SCC: Elijah Eaton, Washington Stephens. Recorded 3-25-1812. Lifted 10-17-1815, by J. Cob.

JESSE COBB. S#517 1-10-1812. E#886 5-24-1812. 20 acres on both sides of Piles Turnpike Road on waters on Little Emery including an improvement made by Gabriel Jones where he formerly lived. Beginning on northwest side of road on a bench of Brushy Mountain. SCC: Elijah Eaton, Washington Stephens. Recorded 3-25-1812. Lifted by J. Cobb 10-17-1815. Assigned to Norris Barwick and lifted by him 3-6-1816. Assigned by Barwick to Axholm Lawhorn and by him to Paul Dun (or Danl.). Lifted 7-19-1820.

ABSOLOM COOPER. S#598 6-19-1812. E#808 1-15-1811. 15 acres on waters of Little Emery. Beginning corner to Joseph Shadden's 25 acre survey. SCC: Thomas Solmon, Elijah Evans. Recorded 8-25-1812. Void.

ISAAC CORBIN. S#767 6-2-1813. E#1495 3-6-1813. 10 acres on north side of Clinch River. SCC: Francis Ervin, Christopher Holly. Recorded 7-12-1813. Assigned to Francis Erwin and lifted 4-25-1821.

JAMES COTTON. S#242 2-3-1809. E#148 8-31-1807. 100 acres on east side Whites Creek...on the mill race then along the mill race and creek. SCC: John Bennom, Peter Wenner. Recorded 3-15-1809. Plat lifted 1-30-1811. Brought back and delivered to J. C. Haley 6-6-1817. Delivered to J. C. Haley 5-23-1814. Assigned to Haley by Thos. Brown DS.

PETER COUCH. S#123 3-14-1808. E#94 8-29-1807. 21½ acres including the improvement whereon the said Couch now lives on the East Fork of Cany Creek, the waters of Tennessee River. SCC: Robert Randolph, John Randolph. Recorded 4-27-1808. Lifted 11-29-1808.

PETER COUCH. S#142 3-14-1808. E#95 (No date). 27½ acres on East Fork of Canv Creek the waters of Tennessee River. Beginning upper line of a former entry by said Couch. SCC: Robert Randolph, John Randolph. Lifted 11-29-1808.

JOHN COUNCIL. S#301 6-14-1810. E#557 5-15-1810. 23 acres on one of main prongs of Big Emery including a place called Big Mill Shoal. SCC: Squire Hendrix, Garret Hall. Recorded 8-23-1810. Lifted 1-3-1812 by Capt. Hendrix on Council's orders.

NATHANIEL COX and JOHN WHITE. S#82 2-25-1808. E#75 8-28-1807. 22 perches, nearly 1/8 of an acre, in town of Kingston, being part of Lot #22, including the improvement where said Cox now lives. Beginning at a stake on Race and 3rd Street. SCC: Thomas Dowler, Tolafaro Richards. Recorded 4-8-1808.

NATHANIEL COX and ___ WHITE. S#103 2-25-1808. E#76 8-28-1807. \(\frac{1}{2}\) acre in Kingston, Lot #1. SCC: Thomas Dowler, Talafaro Richards. Recorded 4-11-1808.

JOHN CRAIG. S#305 2-16-1810. E#361 11-30-1808. 10 acres on headwaters of Little Emery River where Piles Turnpike Road crosses the same. SCC: William Craig, Adam Craig. Recorded 9-22-1810. Assigned to Mich Hostler and by him to Robt. Williams and lifted by him 2-7-1822.

JOHN CRAIG. S#749 3-25-1813. E#1434 1-20-1813. 14 acres on east fork of Little Emmery below where Piles Turnpike Road crosses said creek and on east side of said road. SCC: Robert Craig, John Craig. Recorded 7-8-1813. Lifted 7-24-1820 by Arch. Adcox.

JAMES DAVIDSON. Also DAVISON. S#50 10-24-1807. E#122 8-31-1807. 50 acres on Caney Fork of Wolf River the waters of Cumberland River. SCC: Samuel Blair,

Abner Davidson. Lifted by owner 2-25-1812. (This survey states the land was in Roane County but these watercourses were in Overton County. See JAMES DAVISON, Overton County Surveys.)

WILLIAM DAVIDSON. S#672 12-19-1812. E#1343 10-12-1812. 3 acres on waters of Emery River on both sides of Piles Turnpike Road where said Davidson now lives. SCC: Saml. Davidson, John Davidson.

EDWARD DAVIS. S#113 3-2-1808. E#144 8-31-1807. 50 acres on waters of Emery River including the improvement whereon said Davis now lives. SCC: L. Page Sims, Philip Basshears. Recorded 4-18-1808.

JOHN DAVIS. S#138 (No date). E#234 2-18-1808. 30 acres on waters of Poplar Creek...Blackoak Ridge. SCC: Michael Boyd, Alexander Howard. Recorded 5-10-1808.

JOHN DAVIS. S#309 9-9-1809. E#444 8-10-1809. 3 acres on waters of Poplar Creek on Cobbs Creek. SCC: Samuel Thacker, Asa Cobb. Recorded 9-22-1810. Lifted 9-7-1812.

JAMES DEARMAN. S#148 4-13-1808. E# None Given. 5 acres on Little Emery including a mill shoal where the river goes through Walden Ridge. Beginning on west side of river. SCC: Clemmons Philips, Reuben Philips. Recorded 6-15-1808.

JOHN DEARMAN. S#168 5-20-1808. E#230 9-25-1807. 80 acres on Blue Spring Fork of Cany Creek, the waters of Tennessee River. Beginning lower line of entry by William Houston. SCC: James Davis, James Shadden. Recorded 6-27-1808.

JAMES DEARMOND. S#227 12-17-1808. E#360 12-27-1808. 25 acres on Little Emery River...foot of Waldens Ridge....crossing Emery River. SCC: Robt. Kirkpatrick, Robt. Shadden. Entry made void.

JAMES DEARMOND. S#730 5-27-1813. E#263 3-14-1808. 1 acre on north side of Obey (River) of Emery River on the waters of said Emery including a Rockhouse or salt petre cave in the side of a clift where said Dearmond has hands now at work. SCC: Solomon Barlow, Jno. Burk. Recorded 6-10-1813.

The Heirs and Devisees of GEORGE DOUGHERTY, The Heirs and Devisees of RICHARD HENDERSON, SAMUEL HENDERSON, and ROBERT BURTON. See RICHARD HENDERSON.

JOHN DUNCAN. S#809 8-31-1813. E#1080 1-16-1812. 40 acres on <u>Mud</u>? Creek, the waters of Flat Fork of Emery River. SCC: Jeptha Duncan, Enoch Duncan. Recorded 12-7-1813. Delivered 4-18-1814 to Elijah Reese.

JOHN DUNCAN. S#810 8-31-1813. E#1081 1-16-1812. 40 acres on Mud Creek, the waters of Flat Fork of Emery River. Beginning where Piles Road crosses said creek. SCC: Jeptha Duncan, Enoch Duncan. Recorded 12-7-1813. Delivered 4-18-1814 to Elijah Reese.

DANIEL DWIRE. S#189 3-19-1808. E#27 8-22-1807. 50 acres including his improvement whereon he now lives on the main waggon road from Knoxville to Kingston. SCC: Henry Warren, Samuel Nelson. Recorded 7-18-1808. Entry made void by Enterer.

ELIJAH EATON. S#519 1-10-1812. E#1032 12-4-1811. 18 acres on Piles Turnpike Road on waters of Little Emery River adjoining Capt. William White's 20 acres on east side. SCC: Jesse Cobb, Jos. Eaton. Recorded 3-26-1812. Lifted 2-8-1814 by Eaton and assigned to Benjm. Williams and lifted by him 2-25-1822.

ELIJAH EATON. S#520 1-10-1812. E#1033 12-4-1811. 6 acres on waters of Little Emery adjoining Capt. Wm. White's 20 acre survey on west side. Beginning at

White's corner. SCC: Capt. Jesse Cobb, Jos. Eaton. Recorded 3-26-1812. Lifted 2-8-1814 by Eaton. Assigned to Benj. Williams and lifted 2-25-1822.

ELIJAH EATON. S#746 3-25-1813. E#1355 10-23-1812. 20 acres on waters of Little Emery. Beginning at William White's survey. SCC: John Craig, John Williams. Recorded 7-6-1813. Lifted 2-8-1816.

SAMUEL EBLIN. S#184 3-17-1808. E#60 8-26-1807. 20 acres including the improvement whereon he formerly lived at the gap of the ridge now occupied by John Eblin. SCC: James Thomas, William Eblin. Recorded 7-16-1808. This plat is set aside by Samuel Eblin and disannulled, Dec. 1, 1810.

SAMUEL EBLIN. S#185 3-18-1808. E#59 8-26-1807. 20 acres on waters of Tennessee River. Beginning corner to tract claimed by Martin Kenedy. SCC: James Thomas, William Eblin. Recorded 7-18-1808. Set aside and disannulled by S. Eblin Dec. 1, 1810.

SAMUEL EBLIN. S#186 3-18-1808. E#57 8-26-1807. ____ acres including the improvement whereon he now lives on the main road leading from Knoxville to Kingston... corner to tract of land claimed by Martin Kennedy. SCC: James Thomas, William Eblin. Set aside and disannulled 10-25-1810.

SAMUEL EBLIN. S#187 3-18-1808. E#58 8-26-1807. 80 acres including the improvement at the old Still House on the waters of Cany Creek. SCC: James Thomas, William Eblen. Recorded 7-18-1808. Set aside by enterer 1-21-1811.

PHILIP EMMIT. S#28 11-10-1807. E#138 8-31-1807. 80 acres lying on Tennessee River joining an entry of Arnet Shields of 15 acres. SCC: Robt. Sheals, Arnet Sheels. Lifted 9-18-1812 by Robt. Shields.

EZEKIEL ENGLAND. S#92 2-25-1808. E#108 8-29-1807. 10 perches or 1/16 part of an acre in the town of Kingston, part of Lot #21, corner to James McNuts lot. SCC: Thomas Dowler, Tolafaro Richards. Recorded 4-9-1808. Delivered 9-8-1839 to Thos. Cla___.

JOSEPH ENGLAND. S#376 3-13-1811. E#534 2-3-1810. 100 acres on Barren Creek, the waters of the crooked fork of Emery River including the improvement whereon said England now lives. SCC: Thomas England, Jas. Morgan. Recorded 4-3-1811. Lifted 9-7-1812 by owner.

TITUS ENGLAND. S#194 3-7-1808. E#256 3-4-1808. 20 acres on Flat Fork of Emery's River including the place whereon said England lives. Beginning at a small island ...along the foot of the mountain. SCC: Adam Craig, John England. Lifted 12-31-1818 by England. Assigned to Samuel Hall and lifted 1-24-1820.

FRANCIS ERVIN. S#153 2-15-1808. E#102 8-29-1807. 30 acres lying on north side of Clinch River. SCC: John Childers, Thos. Childers. Recorded 6-20-1808. Granted.

FRANCIS ERVIN. S#154 2-15-1808. E#100 8-3-1807. 70 acres on Clinch River. Beginning on bank of river...corner to his entry. SCC: John Childers, Thomas Childers. Recorded 6-20-1808. Granted.

SAML. ESKRIDGE. S#162 2-20-1808. E#25 8-22-1807. 200 acres on both sides of waggon road from Kingston to Knoxville 6½ miles from Kingston including the place whereon he now lives. Beginning near head of Buckeye Creek on north side of said road. SCC: Richard Oliver, Amos Marney.

ARDEN EVANS. S#135 9-10-1807. E#265 9-10-1807. 15 acres on waters of Poplar Creek. SCC: Asia Cobb, John Foshee. Recorded 5-10-1808. Fees paid to Mr. Purris.

Lifted by Arden Evans 8-26-1823. Transferred 4-21-1817 to William Pryor.

ARDEN EVANS. S#333 11-14-1810. E#743 10-25-1810. 30 acres on Poplar Creek in the valley on the south side of Waldens Ridge including his improvement. Beginning near the waggon road. SCC: Asa Howard, Jeremiah Evans. Recorded 12-3-1810. Transferred to Wm. Pryor 1-15-1816. Lifted by A. Evans 8-26-1823.

ARDEN EVANS. S#719 4-23-1813. E#1461 2-11-1813. 10 acres on Powe<u>ls</u> Valley Road on waters of Poplar Creek including a field where Jeremiah Evans formerly lived. SCC: Jno. Baskean, Jeremiah Evans. Recorded 5-31-1813. Transferred 4-21-1817 to William Pryor. Lifted by Evans 8-26-1823.

ALEXANDER FERGUSON. S#262. The plat of this survey is recorded between Survey #229 and Survey #230. The plat has been crossed out. No corresponding survey is recorded in Record Book A.

JOSIAH FIKE. S#666 1-18-1813. E#1414 12-29-1812. 33 acres on waters of Little Emery River on northeast side of river. Beginning at Reuben Phillip's corner. SCC: John McKamy, Robert Hewitt. Recorded 3-19-1813. Lifted 3-16-1818 by Robt. Gilbreath.

FORMWALT. See FOURMALT.

JOHN FORMWALT. S#247 2-25-1808. E#91 8-29-1807. 2 acre joining and near to Kingston on the main road leading from Kingston to Knoxville including where he now lives joining James Willett's lot. SCC: Thomas Dowlen, Toleafero Richards.

JOHN FOSHEE. S#130 1-20-1808. E#205 9-10-1807. 25 acres on waters of Little Emery. SCC: Asia Cobb, Reubin Johnston. Recorded 5-9-1808. Fees paid and lifted 10-17-1810.

JOHN FOSHEE. S#131 1-20-1808. E#200 9-10-1807. 25 acres on waters of Emery, beginning corner of his first survey. SCC: Asia Cobb, Reuben Johnston. Recorded 5-9-1808. Fees paid and plat lifted 10-17-1810.

JOHN FOSHEE. S#313 2-15-1810. E#535 2-10-1810. ____ acres on waters of Emerys River. SCC: Elijah Evans, James Warren. Recorded 11-3-1810. Filed 9-4-1810. Void, surveyed again.

JOHN FOSHEE. S#314 2-15-1810. E#539 2-16-1810. ____ acres on waters of Little Emerys River. SCC: Elijah Evans, James Warren. Recorded 11-3-1810. Filed 9-4-1810. Void, surveyed again.

JOHN FOSHEE. S#596 6-19-1812. E#535 2-3-1810. 45 acres on waters of Little Emery. Beginning corner of his former survey. SCC: Thomas Solmon, Elijah Evans. Recorded 8-25-1812. Lifted by him 7-20-1813.

JOHN FOSHEE. S#597 6-19-1812. E#539 2-16-1810. 28 acres on waters of Little Emery River. SCC: Thomas Solmon, Elijah Evans. Recorded 8-25-1812. Lifted by him 7-20-1813.

JOHN FOSHEE. S#800 11-8-1813. E#1672 9-23-1813. 30 acres on waters of Little Emery. Beginning below where said Foshee lives. SCC: John Bower, William Atkinson. Recorded 11-24-1813. Transferred to Rubin Steaton 1-20-1817. Lifted 7-29-1820 by Jno. McKinny.

FOURMALT. See FORMWALT.

JOHN FOURMALT JUNR. S#22 2-25-1808. E#76 8-28-1807. 2 acres joining or near

Kingston being a lot known by the name of <u>Excell</u> lot, including his improvement. Beginning at a stake near the waggon road. SCC: Tolafaro Richards, Thomas Dowler. Recorded 4-7-1808.

JOHN FREELS. S#358 1-28-1811. E#700 10-12-1810. 50 acres on north side of Cumberland Mountain on White Oak Creek including a small improvement made by said Freels on both sides of Whittier Trace. SCC: Isaac Freels, Charles Prewitt. Recorded 2-21-1811. Delivered 4-23-1813 to John Freels.

JOHN GAMBLE. S#128 12-28-1807. E#196 9-10-1808. 20 acres on Bear Creek. Beginning on a conditional line between said Gamble and William Wiet...near the head of a spring. SCC: William Wiet, David Oliver. Recorded 5-9-1808. Lifted 6-24-1808 by Robert McNeely. (This survey does not state in which county the land lay but Bear Creek is in Roane County. His Survey #73 designated the land as being in Roane County and in the body of the survey as being in Anderson County. His Survey #399 stated the land lay in Anderson County adjoining his former Survey #73. See JOHN GAMBLE, Anderson County Surveys.)

WILLIAM GARDENHIRE. S#10 2-15-1808. E#210 9-12-1807. 5 acres on waters of East Fork of Poplar Creek. SCC: Edward <u>Hichanes</u>, Joseph Christenberry. Recorded 3-22-1808. Transmitted to Register's Office.

WILLIAM GARDENHIRE. S#11 2-18-1808. E#211 9-12-1807. 11 acres on waters of East Fork of Poplar Creek. SCC: Edward Hawkins, Joshua Christenberry. Recorded 3-24-1808. Transmitted to Register's Office.

WILLIAM GARDENHIRE. S#136 12-6-1807. E#198 9-10-1807. 65 acres on waters of East Fork of Poplar Creek. Beginning on line of Arthur Galbreath's land. SCC: Matthew Nail, Joseph Nail. Recorded 11-24-1813. Lifted 5-7-1814.

WILLIAM GARDENHIRE. S#798 10-23-1813. E#1381 11-24-1812. 50 acres on north side of Clinch River including the place where Roger Gideon now lives. Beginning near Robert S. Brashers line. SCC: Zaza Brasher, George Gardenhire Junr. Recorded 11-24-1813. Lifted 2-7-1814.

JAMES GARDINER. S#422 10-2-1811. E#829 2-14-1811. 16 acres on waters of Poplar Creek. Beginning near head of a spring. SCC: Samuel McCawley, John Nail. Recorded 11-8-1811. Made void, both entry and survey.

ISAAC GIBSON. S#209 10-11-1808. E#336 9-20-1808. 30 acres joining lines with a tract of land entered by Henry McPherson where he now lives on and the land Thomas Blake purchased of John C. Haley. SCC: Thomas Blake, Wm. Owen. Sold for Taxes and set aside by Purris the purchaser.

JAMES GORDAN. S#19 2-25-1808. E#156 8-31-1807. ½ acre lying in the town of Kingston, being Lot #56 where Gordan now lives. Beginning corner to Lot #55 Lovely Street. SCC: Thomas Dowler, Tolafaro Richards. Recorded 4-7-1808.

JAMES GORDAN. S#90 2-25-1808. E#105 8-29-1807. 1 acre in the town of Kingston, Lot #10...Race and Third Streets. SCC: Thomas Dowler, Tolafaro Richards. Recorded 4-8-1808.

HAILEY : HALEY

DAVID HAILEY. S#77 2-3-1808. E# None Given. 142 acres on Tennessee River including an occupant improvement of said Hailey's....a conditional line between Alexander Stewart and the said Hailey. SCC: George Smith, Benjamin Bond. "7-22-1812 and entered by them #1242 and lifted the same day."

DAVID HALEY. S#78 (No date). E# None Given. 100 acres lying at a place where the Cumberland Road crosses Whites Creek including an improvement of said Hailey's. SCC: James Hull, Elijah Eaton. Recorded 3-8-1808.

DAVID HALEY. S#79 (No date). E# None Given. 180 acres on waters on Tennessee River including an occupant improvement of said Hailey. SCC: Arnet Shields, Robert Shields. Recorded 3-8-1808.

DAVID HALEY. S#80 2-1-1808. E# None Given. 42 acres on the waters of Whites Creek including the place where the said Hailey now lives at the turn pike. SCC: William Hutson, Robert Hailey. Recorded 3-8-1808.

DAVID HAILEY. S#121 2-1-1808. E#15 8-8-1807. 89 acres on the turnpike creek. Beginning in line of a 300 acre entry of John Hinds. SCC: Selvanus Hindes, John Neilson. Recorded 4-27-1808.

DAVID HAILEY. S#124 2-1-1808. E#16 8-8-1807. 38 acres on the turnpike creek. Beginning at corner of entry by David Hailey. SCC: Selvenus Hinds, John Nelson. Recorded 4-27-1808.

DAVID HALEY. S#454 9-19-1811. E#935 9-3-1811. 13 acres and 120 poles on Turnpike Creek, a branch of Whites Creek, joining lines with a survey of 89 acres of said Haley...and crossing the Georgia Road. SCC: John Smith, Nicholas Roudon. Recorded 12-17-1811. Lifted to transfer. Assigned to Robt. K. Haley and David W. Haley. Lifted by J. Purris 2-11-1815.

DAVID HALEY. S#455 9-19-1811. E#945 9-4-1811. 100 acres on Turnpike Creek below and joining said Haley's Millplace. Beginning corner to another tract of said Haley...crossing Turnpike Creek. SCC: John Smith, Nicholas Roudon. Recorded 12-17-1811. Lifted to Transfer. Assigned to Robt. K. Haley and David W. Haley. Lifted by J. Purris 2-11-1815.

JOHN C. HALEY. S#33 9-23-1807. E#141 8-31-1807. 51 acres. Beginning at a post oak on Henry McPherson's corner...lying on Kings Creek and the waters of Tennessee River. SCC: Henry McPherson, Samuel Kindrick. Void.

JOHN C. HALEY. S#34 9-23-1807. E#174 8-3-1807. 45 acres on Kings Creek and the waters of Tennessee River. Beginning on Henry McPherson's east corner. SCC: Henry McPherson, Samuel Kindrick. Void.

JOHN C. HALEY. S#35 9-23-1807. E#177 9-3-1807. 45 acres on waters on Kings Creek the waters of Tennessee River. Beginning at the east corner of a 45 acre survey of said Haley. SCC: Henry McPherson, Samuel Kindric.

JOHN C. HALEY. S#37 9-23-1807. E#178 9-23-1807. 16 acres on Kings Creek and the waters of Tennessee River. Beginning at a west corner of a 51 acre survey of said Haley. SCC: Henry McPherson, Samuel Kindrick. Recorded 2-13-1808. Void.

JOHN C. HALEY. S#38 11-10-1807. E#56 9-26-1807. 45 acres on Tennessee River. Beginning on white oak marked RT, the upper line of a reserve to Tallen Tuskey. SCC: Samuel Kindrick, Arnet Sheels. Recorded 2-10-1808. Delivered 8-12-1813 to Jno. C. Haley.

JOHN C. HALEY. S#39 2-15-1808. E#186 9-5-1807. ____ acres beginning on the south corner of a 45 acre survey of said Haley...lying on the waters of Kings Creek, a branch of Tennessee River. SCC: Henry McPherson, Samuel Kindrick. Recorded 2-15-1808.

OLD BOND RECORDS OF CARTER COUNTY, TENNESSEE

(Contributed by R. T. Nave, Apt. A, 5720 Walnut St., N.L.B., California 90805)

Date	Person Making Bond	Persons Signing As Security
11-10-1801	Michael Grindstaff	Levy Loyd & Valentine Vanhoose
8-14-1828	Benjamin Grindstaff	Henry Grindstaff, John Justice, Harden Brown
8-16-1826	C. M. D. Gourley	Thomas D. Love, John Wright
11-13-1798	-	William Griffin & John Loyd
2-11-1830	Abial C. Parks	Thomas Gourley & Godfrey Nave
2-10-1834	George W. Peoples	William Peoples & John Wilcox
5-12-1800	John Phillips	Lewis Wills & John Vaught
10-5-1797	John Michael Smithpeter	Elisha Humphreys & John Carter
2-14-1828	Abial C. Parks	James P. Taylor & A. W. Taylor
2-10-1807	Manuel Parkison	James Lacy & Zachariah Campbell
2-15-1809	Manuel Parkison	Jacob Fisher & Jeremiah Campbell
2-15-1825	Vincent Kelly	Solomon Hendrix & William Carter
2-12-1827	Vincent Kelly	Richard Kelly & William Carter
5 -1 8-1821	George Haun	John Lusk & Baptist McNabb
8-9-1831	Truman Helton	William B. Carter, Abraham Tipton
		William A. Childress and John Shields
8-13-1816	Robert Houston	Caleb Smith & James P. Taylor
2-16-1821	Benj. C. Harris	James I. Tipton & John Hendrix, Jr.
2-10-1829	Hamilton B. Hampton	Johnson Hampton & Wm. B. Carter
11-12-1799	John Heaton	John Vaught & Peter Bransetter
11-12-1805	John Heaton	John Vaught & Alexander Doran
5-12-1812	Adam Haun	John L. Williams & Archibald Williams
2-11-1808	John Holshouser	Nathaniel Taylor
5-8-1826	John C. Helm	John Hampton, Owen Edwards, Arthur Pearce and John Glover
8-12-1833	Johnson Hampton, Jr.	Wm. B. Carter & A. W. Taylor
5-10-1802	John Heaton	Hugh White & William Griffin
8-8-1814	James Houston	Robert Houston & Joseph Tompkins
2-14-1832	Howell Housley	Joseph Taylor & Wm. B. Carter
5-2-1836	Elijah D. Harden	H. C. Nave & J. T. Bowers
5-13-1817	Samuel Hensley	George W. Carter & Benj. C. Harris
5-12-18 3 4	John R. Hunt	Robt. W. Powell & Edmond Williams
5-14-1833	James D. Harman	George W. Carter & Jas. B. Morley
5 -12-181 5	John Haun	Abraham Haun & Archibald Williams
5-10-1814	Adam Haun	Archibald Williams & Andrew Taylor
2-12-1827	Thomas Heatherly	William Garland & Ewing Heatherly
11-12-1804	Johnson Hampton	Hugh White & Peter Bollinger
8-9-1830	Joel D. Hicks	Henry Grindstaff & Brian O'Brien
2-11-1818	Benj. C. Harris	Godfrey Carriger & Wm. B. Carter
11-15-1826	Hamilton B. Hampton	Johnson Hampton & Wm. B. Carter
11-13-1832	Hamilton B. Hampton	Johnson Hampton & George W. Carter
10-5-1797	John Reno	Nathaniel Taylor
11-10-1807		Archibald Williams & Agnew Davidson
11-12-1811		Nathan Hendrix & William Carter
11-13-1798		Nathaniel Taylor
11-12-1805		Andrew Greer, Archibald Williams
11-14-1809		John Lacey & Jehu Humphreys
11-12-1800		Nathaniel Taylor
11-15-1803		Andrew Greer & Andrew Taylor Joromiah Campbell & Henry Grindstaff
2-13-1821	William Inman	Jeremiah Campbell & Henry Grindstaff William Garland & William B. Carter
5-13-1823	John Nichols	Joseph Powell & William B. Carter
5-11-1835 8-10-1829	Armstead B. Cooper William H. Carrier	Thomas Carrier & William Vaughn

Date	Person Making Bond	Persons Signing Λs Security
5-15-1833	Armstead B. Cooper	William Boren & William B. Carter
8-12-1833	Henry J. Carter	George W. Greenway & William Carter
7-5-1796	Aaron Cunningham	William McNabb & Michael Hider
7-5-1796	Solomon Campbell	Zachariah Campbell & Thomas Whitson
8-14-1798	Solomon Campbell	Josiah Clark & Zachariah Campbell
8-12-1800	Solomon Campbell	Jeremiah Campbell & William Duggard
5-8-1820	West Campbell	Jeremiah Campbell
5-12-1801	Archibald Conner	Julius Conner & Charles Bailey
7-4-1796	Charles Colyer	Nathaniel Taylor
2-14-1821	Reuben Cox	James Lacy & Benjamin C. Harris
2-13-1826	James Campbell	Jeremiah Campbell & Isaac Campbell
12-2-1839	Henry Adams	Abraham Tipton & Edmond Williams
4-3-1837	Samuel Angel	Isaac P. Tipton & William B. Carter
10-4-1796	John Smith	Thomas Maxwell
2-9-1829	Thomas J. Stokes	William Donally & James B. Moorly
11-14-1831	Thomas J. Stokes	William B. Carter & Alex. M. Wilson
8-14-1827	Matthew Solts	Elijah Hathaway & Henry Grindstaff
2-27-1832	John Scott	Hiram Daily
5-2-18 36	Isaac Snider	Jeremiah Campbell & John J. Wilson
5-14-1804	Benjamin Sewell	John Garland & John Heaton
11-12-1827	Elisha Smith	John J. Wilson & James I. Tipton
2-9-1836	John B. Tipton	Isaac Tipton & Nathaniel T. Edens
2-10-1834	John B. Tipton	Isaac Tipton & William B. Carter
5-13-1829	Abraham Tipton	James I. Tipton & William Gott
5-15-1827	Abraham Tipton	James I. Tipton & C. M. D. Gourley
2-13-1826	Abraham Tipton	James Jones & James I. Tipton
8-1-1822	William Donnelly	Samuel Bailey & William Lindsey
8-9-1824	William Donnelly	Samuel Bailey & William Lindsey
8-14-1826	William Donnelly	James B. Morley & Charles Anderson
8-14-1820	William Donnelly	Samuel Bailey & William Lindsey
2-11-1817	Richard Donally	Jahu Humphreys & Stephen Jackson
2-14-1809	William Davidson	John Lyon & Levan Morris
5-14-1832	William Davis	Thomas J. Stokes & John H. Vaught
1-1-1798	Joseph Davis	William McNabb & Archibald Williams
5-12-1800	Joseph Davis	Charles Whitson & Nicholas Carriger
2-10-1807	William Davidson	Agnew Davidson & Henry Carriger
11-10-1834		Ezekiel Smith & A. D. Smith
11-10-1800	Joseph Ford	William Griffin & William Vanhoy
2-9-1802	Joseph Fisher	Anthoney Fisher & James Lacy William Duggard & Valentine Vanhoose
5-14-1805	Samuel Burns	Reuben Miller & Henry Smith
8-10-1829	William Berry	John Wilcox & Joseph Powell
5-2-1836	Robert Burrow Robert Burrow	Joseph Powell & Wm. B. Carter
2-14-1831 5-9-1809	Samuel Burns	John Loyd & Thomas Linville
5-12-1807	Samuel Burns	John Loyd & Julius Dugger
2-13-1814	William Burns	Johnson Hampton & Archibald Williams
5-13-1814	William Boren	Abraham Tipton, Joseph Slimp & David Waide
5-14-1832	Robert Burrow	Joseph Powell & Wm. B. Carter
8-5-1831	William Berry	Samuel E. McQueen & Caleb Smith
8-11-1834	Thomas Gourley	Jonathan H. Hyder & Abraham Tipton
8-13-1832	Thomas Gourley	John C. Helm & James I. Tipton
8-13-1828	Thomas Gourley	C. M. D. Gourley & William Gott
11-16-1803		Hugh White & John Loyd
11-12-1799	- ·	Julius Dugger & Nicholas Grindstaff
5-4-1808	William Johnson	Abraham Buck & George Crosswhite
11-16-1815		William B. Carter & Isaac Williams
11-9-1813	William Jones	William B. Carter & George House

Date	Person Making Bond	Persons Signing As Security
5-9-1809	William Jones	Nathaniel Blackmore & George House
5-14-1811	William Jones	Elisha Humphreys & George House
8-11-1828	Samuel E. McQueen	William Arnold & William R. Blevins
5-14-1832	James B. Moorly	Hamilton Hampton & William B. Carter
2-13-1826	Reuben Miller	James P. Taylor & John Lion
?-15-1827	James B. Morley	Johnson Hampton & Richard Donally
11-9-1824	James B. Moorly	Johnson Hampton & William Lindsey
2-11-1824	Reuben Miller	Huse Warden & William B. Carter
51816	Andrew McNabb	Jacob Haun & John McInturf
1-2-1798	Daniel Morgan	John Vaught & Rowland Jenkins
2-12-1832	Benjamin Mosely	William Peoples & William B. Holt
5-11-1835	James B. Moorly	Johnson Hampton & Richard Donally
5-13-1833	James B. Moorly	Johnson Hampton & Richard Donally
5-11-1831	James B. Moorly	Johnson Hampton & William B. Carter
5-12-1829	James B. Moorly	William Donelly & Johnson Hampton
5-10-1831	Reuben Miller	A. W. Taylor & Caleb Smith
7-5-1796	Samuel Musgrove	John Michael Smithpeter & Robert Musgrove
5 -2-1836	John McInturff	Isaac Williams & Taylor McNabb
2-9-1829	Wiley Edwards	Owen Edwards & John C. Helm
	Lucas Emmert	John Stuart, Isaac Williams & Wm. B. Carter
11-10-1800	<u> </u>	John Loyd & Adam Rainbolt
5-14-1798	Peter Engle	Peter Storm
11-13-1798	, .	Thomas L. Ashe & Dawson Rockhold
5-14-1811	John Wilson	Reuben Brooks & Michael Smithpeters
5-9-1814	Adam Winsell	Benjamin Thompkins & John Wills
5-9-1808	Adam Winsell	Leonard Shoun & Reuben Thornton
5-10-1830	Larkin L. Wilson	John J. Wilson & Johnson Hampton
5-9-1831	Alex. D. Smith	Christian C. Nave & Isaac P. Tipton
5-14-1833	David Waid David Waid	Jacob Cameron, Abraham Tipton & A. W. Taylor William B. Carter & George W. Carter
5-11-1835		Benjamin Wilson & Leonard Shown
11-12-1832 8-12-1817		James Lacey & Jeremiah Campbell
5-15-1810	Adam Winsell	Alex. Doran & Reuben Thornton
	John Wilson	James Lacey & William B. Carter
81821	Andrew Wilson	Michael Smithpeters & Johnson Hampton
5 - 9-180 3	Samuel Watson	William Pugh & Jonathan Tipton
5-13-1816	Benjamin Wilson	James Keys & David Snodgrass
5-13-1816	John Wilson	Lawson White & Johnson Hampton
4-4-1797	Charles Whitson	Isaac Tipton & Nicholas Carriger
7-4-1796	Thomas Whitson	Edward Smith
5-10-1813	John Wilson	James Bradley & Johnson Hampton
8-9-1813	Samuel Wiles	George House & John Humphreys
5-12-1812	Adam Winsell	Alex. Doran & Joseph Tompkins
5-12-1800	Charles Whitson	Joseph Davis & Abraham Hendry
5-10-1802	Adam Winsell	Alex. Doran & Hugh White
5-13-1806	Adam Winsell	Alex. Doran & Nathaniel Taylor
5-14-1804	Adam Winsell	Alex. Doran & Richard Estes
5-10-1802	Hugh White	John Vaught & Reuben Thornton
2-9-1808	Gardner Lee	George Haun & Λ. Williams
5-15-1810	Gardener Lee	James Johnson & William Boyd
11-9-1824	John Loyd	William Lindsey & Thomas Jones
8-14-1804	William Lockard	Andrew Taylor, Archibald Williams
2-8-1802	William Lockard	Andrew Taylor & Nathaniel Taylor
2-13-1815	Philemon Lacy	Henry Grindstaff & Daniel Moore
11-13-1816	Absalom C. Renfro	William B. Carter & James P. Taylor
2-12-1822	John Ryston	John Nave & William B. Carter
7-4-1796	John Roberson	Thomas Whitson & Charles Bassendine

Date	Person Making Bond	Persons Signing As Security
11-9-1813	John Royston	Abraham Drake, William Carter & George House
8-14-1822 2-11-1811 2-16-1825	James Renfro Jacob Ruble William C. Renfro	William Graham & William B. Carter George House & Benjamin C. Harris Joseph Renfro, Benj. Brewer & W. J. Anderson

UNION CHURCH CEMETERY, NEAR HENDERSON, CHESTER COUNTY, TENNESSEE, IN THE VICINITY
OF HIGHWAY 22 AND JACK'S CREEK ROAD

(INSCRIPTIONS and Notes Contributed by Gertrude Crook Dean, Magnolia, Texas)

Elizabeth Stewart Farrow Feb. 5, 1804 Sept. 21, 1859

(married Richard Farrow on Feb. 22, 1820, in Spartanburg, S. C., son of William and Rhoda (Waters) Farrow. William was son of John and Rosanna (Waters) Farrow who migrated from Prince William County, Va., 1764, to 96 District, now Spartanburg, S.C. William was first person buried in this cemetery.)

Children of Richard and Elizabeth (Stewart) Farrow

Philemon	Nov.	11, 1821 - Feb. 22,	1890
William	Oct.	5, 1823 - Apr. 14, 1	85 3
Harriet Jane	Oct.	29, 1825 - July 6, 1	847
Benjamin A.	Sept.	5, 1827 - Dec. 30,	1871
Samuel W.	Nov.	18, 1830 - Mar. 7, 1	87 3
James H.	Feb.	9, 1832 - Dec. 2, 18	64
Rhoda C.	Feb.	25, 1834 - Mar. 6, 1	836
Rosanne E.	June	14, 1836	
Sarah U.	Feb.	13, 1838	
George W.	July	11, 1840 - Aug. 20,	1915

Stone erected by E. G. Farrow - 1948

Dr. John M. Arnold	Robert Newsom	Lucy McCallom
Jan. 27, 1852	1867 - 1959	1859 - 19 3 2
Apr. 3, 1929	Nancy M. Newsom	Wife of
Laura F. Arnold	1871 - 1934	Dr. James Mitchum Arnold
Nov. 11, 1858	•	1850 - 1930
Mar. 11, 1937	Thomas Mitchum	Margaret Lucy
,	May 15, 1853	Their Daughter
G. M. Arnold, Son of	Jan. 18, 1929	1885 - 1959
J. and J. M. Arnold		
(Masonic Emblem)	Etta Francis Arnold	Will Smith
	Sept. 1, 1886	1897 - 1947
James R. Arnold	Wife of	Mary Smith
Mar. 5, 1836	C. B. Nuckles	1903 -
Fell at	Nov. 1, 1916	•
	•	Mary G. Crook Dodds
George Day Arnold	James Arnold	1821 - 1893
Nov. 3, 1848	Dec. 25, 1788	Wife of
May 10, 1943	Sept. 22, 1872	Thomas M. Dodds
,,	• •	1810 - 1874

TENNESSEANS BY BIRTH - RESIDENTS OF KENTUCKY IN 1850

Copied from the 1850 Federal Census on microfilm by: Thomas P. Hughes, Jr.

House Number, Name of Person, Age and S			House Number, Name Person, Age and Se	<u>x</u> _		louse Number, Name Person, Age and Se	ex
HICKMAN CO., KYConti	nued	441	William R. Ross	15M	692	Anderson White	32M
from First Cuarter 196		, . -	Elizabeth	14F		John Goad	61M
			Rebecca	13F		Elizabeth Herron	58F
487 Martha Vide? Via	42F		?	11M		Nancy Allen	25F
670 Mary A. Cook	33F		John	10M		William Rhea	43M
William A. ?	24M		Charlotte	8F	, ,,	Elizabeth	11F
673 Christend ? Davis			?	5M	767	Lucinda Ayers	39F
Berry	19M		Eliza	4F	,	John W.	14M
?	14M	442	James E. Bradon	15M	774	Willis M.	1-11
Mary	13F		John W.	12M		Cunningham	14M
?	11F	443	? Ross	26M		Rebecca J.	12F
674 John Daviss	24M		Nancy A.	26F		?	9M
			William G.	3M	776	James E. Gaines?	30M
HOPKINS CO., KY.			Geo. W. Rambo	20M		Louisana J.	22F
District #1			Eady M.	19F	791	James H. Ray	21M
		469	William W. David	28M		? Gatlin?	49M
57 Edward Jacobs	15M	486	Jane Campbell	48F	857	Naomi Black	24F
72 Mary J. Rhea	30F		?	19M	4	William Hall	29M
Hiram W.	13M		Sarah	15F	32	Mary Greenfield	49F
Andrew C.	4M	513	Diana Malone	40F		Ebenizer Frost	21M
97 William Coker	40M		?	18M		Rachel R.	18F
Polly	43F		Martha J.	16F		? E.	14F
Dicy	21F		Sarah	14F		Emily E.	13F
Margaret	15F		David N.	11M		Agnes Langley	20F
98 Mary Coker	55F		James A.	9M	47	John B. Frost	48M
Mahalla	20F	527	Asa Mason	30M	51	Penleton ? M.	
Jane	15F	542	Cander? Dockery	14F		Robertson	42M
137 Hugh Kirkwood	50M	552	? Griffin	38M		Martha Wilks	34F
172 Margaret Allen	60F	556	Sarah Allen	32F		W. J. Ayers	22M
215 Elizabeth Cox	23F		Nancy A.	16F		Abner W. Rone ?	45M
256 Mary Coleman	45F		John C.	15M	196	Jane Dean ?	40F
Elizabeth	20F		Samuel T.	10M		William C.	20M
Emeline ?	18F		Sarah J.	9F		Louisa J.	17F
Salley J.	15F		Martha E. Garner	9F		John R.	15M
286 Martha Chester	25F		Alexander T. Aller			James H. P.	13M
298 Martha E. Holt	32F		Spencer F. Allen	1M		Thomas J.	9M
? Peyton	39F		? Toler	23M		William Gowan	30M
299 William Peyton	31M		? Smith	33F		Mary E. Crenshaw	21F
303 John Witherspoon	44M		Mary Alemon	20F		John S. Peyton	41M
Susan	?58F		Daniel Denton	30M			?23M
316 John Mays	26M	596	Barnabas W.Denton		280	Thomas Bone	50M
327 James C. Ayers	20M	r 0.0	/ N	21F 35F		Houston	26M
329 William Campbell	67M		Nancy Wilcox	26M	207	Franklin	18M
355 Lamont Carlisle	30M	222	William? Sneed	26M 24M		Willis Harris	27M
373 Joseph E. Edwards		600	William Parsons	24M 14M		Peter Goad	49M
389 Mary Lemons	?50F	טטס	James J. Parsons	14M 16F		Nancy Habett ?	30F
400 James Hicks	19M		Sarah J. ? A.	16F 14F		James Kirkwood	40M 14F
413 William Howell	43M			14r 12M	420	Nancy Brazewell	14r 11F
439 David Faner ?	34M		John B.	12M 18F		? C. Leon ?	5F?
Laura	32F	626	Amanda C.	25F	1.22		
Nancy C.	? 26M		Sarah A. Craft	31F		Nancy A. McKinney Joseph Rhea	39M
441 William A. Ross	26M	000	Betsy Ford	J 11	437	Joseph Knea	2711

	louse Number, Name			louse Number, Nam			ouse Number, Name	
of	Person, Age and Se	X_	<u>ot</u>	Person, Age and	Sex	of	Person, Age and Se	2X
******	130 00 131 0 - hi		77/		0.024	• • • •		21-
HOPK	NS CO., KYContir	iued		Abram Carlisle	28M		Jane Brown	31F
		0/3/		Sarah Morritt ?	43F		Λhany ? F.	18F
446	Nathan Deacon ?	24M		Narcissa Clark	18F		Elizabeth	13F
	Almorene ?	13F	/45	Elizabeth Cunnin	g-1/F		Samuel .	22M
	William J.	11M		ham			Charlotte Briand	28F
	Mary A.	9F		?	15F		William T. Brown	31M
	Francis M.	7M		Josephine	13F		Dorris ? Wood	30M
	John H.	4M	756	William E. Walke			Geo. F. Clyft	40M
	Narcissa Huffman	25F		Mary A.	36F		George P. Jones	31M
	John Deacon ?	18M		Nancy M.	16F	314	James Ford ?	30M
489	William G. Butler			Ophelia J.	14F		Nancy	24F
	Sarah E.	15F		Polly A.	12F		Margaret	6F
	Benjn. F.	13M		John H.	8M		John	4M
	Moles ?	11M		James T.	6M		Elizabeth	2F
	Nancy J.	6F		William H.	4M	356	? Todd	31F
516	Sarah Smith	31M		Julia A.	2F	387	Elizabeth Hilder-	
	Nancy	23F	764	Susan Fava ?	33F		brant ?	21F
	Lanona ?	18F		Mary	14F	388	Mary S. Fraler ?	21F
	Bobby ?	14F		?	10F		Rusha Ramlad ?	55F
5 3 2	Rebecca Clark	26F	766	Jane Lothard ?	34M	413	Catharine Dorris?	23F
5 33	John M. Franklin	26M	794	Laura Beadon ?	13F	472	William E. Tarsty	?25M
	?	1F		Martha Λ .	11F	473	Catharine Prather	26F
5 3 6	Andrew Clark	44M		Mary	9F	475	James Crowley	?34M
559	Martha J. Collard	25F		Morea ?	7F	484	Louisa F. Kelly	17F
564	John W. Griffin	30M		Noah B.	21M		John D.	16M
	Sarah	29F	798	Eliza Akins	24F		William ?	13M
566	Dicey Griffin	24F	823	West Stanley	32M	513	Elizabeth Smith?	32F
	William M.	22M	825	? P. Reddick	45M	523	Sarah L. Crabtree	8F
602	John W. Rice	24M		Mary	40F		Victoria Λ.	6F
	Nancy A.	22F		Sidney	16M		Elizabeth Λ .	4F
605	Richard M. Wilks?			Elizabeth	14F	524	Joseph Crabtree	55M
	Martha	25F		Lenar	12F		? Presley	43M
	James	3M		Mary	10F		Susan	26F
647	David Dunn	43M		Granvell	9M		Caroline	14F
	Simpson T.			?	8F		Jesse	11M
	Galloway	45M	860	Dukenly ? Browni	ing46M		Pauline	10F
660	Lucinda Duncan ?	49F?		William Medlock	31M		?	9F
000	Robert E.	27M					Salin ?	6F
	James F.	20M	Dist	rict #2			Mary	4F
	Mary A.	13F	2200				John	2M
	Martha	10F	3	Anna M. Dorris	20F	582	John Hicks	30M
	William V.	8M		Adway Leadbetter			Gilbert Clyft	45M
661	Rebecca Cox	35F		Jno M. Bone	40M	, 05	Lydia	45F
001	Mary	14F		Louisa	13F	712	Sarah Davis	?25F
	Geo. W.	5M	40	Jas. Farmer ?	18M		Jas. C. Browning	23M
662	Alexander Miller	29M		William Price ?	30M		W. B. Arnold	27M
002		28F	-	Maria Frederic			John ? Pranty ?	5F
	Margaret	5F	,,,	Ann McCoy	45F		Abidengo ?	43M
	•	4F	ρą	Sanders Booker	42M		? C. Davis ?	33M
	Jane	2M		? Cobb	31M		? Dorris	40F
	William	18F		Marthis Calet ?	40M		Rosa Ann Davis	37F
660	Biddy Morgan	70F		John Jenkins	?40M		Mary A. Bridges	11F
663	Sarah Clark	70F 48F	122		43F		Frances Baker	37F
	Sally		120	Margaret Isaac Waldon ?	29M		Matilda Kellman	21F
674	Mary A. Day	25F		Garland Chester	39M		Pinckley McCoy	40M
	John E.	4M			56F			35M
	Martha ?	16F	TPR	? Brown	JUE	114	David R. Bridges	12 ر د

	House Number, Nam Person, Age and			House Number, Name Person, Age and S	ex		louse Number, Name Person, Age and Se	<u> </u>
HOPK	INS CO., KYCont	inued		ERSON CO., KY.			OF LOUISVILLE, KY	
114	John H. Bridges	16M		•				
	Joseph H.	14M		Isaac Rabon	25M	75	Jane Black	20F
117	? Wall ?	43M	151	William Leacock	8M	104	Eliza A. Owens	23F
	Jane	40F		Mary	11F	226	Margaret Rehmer	37F
133	Susan B. Mooney	30F		Susan Wissart	25F	339	Granville Holman	18M
	Martha J.	6F		Mary McCoun	68F	814	Mary Daughtery	39F
	Matthews ? Adams	17M		L. Tyler	31F	940	William Roberson	23M
	Eli B. Hall	30M		Elizabeth Rose	5 3 F	1080	Mary Hiks	49F
	Walter Woods	28M	684	Jemina Lapossia	38F		Robert J. Hiks	12M
	Thos. C. Clayton	39M		Rachel	21F	1249	Elizabeth Grotton	40F
	Martha Hunter	36F		John	18M	1518	Thomas Norris	35M
178	James Rakestraw	25M	•	Susan Fisher	34F	1536	Mary Martin	25F
	Nancy J. Riddle	16F		Gilbert Wilson	23M		Eunice A. Henry	9F
189	Andrew Woods	30M		William McCarroll			Sarah McAlister	57F
	Lucinda	25F		Thomas Y. Read	24M	2101	Luticia Alexander	17F
	Rebecca	30F		Rebecca Teater	72F		Steven Farmer	28M
060	Calvin	24M		Joseph Cox	21M		Hannah Webster	22F
	Susan E. Ashby	30F		J. M. Coward	39M		Susan Weisart	23F
	Jane Jackson	44F		Keziah Moody	70F	105	Mary Bush	17F
	William Rodman	20M	646	Ann Cannon	66F		Eliza Hale	22F
312	Lavissa Banby ?	34F	. .				Edward Williams	28M
	Mary A.	13F	Disti	rict #2			Elly Tipper	26F
	?	14F	00	mt 0 -1	0634		Mary Jones	25F
	Jos. M.	10M	82	Thomas Coker	26M	1866	William Klooz	7M
2/1	Franklin	M8	100	Sarah	21F		Mary	5F
	John Johnson	?23M		Sarah Lecompte	37F		Thomas Hargrave	30M
	? Johnson	?22M		Robert McDaniel	5M		Martha Masey	30F
	Catharine McLean Levi Cobb	39F ?27M		Elyth Reister Louisa Briscoe	33F 23F	2049	Elizabeth Cunning	-5/F
	Sarah ? Todd	36F		William Gossage	52M	2052	ham	202
	Alfred Taylor	38M		Thomas Dale	34M	2032	Martha Touson	38F
	? Cobb	39M		William Scammahorn		2170	A. Newell	23M
	Elizabeth Coffmar			Elijah Brock	48M		Famous J. North Noah Reynolds	9F
	John Donahoo ?	?87M		Alexander Hughes	36M	2102	Sarah	35M 11F
	Matilda Maloney	34F		Susan Cooper	54F		Martha	8F
	Mary J. Coss	26F		John Napier	28M		Steven	6M
	Delphia Jenkins	19F	207	Nancy	22F	22/16	Joseph Cunningham	
	Richard S. Wood	26M	613	Mary Buler	84F	2240	Joseph Commingham	JOH
010	? D.	25M	• • • •	Charles	40M	Dist	rict #2	
	?	22M		Lucinda	38F	DISC	1100 112	
	James ?	21M	616	Nancy Hikes	55F	64	M. R. Hendricks	32M
	John	18M		Robert Stout	49M	٠,	Scwell Jackson	24M
645	John Crabtree	43M		Calvin Adair	22M	73	R. S. Alderson	30M
	Angelina Cardwell			Jane Brumback	22F		Charles Gulager	27M
	Jno. M. Galbrant			Mary Mitchell	35F		Edward Gulager	25M
	Henry Jacobs	21M		Louisa Shiner	29F		Λ. R. Hamilton	30M
	Robert Browning	33M		Lydia Lyle	24F		F. P. Patterson	30M
	? Polson ?	21M		Mary Glover	24F	89	Edwin Morgan	20M
	Elizabeth	19F		Mary Verner	7F		Jesse H. Hughes	43M
	Edward	17M		Elkin Warren	48M		Wheeler Martin	24M
	John	15M	1005	Elizabeth Roberts		110	Edward Schuman	7M
787	? P. Dorris ?	43M	1143	Jacob SidiRay ?	49M	127	Edward Clayland	25M
815	? Williamson	27M				130	Catharine Robins	30F
	William P.	2M				147	Sarah Atkinson	19F

House Number, Name of Person, Age and S			louse Number, Name Person, Age and Se	av.		louse Number, Name Person, Age and Se	v
or reroom, right date of	<u></u>		rerson, Age and De	<u>- ^ </u>		Terbon, Age and De	<u></u>
CITY OF LOUISVILLE, KY	•	304	William Thomas	15M	579	William Cassiday	4M
District #2 - Continue	<u>d</u>	492	J.J. Waldy	22M		Samuel	2M
		527	James Johns	24M		Hennetta Douglas	13F
304 Josephine Ricks	13F	561	Canders Kidd	41F	655	William Hurst	51M
466 Rachel Larger	18F		_		6 65	Michael J.	17M
Sarah	15F	6th V					
476 Nathan Webb	7M	286	I. G. Dodge	29M		ict #4 - 7th Ward	
Fanney	5F	200	A. E. Ellis	9M		Rachel Gittings	21F
490 Courtemay Wilson	20F		William Smith	23M	272	Fountain R.	
647 Pheobe Ally Jape Horsid ?	35F 15F		F. G. Stump	24M	253	Worsham	19M
673 Sarah Anderson	19F	411	Dice Perry	35F 14M		Rev. James Young	29M
746 John Wilkerson	19r	/ /83	William Perry J. Watson	30M	539	Charles Ostrander	
769 Cawlin Coulter	32F		Peyton Woodward	20M		John	21M
878 William Carroll	2M		Daniel Fay	26M		Caledonia	16F
970 John Coleman	12M		Andrew Grose	38M	561	Ann Eliza Granville Williams	14F
James	14M		Ann Barrow	36F	_	Thomas J. White	28M
1075 Ellen Kendall	26F	040	Mary	15F		Manerva Hurst	20F
1076 Jacob Hall	25M	661	John Craig	40M		Solomon M.	201
Samantha	23F		Ellen R. Hunt	35F	0,2	Clerve ?	25M
Ellsworth	3M		Susan J. Elder	43F	47	Valentine Floyd	22M
Alfred	11M		Rhoda	18F		Thomas A. Hardy	37M
Mary	9 F		Mary L.	16F		Barbara Morrison	41F
John	27M		Victoria O.	10F	31,	James W.	23M
Matilda	33F		Augustus C.	6M		Margaret	18F
1088 William Gailbreat	h30M		Henry C.	8M	321	Martha Perry	23F
1093 William Mara	2M	140	Robert B. Wharton	2M		Keziah Gilmore	34F
1226 George Gillespie	27 M	43	R. Roseberry	35F		Dewitt Mussalman	21M
1305 Isaac Shields	52M		Elizabeth Ewards	30F	456	Margaret Morgan	50F
1332 Sarah Parker	20F	131	Margaret Gray	22F		Nancy McCarty	26F
1342 Rebecca Garrett	26F	136	Isaac W. Flaverd	19M		Thomas Burke	15M
36 Sarah Wilemot	25F	195	Mary Younger	37F	579	Sarah Reese	38F
61 William Daily	40M		Robert J.	16M	596	Amanda Abbott	21F
Mary	40F		George W.	10M	622	Benita Sutton	11F
Eliza J.	15F		A. E. McClarry	6M	624	Louisa Abbott	26F
67 John T. Glover	24M		Sarah F. Affleck	9F		Sinora	7F
246 Robert A. Holland		310	Sarah A. Dollis	18F	714	Tennessee Brown	13F
Mary C.	4F		Naomi Ras	32F			
Henry L.	3M		Julia Ann Dobbins	6F	8th V		
James W.	lM	436	Lundsford P.			Elizabeth Kresnor	
297 George Raney	18M		Mandell	46M		Mahala Hughes	22F
307 Chester Bethel	50M		Susan J.	43F		Catharine Lyons	25F
338 Elizabeth More	26F		David W.	24M	127	Mary A. Landrum	15F
John	7M		Lundsford P., Jr.		•••	William	13M
Thuderni ?	5F		William M.	7M		Keziah Halton	35F
Franklin	3M 19M		Margaret	18F 2F		Barquillar Romana	6M
357 Edward Blanks 492 William Hardin	62M	/.30	Eliza James M. Campbell			Peter Hudson Verina S. Barker	21M 21F
	45F		Clarrissa H. Gunn			William Marshall	32M
552 Katura Spoon 829 Harriet Bell	37F	400	Margaret	19F		Gabriella Long	6F
892 Sarah Webb	24F	536	William P. Thomas		475	-	4M
1022 Lydia Voss	35F	750	Abby C.	8F	47 2	Henry Mary Younger	33F
1069 Eliza A. McClella		568	Matilda Weems	26F	770	Robert S.	16M
1007 HILDS II. HOUTCIIG	/		Mary B. Cassiday	30F		Washington	8M
District #3			Mary E.	13F	479	Jemima Jones	15F
139 Matilda Wilborne	29F		Emma	9F		Polly A.	13F
						-	

	House Number, Name Person, Age and Se	ex		louse Number, Name Person, Age and Se	ex		louse Number, Name Person, Age and Se	·x
							<u> </u>	
	OF LOUISVILLE, KY.			Elizabeth Pacotter			John Bailey	52M
Dist	. #4-8th Ward - Cor	<u>nt'd</u> .	997	Elizabeth Ellis	27F		John N. Blanton	29M
4.00	_ 1: _:	0.75		Ann E.	9F		Nancy Conley	55F
480	Emaline Thompson	27F	10/5	Robert J.	7M		Samuel Rice	54M
	Pariline	8F		Elizabeth Hughes	35F		Sarah Remy	21F
702	Nancy Many Winstian	8F 27F		Jacob Evans	48M		Nancy Kimbler Allen Colvin	60F 39M
703	Mary Winstion Sarah E.	27F	1100	Rebecca Phipps	35F		Harrison B. Rule	39M
		/12F	TESS	AMINE CO., KY.			James Stepp	28M
705	Lucinda Elkins	40F		rict #1			Samuel Butler	40M
	Sarah A. Judd	36F	DIDE.	1100 111			Robert R. Williams	
	Sarah Christopher	39F	136	Sarah A. Harvey	16F		John Fairchilds	26M
	Thomas Jones	26M		John A.	14M	221	Daniel Bailey	27M
	Malinda Heron	30F	147	James F. Loomis	43M		William Wheeler	52M
815	Hugh Murphy	16M	162	Mathew Wiley	71M	299	Elizabeth Lewis	44F
	Mary A. Burton	25F		John Hambrick	60M	306	Lucy Ridnour	13F
	Elizabeth Austin	44F	241	Jane Lamb	55F		Mahalah Hitchcock	
905	Theodore Ostrander	27M	33	John F. Elmore	6M	383	Joshua Collins	45M
1050	Jane Royster	43F		William W.	2M	394	Henry Shearman	42M
	Eliza Mortimer	19F	319	Sally Martin	46F	513	David J. Price	25M
1104	Mary Needy	22F		Ezekiel Sharp	30M	540	Elizabeth E.	
1120	Moses J. Preston	35M	517	? Preston	23F		Rankin	24F
1123	William Carpenter	22M				KENTO	ON CO., KY.	
	Samuel Lawson	20M	Dist	rict #2				
1137	Caroline Bratchey	39F	63	Mary Wilson	70F	1341	E. C. Beard	39M
1155	Louisa A. Shiner	30F	75	Jame Ogle	63F			
1222	Jane Burrell	24F	76	? Harris	30F	KNOX	CO., KY.	
	Francis 1 2,		92	Jacob Brown	48M			
65	Mary Nave	33F	182	Sarah Sheilds	54F		Sarah McVoy	38F
	Louisa Abranda	41F	343	L. M. Hudson	46M		Jesse Cope	60M
168	William W. Abranda	21M		Scphia	47M		Ann E. Worm	11F
	Cecila Thompson	14F		Samuel	17M		Henry Baily	40M
	John H. Green	30M		?	14F	61	Ewel Jordon	14M
	Jane Jackson	23F		William J.	11M		William O.	12M
317	Martha Coker	46F	70	E. Fowler	16F		Wordson	10M
	Salomon	29M	•	Mary	13F		Theo W.	8M
	Thomas	24M		Sam'l Ketron ?	27M		Louisa T.	4F
	Martha Munstedt	21F	243	Cynthia Henry	16F	76	Nancy	1F
	Elizabeth Bohannor		250	Thomas Henry	18M		Joseph Baker	11M
444	William Bohannon	25M		David Dennis	79M		Peggy Carver Warren McRowe	39F 16M
165	Clarrissa	20F	3/6	George Cleveland,	88M	19	John	14M
	Lydia J. Carroll	16F	1.27	Sr.	28F		James W.	12M
	Eliza Dickerman	25F 25F	437	Mary A. Gaylord Eliza D. Comett ?			Martha	10F
	Elizabeth Evans	23r 23M	/, 38	James Levisay ?	23M		Mary A.	8F
	Baxter Calvert	48F		Mathew Haynes ?	33M	87	Thomas Hubbard	45M
	Sarah Hughes	23F	247	mathew maynes .	JJ11		William Gambill	65M
	Rebecca Schaffer Frances Counts	46F	TOWN	SON CO KY.			William Hardy	54M
		25M	501111	JON CO.V RI			William Gambill	43M
113	John Rodgers Rebecca	27F	7	Sarah Walters	39F		Elizabeth Simmons	
	Wiley	9M	,	William H.	10M		Rebecca Brachett	21F
761	Elizabeth Burton	44F	47	Mary A. Absher ?	12F		James B. Dacison	29M
	Alfred Vorney	55M		Samuel Robertson	37M		Ebenezer Luth	26M
	Miles C. Philps	31M		Lurana Liner ?	38F		James Williams	15M
	John W. Campbell	41M		Emily R. Liner	50F		Julia A.	11F
	Mahala Perlton	20F		Joseph Barley	30M		George W.	9M
-				•				

Ŧ	louse Number, Name		H	louse Number, Name		Н	ouse Number, Name	
	Person, Age and Se	<u> </u>		Person, Age and Se	<u>x</u>		Person, Age and Se	x
KNOX	CO., KYContinued		304	James Burns	9M	458	Mount Purcifull	34M
		-		David	7M		Isaac Purcifull	36M
152	Jane Williams	4F	305	James Boren	22M		Mildred Gregory	55F
	Thomas	3M		Lewis Peavler	45M		Jesse Carter	50M
154	Elizabeth J.			Mary Read	44F	7,,	Susan E.	38F
	Williamson	21F		John Mason	50M	480	Rhodd Carter	53F
167	Ambrose Luth	40M		Aley Gipson	23F		Susan Gourley	35F
169	Shandy C. Davis	26M	336	Sarah Bull	17F		Eleanor Cox	18F
	Elisha Howard	20M		Nancy L.Gresham	17F		Mary Golden	25F
	Hannah Hendrickson			Martha M.	9F		Prior Snuffer	20M
	Mary Hendrickson	58F	338	Nancy L. Mason	24F		Martin Goins	27M
	Nancy A. Mason	69F		Elizabeth C. Masor	24F		William	23M
	William J. Mason	32M		Edwin Partin	55M	521	Isaac Cotaill	60M
	James Renfro	48M		Bashiba Maciddy	31F		Margaret Fugerson	
	James M. Moss	21M		Isaac Frazier	19M		William W.	22M
	Reuben T.	18M		John	15M		Mariah	20F
	Jane R.	15F		Martha E.	12F		Peter	17M
	Charity A.	13F		Elizabeth M.	10F		Samuel	14M
196	William L. Hack-			Robert	8M		Joseph	9M
	broad	41M		Alexander	5M	534	William Wilson	38M
	Sarah	42F		William	4M		John Berry	27M
204	Eliza A. Davis	38F	361	Rebecca Gipson	25F		Hannah	29F
	John P.	19M		Thomas S. Fuson	33M		James M.	5M
	James M. C.	17M	364	Tibitha Cox	20F		George W. Clark	27M
	Sarah C.	12F	365	Louisa Peace	22F	538	James Miller	58M
207	John Kellems	44M	366	William Goins	46M		David Snuffer	24M
	John G.	11M		Delila	18F		Thomas Bruce	18M
	Rachel M.	8F		Hild	16F		David	15M
209	Nancy Sampson	46F		Mary J.	12F		Thusey	13F
	Jasper N.	17M	367	Mary King	45F	557	Blakley Logan	53M
218	Elizabeth Johnson			Elizabeth	18F		Nancy Mosely	47F
	Rachel Cloud	37F		Perlina	16F		John F. Rogers	24M
	Jonathan William-			Wily	10M		Sarah Hudson	30F
	son	33M	368	Perryman Dunsmore	20M	576	John McKeeham	39M
	Sarah I.	6F		Abner Carter	24M		Susan McIntoch	28F
245	Hugh L. Murphy	24M	376	Elizabeth Laws	43F	588	John Davis	59M
	Manerva Browning	18F	378	Margaret Inggrum	50F	601	Benjamin Ohler	49M
	Jane Tate	5F		Hezekiah Goodwin	63M		Burnet Williams	38M
259	Sarah Lane (Love)	64F	392	James Hambill	32M		Lucinda	34F
	Margaret M. Lemon	58F	393	Jesse Gipson	53M	605	Elizabeth Hudson	51F
	Josiah Turner	26M	395	Elizabeth Gipson	21F	613	Deborah Cotton	51F
	Elizabeth	21F	402	Mahala Fason	43F	614	John Cain	56M
	Thomas	18M	415	Mahala Walker	16F		Winney	67F
	Franklin	16M	417	Wily Manes ?	46M	615	Daniel Burnfinn	21M
	Margaret	12F		Joseph R.	20M	617	William Hooker	21M
274	Sarah Turner	38F		Matilda	15F		Sarah I. (J)	19F
	Benjamin Turner	69M		Lydia A.	14F		John B.	18M
	Aaron Jones	22M		Sympson	12M		Josephine	13F
	Joel Jones	61M		Emily	7F		Henry C.	9M
	Francis Manes	19M		Daniel	1M	639	Rachel Martin	58F
	May Doolin	28F	435	Harvey M. Baker	13M		Price Snuffer	18M
	Susan Smith	34F		Geo. W. Haun	42M	640	John Burnferen	5 6 M
	Joseph Denny	66M		Jane	44F		Mary Mason	22F
	Nancy	54F		Isaac	22M		Marion Disney	15M
304	Nancy Boren	40F	437	Mary Williams	4F		William Disney	25M
304	William Burns	13M		John Dickey	46M		Joseph	18M
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			~ -			-	

	. 1	House Number, Name		I	House Number, Name		F	louse Number, Name		
of Person, Age and Sex			ex_	of Person, Age and Sex			of Person, Age and Sex			
]	KNOX	CO., KY Continu	<u>sed</u>		Susan Hammond	29F	201	Warren Bolls	17M	
				979	Sela A. Lockard	29F		Mary S.	15F	
	656	Malinda Harrison	44F	980	Ezekiel S. Jones	51M		Martha	13F	
	651	John Fisher	41M		Eliza	45F		Sarah	10F	
		Mary A.	36F	992	Samuel Jones	51M	202	Alexander Moore	54M	
	659	Mary A. Bierly	22F		Jane	34F		Eliza A. Davis	38F	
	661	Lewis Fisher	20M	993	James Price	25M		John Baughman	58M	
	664	Edward Fisher	31M		Phebe	17F		Synthia	49F	
	668	Nancy E. Pfaff	24F		William M. 6/	/12M	214	Thusey A.		
		Catharine Barton	55F	1005	Mathias Washam	32M		Campbell	18F	
	681	Sarah Terrell	46F	1019	Robert Bingham	35M	224	Nancy McTee	47F	
	682	James Numan	30M		Elizabeth Hammonds	32F		Elizabeth	26F	
		Preston	21M	1021	Nancy Riley	43F		William	16M	
	696	Margaret McCarthy			Sarah Hammonds	60F	227	James H. Lea	29M	
		May Barton	40F		John Swaffords	27M		Wilkerson	- 711	
		Delia Goins	22F		Isaac Jones	48M		Campbell	32M	
		Jacob Engle	59M		Sarah	52F	228	Mary Tinsley	47F	
		Mary E. Smith	5F	1058	Ann Tye	42F		Margaret Craig	67F	
		John Helton	40M		Lawson Grinstaff	47M		Visa Gipson	30F	
		Sarah	44F		Theo. L. W.			Isabell A. Jones	35F	
	772	Robert Barton	46M		Sawyers	35M			30M	
		Porvet McVoy	14M		Louisa	30F	240	Nelson Murphy	34M	
		Lucinda McGee	50F		Lucy E.	4F		Elizabeth Jones	65F	
		Benjamin Richards			James H.	2M	250	Harrison	25M	
		Delila Goins	33F		James Dobbs	28M		John Sevier	18M	
		William Tankersly			Louisa Marcum	19F	25%	Mary Burres	73F	
		Alexander Sevier	34M	1072	Rebecca Hales	26F		Margaret Turner	35F	
		Sarah Right	30F		James M. Bolton	29M	200	Thomas	14M	
		Mary Shiply	30F		Hannah Woodson	46F		Sarah	12F	
		William Richards	25M	_	Susannah Hammonds			Joseph	10M	
		Hiram Williams	63M		John Hammonds	48M		James	8M	
		Caroline Vaden	15F	_	Caroline Wilburn	14F		Preston	4M	
		Elisha	13M		Mary A. Worser	14F		Henry	23M	
		Nancy	11F	• •	Claudia	11F	267	Susan Parker	43F	
		Mary	8 F		John	8M		Reuben Norice ?	25M	
		Joseph	6M		James	6M		Martha Gipson	42F	
		Susan	4F	85	Winny Mason	55F		Ann Faulkner	36F	
	888	Thomas Disney	38M		Nathan Edwards	37M		Mary E.	7F	
		Catharine Couter	31F		Jane Brackett	22F	294	Elijah Hooper	38M	
	0.70	Lewis	11M		Bright Williamson			Elizabeth S.	5F	
	902	Sterling Bruce	45M		Sarah	22F		Catharine A.	2F	
		Jane	43F	146	Isaac Moore	60M	295	Mary King	57F	
		Joseph	19M		Isaac W. Reeder	13M		Emeline King	20F	
	916	Susan Henson	54F		George W.	22M		William H. Evans	49M	
		William W. Gipson		162	Nancy Goodin	36F		Nancy Evans	43F	
	,	Mary	69F		Mary Wyatt	70F		James Maiden	21M	
		William P. Johnson			Hamilton Luth			Mary Lee	34F	
	920	James Reece	31M		(Leeth)	31M		Rebecca	10F	
		William I. Disney			Thomas	35M		James	7M	
		Margaret	21F	186	Benjamin Kellason			Eliza	6F	
		Elizabeth Parker	18F		Eliza Garrard	30F	331	Catharine Peavler		
	934	George W. Disney	26M		Washington B.	- -		Andrew Gipson	51M	
		William Disney	62M		Miller	36M		William T. Bull	37M	
		Patrick Disney	31M	201	Sarah Bolls	46F		Jane T.	41F	
		Ballard Disney	29M		William	21M	334	Charles Henderson		
		Thomas James	41M		John	19M		Robert Mason	52M	
	/ J L								— 	

	louse Number, Name		House Number, Name			House Number, Name		
01	Person, Age and Se	<u>x</u> -	of Person, Age and Sex			of Person, Age and Sex		
KNOX	CO., KY Continu	<u>ıed</u>	528	William W. Watkins	s12M	750 Mary Helton	42F	
				Martha P.	10F	751 James Helton	49M	
344	Militha ? Maiden	26F	529	Charles Witt	31M	Frances	47F	
	Sarah	18F	541	Mahala Gatliff	23F	752 Mary A. Helton	21F	
	Dilly	16F	556	Lucinda Neeley	20F	Doctor Willis	17M	
	Nelly	14F	570	William G. Arnet	31M	•	52F	
	Wily	12M		Eleanor	27F		19M	
	Eliza	10F		Susan E.	11F		17F	
345	Robert Poston	30M		May A.	10F		16M	
	Louisa	23F		Margaret	8F	•	14F	
	Wesley King	25M		Jacob	6M	775 Campbell Brummitt		
348	James Partin	43M		Visa	4F		20F	
	Hetty	25F		Susan Mayse	21F		22M	
252	James	15M		Michael Gardner	37M		29M	
353	James R. Fuson	49M		Charles H. Hooker			16F	
251	Elizabeth	47F	594	Joshua Witt	69M		25M	
354	Hall Fuson	40M		Susan	60F		23M	
257	Ruthor Standerfer			Rosana	38F		27M	
35/	Elizabeth Fuson	34F		Emeline E.	24F	818 Christian Borneff?		
250	Bhedd Collin	17F	E 0 E	Susan	18F		52M	
	Rachel Bull	25F 54F	272	Abraham Harris	51M	•	24F	
339	Rachel Minger	21F	E 0.0	Mahala	44F		22F	
	Cassey	21F 19F		Mary Hopper	58F 9F		20F	
	May E.	19r 18M		Algerene Miner			18M	
	Ewany H.			John P. Thatcher	21M		15F	
260	Felix A. B. William Henderson	14M	021	John Luth (Leeth)	48M 24F		13F	
200	Louisa henderson	31F	622	Elizabeth William Moore	24r 27M		68F	
360	Levi Goins	25M	033	Elizabeth	27F	_	53M	
	Mary Fuson	53F		Louisa C.	4F	•	22F	
370	John G.	21M		Cyntha A. Luth	4£	-	16M	
372	Jane Goodin	29F		(Leeth)	2F	870 William Runnells Eliza	9M 7F	
	Thomas Goodin	68M	6/.8	Sarah Jane Dickey		-	6F	
	Robert Tinsley	48M		Calvin Brogan	37M	Martha S. 873 Thomas J. Regus ?		
	Abraham Hunter	44M		Samuel Logan	60M	874 Hugh P. Martin	36M	
	James Corum	27M		James Watkins	38M	Caroline	24F	
	Lucy Payne	44F	003	Ann	34F		40M	
	James E. Stewart	23M		Aggy	15F	908 James Donalson	58M	
	John Volentine	42M		George W.	11M	910 John Word	35M	
	Rebecca Purcifull			Henry H.	6м	923 Mary Prior (Price)		
	James Hooker	23M	686	Elijah Watkins	31M	942 Sintha M. Aldridge		
	Mary Black	40F		Elizabeth	25F	944 Andrew J. Frye	23M	
	Nancy Smith	40F		Robert	2M	Mary	22F	
700	Albert N.	19M	689	Stephen Hubbs	52M	945 Savery Frye	28M	
	Susan J.	17F		Sarah Barton	42F	Mildred	28F	
	William R.	15M		William Helton	47M	Andrew J.	8M	
487	Salina Watts	26F		Margaret Helton	2F	Elizabeth	7F	
	Isaac Gipson	39M		Andrew J. Rountre	e 6M	Martin	3M	
	Henry Latham	30M		Arin ? Hopkins	28F	946 John Parker	54M	
	Elizabeth Peace	28F		Ellezary	26F	William	26M	
	Leroy Goins	29M		Aggy J.	18F	Sarah	23F	
	Elizabeth Bray	21F	722	Leab ? Helton	48M	Mary A.	13F	
	Elizabeth Black	46F		Nancy	41F	Andrew	11M	
	Rhoda Watkins	39F		Sarah	21F	Jesse	8M	
	Edwin E.	16M	736	William Head	17M	John N.	3M	
	011y A.	14F		Tabby	15F	(To Be Continued Next	•	
	• · -					Quarter)		

QUERIES

Prepared for publication by Mrs. Augusta H. Brough

65-66 SOUTHERN, HANKS, WILLIAMS, SMITH: Need pts. Isaiah Souther, b. Va., m. 1802, Green Co., Ky., Caroline Matilda Smith (of Isaac Smith), lived Maury Co., Tenn. until death ca. 1860. Need pts. Robert Williams, m. Elizabeth Hanks 1799, lived Maury Co., Tenn. Was Temperance Williams, who m. Asa Southern (by Elijah Hanks), 1838 in Maury Co., their daughter? Was William Southern of Maury Co. a dentist in Memphis 1850 on?

Lucy A. Posey, 308 East Rosewood, San Antonio, Texas 78212.

- 65-67 ARNOID, CROOK, MITCHUM, CHEEK, DINKINS, SMITH: Will exchange data on Arnold, Crook, Mitchum, allied families from Spartanburg, S. C., to West Tenn. Also on Cheek, Dinkins, Smith families from Mecklinburg Co., N. C., to West Tenn.

 Mrs. W. A. Dean. Box 166, Magnolia, Texas 77355.
- 65-68 HUGHES: Want inf. cemeteries where following buried: Archelaus M. Hughes d. 1838, lived Dresden (Weakley Co.), Tenn.; Archelaus Sr., d. ca 1831, Nancy Hughes d. ca 1837. Their estate settled in Henry Co., Tenn. Owned land also Weakley Co.

Allen D. Hughes, Route 4, Stockton, Missouri.

- 65-69 WALLER, SHERREL: Need inf. on Thomas Waller, m. Mary (Polly) Sherrel in N. C. to Eastern Tenn. by 1782; 1st child b. ca 1785. Who were pts. of Mary Sherrell and from what Co. in N. C.? Will exchange inf. Gertrude S. Carev. 515 Florev. Kilgore. Texas.
- 65-70 TERRELL, HILL: Need pts. of Samuel Terrell, m. Susan Ruthie Hill, Chester, S. C., 1848; Mexican War and grant Lamar Co., Texas.

 Mrs. Forrest B. Doshier. 1501 Rusk Street. Amarillo. Texas 79102.
- 65-71 ROPER: Want to exchange inf. on George W. Roper family of Williamson Co., Tenn., 1830 census. Were they from Ky.?

 Mrs. Otis S. Duran. 801 South Third. McAlester. Oklahoma.
- 65-72 JOHNSON, TACKETT, STEELEY: Need inf. on Jennie or Jenny Johnson and family, lived near Corinth, Miss.d.near Counce or Pickwick, Hardin Co., Tenn.; m. ca 1874, Isaac B. Tackett. Also want inf. Tackett and Steeley families.

 Pairlee Smith. 2041 Jackson. Ogden. Utah 84403.
- 65-73 SWIGGART, HUTCHERSON, KIRK, COLLUM, HORTON, BROWN: Want pts. of Jeremiah Swiggart, m. Elizabeth Collum, 1847, Obion Co., Tenn. Need pts. of Nancy Hutcherson, who m-1 ____ Swiggart ca 1834, m-2 Daniel Horton, Obion Co., Tenn., or Hickman Co., Ky. Want pts. of Anderson Kirk, m. Julia Brown, 1853, Obion Co., Tenn. Mrs. Joe M. Reed. Route 3. Fulton, Kentucky.
- 65-74 BOONE, COCKRELL (COCKRELL, COCKNELL), COPLEY, PEELOR: When and where did Susanna (Susan) Boone marry John Cockrell? Need inf. when and where dau. Margaret was born, also when and where she m-1 ___ Copley; m-2 M. S. Peelor, 1823, Old Orange Co., N. C. Will exchange inf.
 Mrs. W. S. Kirby. 3580 N. E. Morris St., Portland, Oregon 97212.
- 65-75 MATTHEWS: \$5.00 reward to first person sending proof that Amos Jay Matthews, b. 1818, near Statesville, N. C., was son of John and Mira Wallace Matthews, who d. in Tenn. 1841 and 1843 respectively.
- Mrs. C. H. Atkinson, 900 Brazos Street, Graham, Texas 76046.
- 65-76 TIPPETT, RAMSEY: Robert Tippett, b. ca 1812, Tenn. (where?), moved with

parents to Panola Co., Woods Post Office, Texas, ca 1833. Was he son of James Tippett and Catesy Ramsey who m. Dec., 1809, Roane Co., Tenn.?

Mrs. Edna M. Fonken. Box 782. Fritch. Texas 79036.

65-77 HUNTER, COLEMAN, LONGINO: Greenville Co., N. C., tax list, 1760, shows John Hunter and Benedictus Coleman living side by side. By 1769 both in Halifax Co., Va., where Coleman's will leaves land to David Hunter, son of John. Next child of John and wife Rachel Hunter named Benedictus (later called Ben), who m. Angelina Longino and went to Tenn. Was Rachel Hunter nee Coleman?

Mrs. Robert V. Wilkins. 1441 North Yale Avenue. Tulsa. Oklahoma 74115.

65-78 SLOAN, ROBINSON, KING: Need data Fergus Sloan and wife Ann Elizabeth Robinson. Did they go to Greenville, Green Co., Tenn., after 1801, to Nashville, Tenn., or where? Also want inf. Fergus Sloan, Jr., and wife Prudence King. Did they live in Tenn.? Need dates and places of death, where children born and when. Were children born in Ind.? Will exchange.

Mrs. Wade E. Forester, 1203 Bristol Drive. Sweetwater, Texas 79556.

65-79 JAMES, O'CALLAHAN, ALFORD: Need pts. of James Nathaniel James, b. 1800, DeKalb Co., Atlanta, Ga., to Crittenden Co., Ark., founded James Mill, Ark., ca 1845, d. ca 1855. Need name of wife Matilda, b. 1805, DeKalb Co., Ga. Need name of wife (b. 1860, Ark.) of John Cuthburt James, Crittenden Co., Ark. Need names of pts. of Patsy (Martha) O'Callahan, m. Green B. Alford, 1855, Lauderdale Co., Tenn., son of William Alford, Ripley, Tenn.

Mrs. Ralph Waldo Handy. 328 Buena Vista, Memphis, Tennessee.

65-80 SEVIER, ARNETT (ARNOTT), MATLOCK, COOPER, HAWKINS: Want exact date and place of death of Valentine Sevier, son of John Sevier (first governor of Tenn.) and wife Sarah Hawkins. Valentine b. 1773, Shenandoah Co., Va., d. ca 1839-55; m-1 Mary Arnett, (when, where?), chil: John b. ca 1796, Knox Co., Tenn.; Martha b. 1799; (were there others?); m-2 Patience Matlock; m-3 Sarah Cooper. Who were pts. of Mary Arnett and from where (N. C.?).
Mrs. Irene T. Sevier, 8253 Dorchester Street, Spring Valley, California 92077.

65-81 ALLEN, HOLMES, NASH, KEMP, KINYON: Need birthplaces of Major Allen, b. 1803, N. C., and of wife Mary Holmes, b. 1811, N. C., m. 1833; 5 children born in Tenn. (where?), to Miss., 1846. Need birthplaces of Benjamin Kinyon, b. 1848, Miss., and of wife Martha E. (Mattie) Nash, b. 1860, Tenn., step-daughter of Eldrege Washington Nash, dau. of Mary E. (Kemp) Nash. Mrs. O. C. Shipp. P. O. Box 176, Belzoni, Mississippi.

65-82 PARKES: Need inf. on James and William A. Parkes, sons of Thomas Lodge Dennis Parkes, d. 1848, Lincoln Co., Tenn. Would like to correspond with descendants.

Mrs. A. E. Staggs. Jr., Doddsville, Mississippi.

65-83 WALKER: Need pts. of William Walker, b. 1760-1770, N. C., d. 1846, Washington Co., Tenn., and of wife Susannah, b. N. C. Child: John, Andrew, William, and Susannah, Mary Rector, Jane Hartman, Nancy Jones, Ann Deakins, and Margaret Hunt. Mrs. S. B. Boyer. P. O. Box 407. Athens. Tennessee 37303.

65-84 PARKEY, WALKER, SHAUN, FITZ: Need pts. of Peter, Joseph and John Parkey. Where in Va. did they live before coming to Tenn.? Peter m. Polly Shaun; Joseph m. Martha Fitz; John m. ____ (?) and came to Pulaski Co., Ky. Also need data on Zadock Walker, b. ca 1798., d. ca 1878, Lincoln Co., Tenn. Mrs. H. C. Vanzant. Edmonton. Kentucky.

65-85 STOKELEY, GREGORY, GREEN, HOLCOMB: Need data on William Stokeley, b. 1838, Pasquotank Co., N. C., lived 1860, Haywood Co., Tenn.; on Isaac Gregory, b. 1815,

N. C., d. 1861, Civil War, Cageville, Tenn., m. 1836, Haywood Co., Tenn., Sarah
; and on W. Philip Green, b. 1810, Tenn., d. Cabot, Ark., m. Lourana Holcomb,
b. 1810, N. C.

Mrs. A. S. J. Clarke, 621 North Ash Street, Little Rock, Arkansas 72205.

65-86 GIFT, SIMS, WOOD: Need birthplaces of William Gift, b. ca 1797, d. ca 1855 (in or near Memphis?). and of wife Elizabeth M. Wood, b. 1795, N. C. or S. C., d. Jan., 1871, Memphis; may have lived near Gallatin, Tenn. Who were parents and ancestors of each? Child: Maria Louisa, b. 1825, Tenn.; Sarah Jane, b. 1830; George W., b. 1833; Rachel, b. 1835; Robert Z. (?); others (?). Maria Louisa m. 1846, Shelby Co., Tenn., Marcus Lafayette Sims, b. 1825, Tenn. (where?), d. 1889, Memphis. Who were his parents and ancestors? Had bro. Len Sanders Sims, and sister Sarah Ann who m-1 ___ Jackson, m-2 ___ Ruff.

Mrs. Charlotte E. Elam. 494 Williamsburg Lane. Memphis, Tennessee 38117.

65-87 SKINNER, McNEELY: Compiling all Southern Skinner families. Interested in McNeely, from N. C. to Tenn. before 1850. Several mentioned in N. C. wills, but need Tenn. data to identify them. Have great deal of McNeely data in N. C. to exchange.

Mrs. Charles G. Rummel, 133 Abingdon Avenue. Kenilworth, Illinois 60043.

65-88 PINKNEY, PYLE: Need inf. on James Pinkney, b. ca 1879, Tenn., m. Jane Ann Pyle, 1904, Silsby, then San Diego Co., Calif. Sons: Silas Sellers, b. 1905; Alvin, b. 1906; Horace Lincoln, b. 1908.

Mrs. S. S. Pinkney, 1136 Bethany, Turlock. California 95380.

65-89 HOOPER, STRAW: Want proof of pts. of Richard Hooper, b. Va., 1783, m. 1806, in Ga., Isabella Straw, b. N. C. Lived and reared family in Shelbyville, Bedford Co., Tenn. In Tipton Co., Tenn., 1830 census, to Texas, 1836.

Mrs. Norman Duren. 3180 Robin Hood Lane. Beaumont. Texas.

- 65-90 HAMMONS, SAPP: Want name of wife and pts. of Richard Hammons, b. ca 1785, N. C. Received land grant in Warren Co., Tenn. In Warren Co. census 1830 and 1840. One of his sons m. Mary B. Sapp, dau. of Benjamin and Nancy Sapp. Mrs. Bunyan Webb. 99 Cherokee Drive. Memphis. Tennessee 38111.
- 65-91 CRAWFORD, LUSK: James Crawford, b. 1776, to Monroe Co., Ky., ca 1799. Need maiden name of wife Ann, b. 1776, Va. Want pts. of Elizabeth Howard, b. 1801, S. C., m. William Crawford of Monroe Co., Ky., ca 1820. Need pts. of Elizabeth, b. 1777, N. C., d. Tenn., wife of Samuel Lusk, b. ca 1767, Va., d. 1848, Monroe Co., Tenn. Need pts. of Ann T., b. 1809, Tenn., d. 1879, Denton Co., Texas, wife of Elijah Patton Lusk. William Lusk Crawford. 168 North Willett. Apt. 15. Memphis, Tennessee.
- 65-92 STEVENS, FULKERSON: Need records and inf. on: Marion Stevens, Confederate soldier, lived Northeast Tenn., m. Elizabeth Fulkerson, 1865 (where?), one child, John Wesley, b. ca 1868. George and Polk Fulkerson, brothers, Confederate soldiers, never heard from after seige of Vicksburg. What became of them, where born, or suggestions where to obtain this inf.

 Mrs. F. L. Peace, 1061 Whitworth Street, Jackson, Mississippi 39202.
- 65-93 BEAN, WRIGHT, STOVALL, LAYNE, HASKINS, ODOM: Need inf. on following families: Edmond Bean, wife, Jennie; chil: Dora, William, and Orlando, b. ca 1847; Dora Bean m. William Wright, b. Lincoln Co., Tenn., ca 1824, son of ____ Wright and Jennie Stovall; Dora and William lived in Jackson Co., Ala., in 1859. Need father of James Madison Layne, m. Mary Ann Haskins, lived Coffee Co., Tenn., d. 1864, prisoner of war in Del. Odom of Hamblen Co., Tenn., ca 1867-70. Mrs. David Wright, 6709 Kiowa, Wichita Falls. Texas 76310.

65-94 GRANT, CRAIG, HAYS, LEE, MILLER, MCNEESE, GUTHRIE: Need pts. of Carter Lee Grant, b. 1810/1820, Giles Co., Tenn., and of wife, Sarah Marelda Craig, b. Ala. (where?). Child: Asa Carter m. Anna Liza Hays (Dunnavant, what is his name?); Tobe m. Elizabeth Hays; George Anderson m. Jane Lee; Nancy m. Green Miller; Frances m. Jim McNeese; Ann m. ___ Guthrie.

Mrs. Lillian Hunkins, 573 Irvinton Village, Houston, Texas 77009.

- 65-95 PAYNE, CAMPBELL, KING, BEASLEY: Need names of pts, birthplaces, bro and sisters of James Payne, b. 1797, N. C. (what Co.?), and wife Anna Campbell, b. 1803, Tenn. (what Co.?), m. 1821, Wilson Co., Tenn.; they and chil. to Wabash Co., Ill., ca 1840. When did their pts. come to Tenn? Need pts. and birthplaces of pts of Dennis King, b. 1804, N. C., and of wife, Elizabeth Beasley, b. 1808, Va. (what Co.?) m. 1828, Wilson Co., Tenn.; they and chil. to Wabash Co., Ill., ca 1845. Mrs. R. O. Hawkins. Cedar Vale, Route 2. Kansas 67024.
- 65-96 WITT, HARKRIDER: My grandfather, James Randolph Witt, m. Delila, dau. of John Harkrider. Need name of John Harkrider's wife, who was Indian, probably Cherokee, and where married.

 Mrs. J. J. Spike. Box 672. Ralls. Texas 79357.
- 65-97 ADKINS (ATKINS), BOWDEN: Need inf. ancestry of Amanda Elizabeth Atkins, b. 1831, Tenn., m. Matthew Turner Bowden, 1850, Henry Co. Dau. of Alfred Atkins, b. 1807, d. 1839, m. Julia (Atkins?), b. 1810.

 Mrs. Harry Provence. 3206 Oak Ridge Lane. Waco. Texas 76708.
- 65-98 HAGGARD, LOWRANCE (LORANCE), O'DELL: Need pts. and data on Capt. Cleveland Frost Haggard, b. 1823, Tenn. (where?), m. Anna Mary Lowrance (Lorance), widow of Davis. Living Laclede Co., Mo., at outbreak of Civil War, 1st Assessor-Collector of combined counties of Laclede and Wright; entered cavalry from Wright Co. 1862, d. 1863, Rolla, Mo. Child: Rufus; Arteley Ellen m. Rev. Solomon O'Dell; Martha Jane; Lony Elizabeth; Alice Louisa Frost; all lived Laclede Co.

 A. Maxim Coppage, 4284 Hillview Drive. Pittsburgh, Carifornia 94565.
- 65-99 CADE, FORBES: Need pts. bro and sisters of John Hale (or Houston) Cade, b. ca 1822, possibly in Tenn., m. ca 1839 (whom and where in Tenn.?). Chil: Amanda, b. 1841, Benjamin, b. 1843, both in Tenn.; John, b. 1845, James, b. 1847, both in Mo. Benjamin m. Mary James, dau. of Mary Forbes, b. 1826, Tenn. (where?). Who were pts., bro. and sisters of Mary Forbes?

 Mrs. Dorothy Mudgett. Route 2. Slaton. Texas 79364.
- 65-100 BROWN, RATCLIFF, HOLDEN: Who were pts. of George W. Brown, b. 1829, Tenn., and of wife Lucy Ratcliff, b. 1831, Tenn. In Marshall Co., 1880. Chil: Dilli Fate (?), Annie, Josie, Ella, Mack, Sophia, Leonard, Calvin, Jake W. Where were they prior to 1880? Who were pts. of Harriett Holden Brown, b. 1856, Tenn., wife of Jake W. Brown.
- Mrs. L. G. Key, 805 East Boyce Avenue, Fort Worth, Texas 76115.
- 65-101 MORSE, CARPER, FOSTER, GILMORE, DENISON, BEATY: Need inf. on Thomas J. (or P.) Morse, b. 1813, Tenn. (where?), son of ___ and Elizabeth ___ Morse, b. S.C. ca 1792. Thomas in 1850 Census, Pope Co., Ark., with wife Nancy, mother Elizabeth, child., and Moran and Carlton chil., possibly cousins. Also need inf. on Joseph Carper, b. 1782, Va., son of Jacob and Mary ___ Carper; m. before 1805, Margaret (Peggy) Foster, dau. William Foster and Mary Gilmore, SW Va. In Bledsoe Co., Tenn., 1830, later to Hamilton Co., Tenn. Was Mary Gilmore, b. 1742, dau. of James Gilmore and Martha Denison or Beaty?

 Mrs. J. E. Carper. 9256 Loma Lane, Orangevale, California 95662.
- 65-102 KIRK: Wish data anc. and desc. of Stephan S. Kirk, b. ca 1807, S. C., m. ca 1839 Delela or Delila, b. ca 1819, Tenn. Chil. (1850 Carroll Co., Tenn. lists):

James L., Millie, Dortha, Elizabeth E., all b. Tenn. Kirk raised fine race horses; Union troops during Civil War took away horses and Stephan Kirk, who was never heard from again.

Mrs. Jo Morris Chester, Box 846, Olton. Texas 79064.

65-103 GRISSOM, RHOADES: Need antecedents of William Grissom, b. 1797, Tenn., d. 1869, Van Buren, Tenn., and of wife Eva Rhoades, b. 1797, N. C., d. 1816, Van Buren Co.; both buried Long Cemetery, Van Buren Co. Will exchange data.

Mrs. John Harold Wallace, 5028 Trousdale Drive, Nashville 4. Tennessee.

65-104 ELLIS, COATES, BIRD, BRADFORD: Simeon Ellis, b. 1750, possibly Gloucester Co., N. J., d. ca 1787, S. C., m. Elizabeth Coates, dau. of John Coates of Newberry, S. C. Children: Jacob, b. 1781, d. 1854, m. Elizabeth Bird, b. 1788, Bertie Co., N. C., d. 1834; both buried Buckheart Twp., Fulton Co., Ill.; Simeon Jr., b. ca 1783, S. C., d. 1808, Wilson Co., Tenn., m. Delia or Delilah ___; Levi D., b. 1788, d. 1855, m. Cynthia Bradford, Nashville, Tenn., dau. of Capt. William Bradford of Farquier Co., Va., both buried Ellisville Twp., Fulton Co., Ill. Want S. C. birth-place of Jacob, Simeon, and Levi D. and any other inf. on Ellis family, possibly from N. J. to Va., N. C., S. C., to Tenn. ca 1801. Other relatives in Wilson Co., Tenn., are James T., Thomas W., Absalom, and Isaac Ellis.

Mrs. Lon G. Ellis. 226 West Chestnut Street, Canton, Illinois.

65-105 MILNER, EAST, ARNOLD, JACKSON, LOVE, BEELER, BAKER: Need inf. on William Henry Milner, b. ca 1777, Va., lived Laurens Dist., S. C., Lincoln Co., Tenn., 1820, Cherokee Co., Ala., 1832; m-1 Cuzziah East ca 1792, dau. of Shedrick East; m-2 Cuzziah (Kaziah) Arnold, b. ca 1800, S. C., d. 1859, Ala. Nancy Milner, dau. of William and Cuzziah East Milner, b. 1818, S. C., m. Wiley Jackson, b. ca 1817, Tenn. Also need location of cemetery where following buried: Samuel Love, b. 1763, Pa., d. 1847, Blount Co., Tenn., and wife Mary Magdeline Beeler, dau. of Joseph and Christina Baker Beeler.

Mrs. Thomas McMillan George III, P. O. Box 564, Corsicana, Texas 75111.

65-106 SMOTHERMAN: Would like to correspond with descendants of Thomas Smotherman, lived in Moore Co., N. C., to Randolph Co., N. C. In early 1800 sons Hugh and John emigrated to Bedford and Rutherford Co., Tenn.

Mrs. Lillian Hunkins, 573 Irvinton Village, Houston, Texas 77009.

65-107 DRAKE, CHAPPELL: Need names of pts. and grandpts. of Ann Drake, m. Abraham Chappell (d. 1781), d. 1810. Lived in Chesterfield Co., Va. First child b. 1755. Both left wills, Ann's naming chil.

Mrs. Ira B. McCullen, Sr., Amory, Mississippi.

65-108 JAMES, WINDHAM: Wish to know descendants of Phillip James, m. Mary M. Windham, 1841, Coosa Co., Ala.; in Monroe Co., Miss. in 1850. First wife died and remarried. Reportedly killed by friend or relative of second wife near Rocky Ford, Union Co., Miss., after Civil War. Would like more definite inf. re death.

Bruce Myers. P. O. Box 827, Jasper, Alabama.

65-109 BARNES: Joseph Barnes of Berkeley Co., Va., owned land in Summer Co., Tenn., as early as 1795 and as late as 1797. Another Joseph Barnes d. Summer Co., 1795, leaving will. Third Joseph Barnes lived in Robertson Co. same time, no trace after 1807. Were these men related? Will exchange data.

Robert T. Nave. Apt. A., 5720 Walnut Street. North Long Beach, California.

65-110 BATEMAN, STONE, HUMPHREY, LITTLE, JOHNSON, OWEN, HOLLAND, VAUGHN: Need names of pts. of William Rolling Bateman; pts. lived Va., Ill., Ind., died Crittenden Co., Ky. William b. 1854, lived Tulen, Ky., m. Louisa (Lou) Jane Alford Stone, 1855, Lauderdale Co., Ripley, Tenn. Bros.: Samuel, Joseph Henry, b. 1862, d. 1942, m. Alzara Josephine Humphrey, 1844, lived in Crittenden Co., Ky.

Sisters: Julie, m. Bill Little; June, Ruth, Belle, who m. Alcc Johnson, Raymond Owen, Holland; do not know which each married. Samuel m. Nan Vaughn, b. Salem, Ky. Need Bible records on bro. and sisters.

Mrs. Ralph Waldo Handy. 328 Buena Vista. Memphis. Tennessee.

65-111 SEVIER, FRIEND: Anna Friend, dau. of Joseph Friend, m. John Sevier, grandson of Gov. John Sevier of Tenn., 1818-19. Who was Anna's mother, and were pts. living in Tenn. at this period? Are these Friends connected with desc. of Nicholas Friend, who settled in Upland (now Chester), Pa., ca 1675? Anna and John Sevier in Ky. (prob. Cumberland Co.) by 1820; 1st child Archibald b. 1820, Ky. Mrs. Irene T. Sevier. 8253 Dorchester Street. Spring Valley. California 92077.

65-112 HART, ROGERS, McPHERSON: Who were pts. of John T. Hart, b. ca 1802, Va., m. Ann Elizabeth Rogers, Madison Co., Ala., 1824. Col. William Aduston Rogers and wife Sarah McPherson moved from Glouchester, Va., to Madison Co., Ala., 1820; he died en route 1820, Knoxville. Need names of their pts. and origin of Aduston as given name, used in generations of Rogers family.

Mrs. William L. Crawford. 168 North Willett. Apt. 15. Memphis. Tennessee.

65-113 NEBLETT, JONES: Need pts. and chil. of William Neblett, Montgomery Co., Tenn. Also need pts. and places of birth and death of pts. of Francis Benton Jones, d. 1861, Obion Co., Tenn.
Mrs. Wade E. Forester. 1203 Bristol Drive. Sweetwater. Texas 79556.

65-114 SPENCER, STINSON, SIMPKINS, COOK, GRINDLE: Need inf. and will exchange data on Moses Spencer and wife Barbara Stinson, in De Kalb Co., Tenn., 1830. Moses (Blackhorse) fought in Battle of New Orleans under Andrew Jackson. Chil: Sara Jane m. William Cook; James m. Elizabeth Simpkins; Moses 2nd m. Margaret ___; William m. Matilda Grindle; all in Shawneetown, Ill.; one Calvin d. Blount Co. Others? All born in Blount, Wilson and De Kalb Co., Tenn. Gertrude S. Carey. 515 Florey. Kilgore. Texas.

CORRECTION: Query 65-52, p. 47. The name WILLS should have been WELLS.